

A reinforced soft polypyrrole membrane and its application in electrically simulated culture of human skin keratinocytes

Thèse

Shujun Cui

Doctorat en sciences cliniques et biomédicales Philosophiæ doctor (Ph. D.)

Québec, Canada

© Shujun Cui, 2022

Une membrane souple à base de polypyrrole renforcée et son utilisation pour délivrer des stimulations électriques aux kératinocytes de peau humaine

Thèse

Shujun Cui

Sous la direction de :

Ze Zhang, directeur de recherche Mahmoud Rouabhia, codirecteur de recherche

Résumé

La stimulation électrique (SE) semble favoriser la cicatrisation des plaies par ses effets sur les fibroblastes. Cependant, son interaction avec les kératinocytes n'a pas été bien établie. Le polypyrrole (PPy) en tant que biomatériau conducteur est un excellent candidat pour délivrer les SE aux cellules, ce qui devient plus évident avec le développement de la nouvelle membrane souple à base de PPy. Cependant, les faibles propriétés mécaniques limitent l'utilisation de cette membrane. La présente étude visait à améliorer la résistance mécanique de la membrane à base de PPy et étudier les comportements cellulaires et moléculaires des kératinocytes après exposition à des SE via cette nouvelle membrane PPy. Premièrement, la membrane souple à base de PPy a été renforcée par électrofilage, de manière synergique, avec des fibres de polyuréthane (PU) et de polylactide (PLLA). Des tests mécaniques ont confirmé que la résistance à la traction de la membrane a été considérablement augmentée. Ensuite, les kératinocytes ont été cultivés sur la membrane PPy renforcée, puis stimulés par des intensités électriques de 100 ou 200 mV mm⁻¹ pendant 6 ou 24 heures. Les cellules stimulées présentaient une capacité proliférative considérablement accrue. Les sécrétions d'IL-6, IL-1a, IL-8, GROa, FGF2 et VEGF-A ont également augmenté. Fait intéressant, l'SE de 24 heures a induit une « mémoire de stimulation » car les cellules stimulées ont montré une augmentation significative de formation de colonies (CFE) après 6 jours après l'exposition à la stimulation électrique. De plus, l'expression des kératines 5, 14 et 10/13 était significativement augmentée par la SE. La SE a augmenté l'expression de la phosphorylation des kinases ERK1/2. L'expression des protéines des kératinocytes de la peau humaine peut être activée par des stimulations électriques appropriées pour favoriser la cicatrisation des plaies cutanées. La membrane PPy souple renforcée peut servir de pansement conducteur pour faciliter l'exposition de la plaie à une stimulation électrique pour favoriser sa cicatrisation.

Abstract

Keratinocytes as the principal skin cell type play a major role in wound closure. In the meantime, electrical stimulation (ES) has been found effective in promoting wound healing. However, the role of ES on keratinocytes has not been well established. Polypyrrole (PPy), especially the recently developed soft PPy membrane, is an electrically conductive biomaterial and a good candidate to deliver ES to cells. However, the weak mechanical strength of the soft PPy membrane has limited its practical use. The present work was to enhance the mechanical strength of this soft PPy membrane and to investigate the cellular and molecular behaviors of the keratinocytes underwent ES via this novel PPy membrane. Firstly, the soft PPy membrane was synergically reinforced with polyurethane (PU) and poly (L-lactic acid) (PLLA) fibers through electrospinning technology. Mechanical tests confirmed the significantly increased tensile strength, which rendered the originally fragile PPy membrane strong enough to stand ordinary manipulations without compromising its electrical properties. Afterwards, HaCaT keratinocytes were cultured on the PU/PLLA reinforced PPy membranes under electrical intensities of 100 and 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 6 or 24 hr. The electrically stimulated cells exhibited a considerably increased proliferative ability. Meanwhile, secretions of the IL-6, IL-1 α , IL-8, GRO α , FGF2 and VEGF-A increased as well. Interestingly, the 24 hr ES induced a "stimulus memory" by showing a significant rise in colony forming efficiency (CFE) 6 days post-ES. Additionally, the expressions of keratin 5, keratin 14, keratin 10 and keratin 13 were significantly modulated by ES. Finally, the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 kinases was regulated by ES. The overall results demonstrated that the proliferation, differentiation, and protein expression of human skin keratinocytes can be activated through appropriate ES to benefit skin wound healing. Moreover, the PU/PLLA reinforced soft PPy membrane may server as a conductive wound dressing to facilitate ES to wound.

Table of Contents

Résumé	iii
Abstract	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	1X
Nomenclature	xi
Acknowledgment	XV
Foreword	xvii
Introduction	1
I.1 Bioelectricity	2
I.1.1 Endogenous electrical phenomenon	2
I.1.2 Exogenous electrical stimulation (ES)	4
I.1.2.1 ES methods	4
I.1.2.2 ES guided cellular responses	5
I.1.2.3 ES guided molecular responses	6
I.1.2.4 ES triggered cell signaling pathways	
I.1.2.5 The potential benefits of ES in medicine and biomedical research	9
I.2 Bioelectricity of skin	
I.2.1 General description of the skin	
I.2.1.1 The epidermis	11
I.2.1.2 The dermis	16
I.2.1.3 The hypodermis	17
I.2.2 Electrical properties of normal skin	17
I.2.3 Electrical properties of wounded skin	
I.3. Wound healing	
I.3.1 Skin wound healing process	
I.3.2 Wound healing limitations	
I.3.3 Wound healing regulators	
I.3.3.1 Wound signals	
I.3.3.2 Cytokines, growth factors and chemokines in wound healing	
I.3.4 Re-epithelialization	
I.3.4.1 Re-epithelialization mechanism	
I.3.4.2 Re-epithelialization regulators	
I.4 The benefits of ES in wound healing	

I.5 Interactions of ES with keratinocytes	
I.6 Conductive polymers (CPs)	
I.6.1 General introduction of CPs	
I.6.2 Conductive mechanism of CPs	
I.6.3 Polypyrrole (PPy)	
I.7 Aims of the study	
I.7.1 Research question	
I.7.2 Hypothesis	
I.7.3 Objectives	
I.7.4 Research design	
Chapter 1: To engineer a reinforced biocompatible polypyrrole membrane for applications	biomedical 40
Résumé	
Abstract	
1.1. Introduction	43
1.2. Materials and methods	44
1.2.1 Materials	
1.2.2 Synthesis of PPy membrane	45
1.2.3 Strengthening PPy membrane with electrospun fibers	45
1.2.4 Characterizations	
1.2.4.1 Surface morphology	46
1.2.4.2 Peel test	
1.2.4.3 Tensile strength measurement	47
1.2.4.4 Electrical conductivity	47
1.2.4.5 Electrical stability	47
1.2.4.6 FTIR test	47
1.2.4.7 XPS analysis	
1.2.4.8 Thermogravimetric analysis	
1.2.4.9 Cytocompatibility	
1.2.5 Statistical analysis	49
1.3. Results and discussion	49
1.3.1 The synergy between PU and PLLA fibers	49
1.3.2 Mechanical and handling properties	53

1.3.3 Electrical conductivity	55
1.3.4 XPS and FTIR	56
1.3.5 Thermal stability	59
1.3.6 Cytocompatibility	61
1.4. Conclusions	61
Conflicts of interest	62
Acknowledgements	62
References Chapter 2: To investigate the interaction of electrical stimulation with keratinocyte	63 human skin 67
Résumé	68
Abstract	69
2.1 Introduction	70
2.2 Methods	73
2.2.1 Soft PPy-PU/PLLA membrane and ES cell culture device	73
2.2.2 Keratinocyte culture	74
2.2.3 HaCaT cell viability and growth following ES	74
2.2.4 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity	75
2.2.5 ES effect on colony formation	75
2.2.6 Release of IL-1α, IL-6, IL-8, GROα, FGF2, and VEGF-A	76
2.2.7 Western blot analysis of keratin production	76
2.2.8 MAP kinase signalling pathways	77
2.2.9 Statistical analysis	77
2.3 Results	77
2.3.1 ES promoted HaCaT viability and proliferation	77
2.3.2 ES promoted the formation of HaCaT cells colonies	78
2.3.3 Effect on the levels of IL-6, IL-8, IL-1α, GROα, FGF2, and VEGF-A	79
2.3.4 Effect on keratin production	
2.3.5 Signalling molecules	
2.4 Discussion	85
2.5 Conclusions	
Data availability statement	
Acknowledgments	

Authors' Contributions	
Funding	
Conflicts of interest	
References	
General discussion, conclusions and perspectives	
3.1 General discussion and conclusions	94
3.1.1 About research question and objectives	94
3.1.2 About methods and results	97
3.1.2.1 PLLA/PU reinforced PPy membrane	
3.1.2.2 ES to keratinocytes	
3.2 Limitations and perspectives	
References	
Scientific contributions	
Publications	
Oral presentations and posters	

List of Tables

Table I.1 Important growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines in skin wound healing	g 24
Table I.2 Important regulators during re-epithelialization.	30
Table 1.1 Mechanical properties of PPy in different membranes	55
Table 1.2 Surface electrical conductivity	55
Table 1.3 Surface elemental analysis by XPS (%)	56
Table 1.4 The characteristic absorptions of PPy and MO from FTIR spectrum	59
Table 1.5 Thermal degradation of the membranes	60

List of Figures

Figure I.1 Transmembrane potential (V _m).	2
Figure I.2 V _m of different types of cells.	3
Figure I.3 Electrical stimulation (ES) apparatus for cell culture	4
Figure I.4 Models depicting the fundamental physical effects of ES on cells	7
Figure I.5 Signaling network in EF stimulated cell	9
Figure I.6 Structure and skin cells of the epidermis.	12
Figure 1.7 Model for spindle orientation in symmetric and asymmetric keratinocyte divi	sions
	13
Figure I.8 Regenerative capacity of the epidermis relies on local populations of ESCs.	
Figure 1.9 Generation of electric fields in normal skin	18
Figure L10 Generation of electric field in wounded skin	19
Figure 111 The magnitude of the natural endogenous electric field near a cut	20
Figure 112 Skin renair progress	20
Figure 113 Chemical structures of some common conductive polymers	34
Figure I 14 Simple hand gap diagram showing the difference between conductive	ctors
semiconductors and insulators	35
Figure I 15 The schematic of research design	38
Figure 1.1 Schematic illustration of how the electrospun fibers are assembled on top of	of the
hubble surface of PPv membrane	<i>4</i> 6
Figure 1.2 SFM of the original PPv membrane and the reinforced PPv membrane	4 0 50
Figure 1.2 SEM of the original fifty memorate and the cross section of the reinforced PPy membrane.	anes
right 1.5 SEW mages of the noers and the closs section of the remoted 11 y memor	51
Figure 1.4 Peel test of the electrospun fibers on PPy membrane	51
Figure 1.5 Usability test of the PU/PU I A strengthened PPy membranes in comparison	with
the non-reinforced membranes	53
Figure 1.6 Stress-strain curves of the membranes and the SEM photos of the stretcher	d and
broken wDDy DIJ/DI I A specimen	51 and
Figure 1 7 Electrical stability of the wPDy DU/DU A membrane	56
Figure 1.7 Electrical stability of the will y-1 0/1 EEA including	50
Figure 1.0 ATS survey spectrum of 1.1 y memorane	<i>37</i> 57
Figure 1.9 Curve numbers of MO and PDy membranes	<i>51</i> 58
Figure 1.10 Initiated spectra of MO and TTy includences	50 60
Figure 1.12 Cutes compatibility test of the DU/DULA reinforced DDy membrane	00
Figure 1.12 Cytocompationity test of the FO/FLLA fermioneed FFy memorane	01 71
Figure 2.1 Schematic diagram of the ES set up	/ I 74
Figure 2.2 Schematic diagram of the ES set up.	/4
Figure 2.5 ES through FFy-FO/FLLA memorale promoted HaCaT viaomity/growin an	
Figure 2.4 ES has no advance offect on kenetine syste marshale sys	/ / 70
Figure 2.4 ES has no adverse effect on keratinocyte morphology	$\frac{1}{1}$
Figure 2.5 ES increased the secretion of iL-0, iL-0, iL-10, OKO0, FOF2, and VEOF-	•A Uy
Figure 76 A 6 h ES increased the production of V5 and V14 by UCCT	10 01
Figure 2.0 A 0 II ES increased the production of K3 and K14 by HaCa15	02 02
Figure 2.7 ES differentially summated the production of KTU and KTS by HaCaTS	دة
Figure 2.0 Froduction of the phosphorylated EKK1/2 in Keratinocytes exposed to ES	84
rigure 3.1 Diagram snowing various delects in the structure of PPy	98

Nomenclature

AC	alternating current
AChR	acetylcholine receptor
AKT	Ak strain transforming
AMP	adenosine monophosphate
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
BMZ	basement membrane zone
BMP	bone morphogenetic protein
CCL	chemokine (C-C motif) ligand
CFE	colony forming efficiency
CMs	cardiomyocytes
CPs	conductive polymers
CTGF	connective tissue growth factor
CXCL	chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand
DC	direct current
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
ECM	extracellular matrix
EF	electrical field
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
EMT	epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ERKs	extracellular signal-regulated kinases
ES	electrical stimulation
ESCs	epidermal stem cells
Fe	electrostatic force
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FGF-2 (bFGF)	fibroblast growth factor-2
F _{HD}	hydrodynamic drag force
F _m	mechanical force
FTIR	Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy
GFs	growth factors
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GMP	granulocyte-monocyte progenitor
GROa	growth-regulated oncogene α
hBD	human β-defensins
HB-EGF	heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor
HDM2	human double minute 2
HF	hair follicle
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
HOMO	the highest occupied molecular orbital
IFE	interfollicular epidermis
IFN-γ	interferon γ
IGF-1	insulin-like growth factor-1
IL	interleukin

IP-10	interferon gamma-induced protein 10
IRS	inner root sheet
KGF	keratinocyte growth factor
K	keratin protein
K5	keratin 5
K10	keratin 10
K13	keratin 13
K14	keratin 14
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LL-37	a 37 amino acid cationic peptide
LUMO	the lowest unoccupied molecular orbital
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MCP-1	monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
MEK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MO	methyl orange
MRP-1	multidrug resistance-associated protein 1
MS	macrophage stimulating
MTS	methyl thiazolyl tetrazolium salt
MTT	methyl thiazolyl tetrazolium
NaKA	Na ⁺ /K ⁺ -ATPase
NF- κB	nuclear factor-ĸB
NHE3	Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchanger
NMDAR	N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor
ORS	outer root sheet
PA	polyacetylene
PANI	polyaniline
PCL	polycaprolactone
PDGF	platelet-derived growth factor
PEDOT	polyethylenedioxythiophene
PEG	polyethylene glycol
PEMF	pulsed electromagnetic field
PETN	pentaerythritol tetranitrate
PET	poly (ethylene terephthalate)
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
PI3Ks	phosphoinositide 3-kinases
РКВ	protein kinase B
PKG	protein kinase G
РКА	protein kinase A
PLA	polylactide
PLGA	poly lactic-co-glycolic acid
PLGF	placental growth factor
PLLA	poly (-L-lactic acid)
PPV	poly (p-phenylene vinylene)
PPy	polypyrrole
PSS	polystyrene sulfonate
PT	polythiophene

PTEN	phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphatase
PU	polyurethane
PVA	poly (vinyl alcohol)
PVDF	polyvinylidene difluoride
Ру	pyrrole
p53	tumor protein
Ras	rat sarcoma virus
RHO	Ras homologous
RMP	resting membrane potential
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SB	stratum basale
SC	stratum corneum
SDF	stromal cell-derived factor
SEM	scanning electron microscopy
SG	stratum granulosum
SIVA	apoptosis regulatory protein Siva
SL	stratum lucidum
SOCS	suppressor of cytokine signaling
SS	stratum spinosum
TEP	transepithelial potential
TGA	thermogravimetric analysis
TGF	transforming growth factor
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases
TLRs	toll-like receptors
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor α
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
Vm	transmembrane potential
XPS	X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy
α-SMA	alpha smooth muscle actin

TO THOSE WHO DEDICATE THE ENTHUSIASM TO SCIENCE:

Amicus Plato, sed magis amica veritas

Acknowledgment

Many thanks to my two supervisors, Dr. Ze Zhang and Dr. Mahmoud Rouabhia, who must have added a lot of gray hairs over the course of these years. At the beginning, I knew almost nothing about research except my enthusiasm. I didn't know how to manage experiment, no focus when reading literature, and my eyes are high, but hands are low. But they were patient and gave me a lot of guidance, which I won't be able to do if I were in their roles. They tolerated my initial lack of knowledge and skills, and they gave me time to grow, which really touched me. Their scientific knowledge, and their sincerity and enthusiasm for science, influenced me and guided me throughout every step of the experiment, every piece of data and paper file, and my whole PhD life. Under their mentorship, I was able to solely focus on exploring scientific questions, and my PhD life became enjoyable, and highly rewarding. When I didn't know how to read literature, they let me choose an article and explained it in the biweekly meetings; when my experimental techniques were unstable, they gave me time to repeat over and over again, to figure out where the problems were; when I didn't know how to write papers, they provided me with valuable advices and revised my manuscripts again and again; they also supported me to attend high-quality academic conferences to keep me up to date with science and technology and to improve my communication ability; when I felt breakdown because of tricky research difficulties, they helped me to clarify the questions and taught me to solve the problems step by step; when I thought I couldn't do, they encouraged me. All of these have inspired me to go forward. And from these, I became able to understand the importance of details; and my mind renewed and became clearer about science and human life. I really don't know how to express my gratitude to them. I am so lucky to have such wonderful supervisors.

Many thanks to the assistances of Jifu Mao, Hyunjin Park, Abdelhabib Semlali, Humidah Alanazi, Neftaha Tazi, Atieh Sadat Abedin do, and Amine Belmadani, who taught me experimental operations in materials and cell biology and helped me to solve the difficulties and encouraged me in my research. I also feel grateful to the generous discussions about my research with Zahra Roohi and Maryam Hajimodaresi. I would also like to express my special gratitude to Drs. Robert Guidoin, Guixin Shi, Shiyun Meng, Yongliang Wang, and Dingkun Wang, for their help in my PhD study. I wish them the best luck in their life and work.

I highly appreciate the financial support from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), and the scholarships from Université Laval Faculty of Medicine and from la Fondation du CHU de Québec. They assured me to focus on my study and to enjoy an easy life at Laval University.

Last, but by far the most, I would like to heartily thank my parents and relatives and friends for their unconditional love and supports, without which I undoubtedly could not get so far with my studies.

Foreword

This thesis includes two chapters, which come after an introduction regarding the background knowledge related to the research project, followed by general conclusions and perspectives. The research work was conducted in the Centre de Recherche du CHU de Québec located in l'Hôpital Saint-François d'Assise, and in the Oral Ecology Research Group (GREB) in Faculty of Dentistry of Université Laval.

The introduction includes the relationship of bioelectricity and life science, wound healing, and conductive polymers. Also, it describes the motivation, hypothesis, and objectives.

Chapter 1 refers to my first published scientific paper: A biocompatible polypyrrole membrane for biomedical applications. RSC Advances. 2021;11(28):16996-17006. It is authored by Shujun Cui, Jifu Mao, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Saïd Elkoun and Ze Zhang.

Authors' contributions: Conceptualization: ZZ, MR; Funding: ZZ, MR, SE; Investigation: SC, MR, ZZ; Methodology: SC, MR, ZZ, JM; Project administration: ZZ, MR; Original draft: SC. Revision: SC, MR, ZZ, JM, SE. In this paper we demonstrated for the first time the possibility of improving the mechanical properties of the new soft PPy membrane while keeping its conductivity and cytocompatibility.

Chapter 2 refers to my second published scientific paper as follow: Effects of electrical stimulation on human skin keratinocyte growth and the secretion of cytokines and growth factors. Biomedical Materials. 2021;16(6):065021. It is authored by Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Abdelhabib Semlali1 and Ze Zhang.

Authors' contributions: Conceptualization: ZZ, MR; Funding: ZZ, MR; Investigation: SC, ZZ, MR, AS; Methodology: SC, MR, AS; Project administration: ZZ, M R; Original draft: SC, MR; Revision: ZZ, MR, AS. In this paper we presented innovative results about the interactions of skin keratinocytes with electrical stimulation. We demonstrated that ES could be a valuable tool to promote skin wound healing.

This thesis is concluded with a general discussion, conclusions, and perspectives.

Introduction

I.1 Bioelectricity

"Bioelectricity" is any electrical phenomenon that is actively generated by cells or that is applied to cells to affect cell behaviors ¹.

I.1.1 Endogenous electrical phenomenon

All cells are bioelectric, they can use energy to move ions (current) ²⁻⁴. Indeed, multi-scale bioelectric gradients exist in vivo. Besides at cell level (cell membrane potential), electric potential is also detected in organelles (*i.e.*, nuclear envelope), tissues (*i.e.*, skin), and the entire organism (*i.e.*, tadpole) ⁵⁻⁷. As a cell is the fundamental unit of life, the transmembrane potential (V_m) of a cell plays a fundamental role in physiological networks ^{7, 8}. The physiological foundation of V_m consists of the electrolyte concentration gradients inside and outside of the plasma membrane, this membrane is composed by the insulating lipid bilayer that segregates the ions across the membrane, and the ion channel proteins across the membrane that use energy to transport ions against concentration gradients, as shown in Figure I.1 ⁹.



Figure I.1 Transmembrane potential (V_m). Cell maintains V_m through the ion channels and pumps in the membrane ⁹, and forms an unequal distribution of ions inside and outside of the membrane ¹⁰.

The V_m of a single cell is set by the function of the ion channels and pumps in its membrane, and it is not static but changes in time with the cell cycle and long period oscillations ¹¹. The absolute value of V_m is the sum of all types of ions ($V_{m(ions)}$). At any moment or condition, one type of ion usually dominates, and the V_m is close to the dominated $V_{m(ion)}$, and usually is negative inside ¹⁰. In general, terminally differentiated cells tend to be strongly polarized, *i.e.*, bearing a more negative resting potential, whereas proliferative cells tend to be depolarized, *i.e.*, V_m close to zero. The resting potential is typically cell type specific, depending on cell function and environment ⁹, ¹², as shown in Figure I.2 ¹³.



Figure I.2 V_m of different types of cells ¹³.

To establish bioelectrical networks in large scale, cells exchange electrical signals through membrane proteins with the outside milieu and through gap junctions with the neighboring cells ^{14, 15}. The bioelectrical signals in form of specific ion currents and changes in V_m can trigger downstream cascades and participate in vast cell activities. For example, they can produce action potential in excitable cells to trigger the well-known biological functions such as the information transfer between neurons, the contraction of skeletal or cardiac muscles, and the insulin releasing by pancreatic β -cells ^{16, 17}. In fact, this is only a small part of the functions that bioelectrical signals can trigger. The role of bioelectrical signals in non-excitable cells has gained more and more attention. It has been shown that bioelectrical signals are involved in cell proliferation, cell

migration and orientation, cell differentiation, apoptosis, and protein synthesis and secretion ¹². Bioelectrical signals regulate cell cycle, cancer progression, pigmentation, and wound healing ^{9, 18, 19}. Thus, bioelectric pathways run throughout development, regeneration, and senility, and are crucial for body survival. However, the role of bioelectrical signals is still enigmatic and far beyond our current knowledge ²⁰.

I.1.2 Exogenous electrical stimulation (ES)

Externally supplied current or voltage through biomedical tools can be applied to cells or tissues. This can help us to understand the effect of endogenous electrical signals on cells. It can also provide a method to regulate cell behaviors and eventually lead to new therapies ²¹.

I.1.2.1 ES methods

In laboratories, several ways have been developed to apply ES. Figure I.3 displays the three main strategies to deliver ES to cells or tissues: 1) In panel (A) the setup is constructed with a petri dish and two electrodes (*i.e.*, graphite, platinum, stainless steel, gold, silver) directly that are immersed in culture medium (Figure I.3A) ²²; 2) ES through a conductive polymer scaffold (Figure I.3B) ²³, ²⁴; and 3) ES through an ionic conductor (Figure I.3C&D) ²⁵.



Figure I.3 Electrical stimulation (ES) apparatus for cell culture. A) Cells are seeded in a dish with two electrodes placed in the culture medium ²⁶; B) Cells are seeded on an intrinsically conductive

polymer scaffold ²³; C) Schematic of the hydrogel ionic conductor for in vitro ES ²⁷. D) Image of the actual device of C ²⁷. DC: direct current; AC: alternating current.

An ionic conductor can be prepared with an ionically conductive polymer (polymers with ionic functional groups such as carboxylic, sulfonic, phosphonic, etc.) infused with a high concentration salt solution, *i.e.*, polyethylene glycol (PEG) hydrogel with ionic liquids. Unlike intrinsically conductive polymers whose conductivity relies on electron movement in the polymers, this class of materials conducts electricity in a physiologic environment via the flow of ions upon application of an electrical field (EF) ²⁸. The advantages of ionic conductors are that they can be made soft and transparent, which is friendly to biological tissues. However, their stability is worrisome in aqueous environment due to the diffusion of ions. Thus, a stable circuit system is needed to interface an ionic conductor with biological tissues ²⁹. Compared with Figure I.3A, Figure I.3C effectively addressed the issues of adverse effects including local heating and pH change associated with conventional electrodes.

The method showed in Figure I.3B is getting increasingly popular, for the cells grow on the conductive biomaterial directly, which eliminates the adverse effects associated with electrodes such as electrolysis ³⁰. Intrinsically conductive polymers are organic polymers that conduct electricity through conjugated π -bonds along their molecular backbones. The loosely bound electrons once reduced or oxidized by dopant molecules form charge carriers called polarons and biopolarons that have a high mobility, hence endows the polymer with electrical conductivity ³¹. Conductive polymers such as polypyrrole (PPy), polyaceteylene (PA), polyaniline (PANi), polythiophene (PT) and polyethylenedioxythiophene (PEDOT) not only exhibit the good electrical properties, but also display an excellent biocompatibility and the ease of synthesis, which endows them a great potential and advantages in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine ³². More details about conductive polymers are referred to §I.6.

ES can be induced using a direct (DC) or alternating current (AC) (Figure I.3). The level of the current (A), the amplitude of the voltage (V), and the duration of ES (continuous or cyclic, from hours to days) can be varied. The waveforms (monophasic, biphasic, sine, square, triangle, and others) frequency (Hz) and pulse width (sec) can be altered ²⁶.

I.1.2.2 ES guided cellular responses

When a cell is placed in an EF, the voltage across the plasma membrane will be modified the most

in regions that are perpendicular to the EF lines. The sides of the cells that face the two poles of the field will therefore experience the largest effect ³³. Changes in electrical potential across cell membrane regulate a myriad of effects on the cellular environment such as the distribution of bioactive molecules in extracellular matrix (ECM), as well as have specific effects on membrane proteins and on the enzymes within the cell. These changes may drive cell autonomous phenotypes, such as alignment, migration, proliferation, and differentiation.

The effect of ES on cell alignment and migration can be cell type dependent. Some types of cell are aligned perpendicular to the direction of the EF vectors, such as cardiac adipose tissue-derived progenitor cells, endothelial progenitor cells, adipose-derived stromal cells, etc.; and some cells are aligned parallel to the field vectors, such as ventricular myocytes, cardiomyocytes, myoblasts, etc ^{21, 34-41}. Previous studies demonstrated that the majority of the cell types investigated so far moves towards the cathode of the EF, such as macrophages, osteoblasts, endothelial progenitor cells, etc.; however, a small proportion of cell types do recorded anodal migration in EF, such as human dermal fibroblasts, Schwann cells, and bone mesenchymal stem cells ^{35, 42-52}.

A proper ES can promote cell proliferation and guide cell differentiation. Osteoblast, neural stem cells and cardiomyocytes showed an enhanced proliferation ability with no morphological changes in EF; on the other hand, the differentiation of human embryonic stem cells, bone mesenchymal stem cells and PC12 were induced under certain ES treatment ^{21, 53-55}.

I.1.2.3 ES guided molecular responses

A current passing through a cell will encounter resistance predominately at cell membrane. Nuccitelli in 2003 speculated that a 100 μ m long cell in a 100 mV mm⁻¹ EF will experience a voltage drop of 10 mV, with the plasma membrane facing the positive pole having 5 mV more across it, and the membrane facing the negative pole having 5 mV less ³³. For a cell with a membrane potential of -70 mV, the voltage-gated ion channels open following a depolarization of about 10 - 20 mV, and thus would not be affected by a change of 5 mV. However, ion flux through the open channels can be affected and may result in differential distribution of ions within the cell, because the positive ions near the cathode-facing side of cell membrane may experience a larger force to push them into the cell through these open channels than the positive ions near the anodefacing side of the cell membrane. In cells with membrane potentials that are inherently more depolarized, the effects of such EF-caused ion influx may be more significant. Such cells include

mesenchymal stem cells and un-differentiated cells that have a resting membrane potential (RMP) below -30 mV 45 .

Although the specific molecule(s) involved in the cell-ES interactions are still to be identified, some hypotheses have been proposed to explain the mechanisms of cellular responses to ES, as summarized in Figure I.4²⁹. In summary, EF can lead to the *disruption of structural water*, causing the cells to release a large amount of trapped calcium ions leading to a calcium wave, which directs the mobility of the cells (Figure I.4A). EF can cause a strong *hydrodynamic dragging force*, which can result in the intracellular transport of biomolecules (Figure I.4B). EF can also *change the activity of ion channels*, especially the voltage-gated sodium, potassium, and calcium channels, and these changes create the asymmetric ion flows (Figure I.4C). *Mechanical forces* can be induced by EF and applied on the tension-sensitive components on cell membrane, affecting membrane functions such as focal adhesion and cadherin adhesion. (Figure I.4D). EF will create polarity along the EF axis by *redistributing the charged particles on the membrane*, such as the lipid rafts, which further polarizes cell membrane components (Figure I.4E).



Figure I.4 Models depicting the fundamental physical effects of ES on cells. F_e : electrostatic force, F_{HD} : hydrodynamic drag force, F_m : mechanical forces. EStim: electrical stimulation ²⁹.

The asymmetric localization of cell membrane components and the transport of intracellular biomolecules in response to ES are considered to contribute to the signaling transduction to downstream cascades, and ultimately initiating the cellular activities including migration, proliferation, differentiation, etc ^{29, 56}.

I.1.2.4 ES triggered cell signaling pathways

EF can induce changes in cell membrane components and intracellular biomolecules through Fe, F_{HD} and F_m as mentioned before. However, cellular responses such as orientation, migration and proliferation to EF are not linear. On the way between the aforementioned molecules (Figure I.4) and cell responses, many other messengers inside the cell are engaged to complete certain tasks. In many cases, these messenger cascades can reach the nucleus to activate or inactivate transcription factors, leading to changes in the expression of specific genes. In other cases, messengers will not reach the nucleus and rapid cellular response would occur. In such a way, a cell works like a microprocessor. What needed to be pointed out is that signaling pathways are dynamic and can proceed differently in different cells. And unlike the signaling transduction regulating cellular responses towards chemical gradients, where only the specific surface receptors that bind to chemoattractants are triggers ⁵⁷, ES can trigger several types of membrane receptors to activate different intracellular signaling cascades. Moreover, the signaling network involving ES shows a coordinated manner. For example, PI3K/Akt pathway can be activated under ES and positively regulate cell electrotaxis. On the other hand, PTEN is only activated where it is away from PI3K in the migrating cells ^{58, 59}. GTPases Rac/Cdc42/Rho are reported to be able to steer cell migration, during which Rac/Cdc42 dominate cathodal activities, and Rho dominates anodally activities which consequently assist cathodal migration ⁶⁰. Therefore, ES can mediate a wide variety of biological processes. The primary signaling network involved in ES-induced cellular response is summarized in Figure I.5^{21, 56, 61}.



Figure I.5 Signaling network in EF stimulated cell ⁵⁶.

Signaling pathway related with cell migration. The Na⁺ carrier proteins, such as NaKA (Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase) and NHE3 (Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger), are sensitive to electrical potential and their distribution in cell membrane becomes polarized upon ES. Inside cells, these proteins interact with actin, tubulin, myosin, etc., and consequently induce cytoskeleton redistribution, leading to membrane polarization and cell migration. AChR (acetylcholine receptor) and NMDAR (N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor) play certain role in inducing Ca²⁺ influxes and cell depolarization. In addition, sGC/cAMP-activated pathway and PTEN (phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-trisphosphatase) pathway may contribute to EF mediated migration ^{38, 62-66}.

Signaling pathway related with cell proliferation and differentiation. EF-activated EGFR (epidermal growth factor receptor) ^{67, 68} can stimulate several signaling pathways, including MAPK-ERK1/2 ^{69, 70} and PI3K/Akt pathways ^{58, 71}. MAPKs (mitogen-activated protein kinase) is involved in regulating cell functions including proliferation, gene expression, differentiation, survival, and apoptosis. ERKs (extracellular signal-regulated kinases) phosphorylation belongs to MAPKs family and thereby influences the cell responses mentioned above ⁷². PI3Ks (phosphoinositide 3-kinases) are a family of enzymes involved in cellular functions such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, motility, and survival. The activation of PI3K initiates cellular responses through downstream effector Akt or combining with PLC to activate Rho through Ca²⁺. Akt, also known as protein kinase B (PKB), plays key roles in multiple cellular processes such as cell proliferation, transcription, and cell migration ^{21, 73}.

I.1.2.5 The potential benefits of ES in medicine and biomedical research

Directing cell alignment and migration, promoting cell proliferation and inducing cell differentiation can be very beneficial for regenerative medicine. Regenerative medicine refers to the replacement of damaged cells or tissues due to injury or disease and remodels the tissue's functional architecture. Therefore, ES can be a useful tool for the purposes of regenerative medicine ^{74, 75}. Moreover, ES is a non-pharmacological stimulus and can be non-invasive as well. These benefits endow ES in broad applications in medicine and biomedical research.

Neural tissue engineering. ES has been widely used in neural tissue engineering. The effects of ES include the accelerated and directional neurite and axon growth, and the differentiation of embryonic stem cell into the neural fate ⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸.

Muscle tissue engineering. ES has been shown to promote the proliferation of myoblasts, the fusion of myoblasts into myotubes, and the expression of myosin heavy chain ⁷⁹⁻⁸¹.

Cardiac tissue engineering. ES has been frequently used to facilitate the functional maturation of the stem cell-derived or fetal cardiomyocytes (CMs), including the alignment and elongation of CMs, the increased expression of connexin and troponin-I, as well as the synchronous contractions of CMs within tissue constructs ⁸²⁻⁸⁴.

Bone regeneration. ES can stimulate calcium signaling and increase bone formation. ES can also upregulate the production of bone growth factors. When DC-ES is used, the cathode electrochemical reactions generate hydroxide ions and hydrogen peroxide, which have been shown to stimulate osteoblasts and the VEGF production by macrophages. ES in DC, AC, PC and PEMF modes have been tested and shown effective for bone tissue regeneration ⁸⁵⁻⁸⁹.

Drug delivery. At the molecular level, ES can facilitate the transport of both charged and uncharged biomolecules through biological membranes via electrophoresis and electroosmosis. These two processes are collectively called iontophoresis. Compared to passive diffusion, iontophoresis can significantly increase the drug delivery efficiency through tissue barriers such as skin and cornea. Electrophoresis alters the mobility of charged drug molecules through the Coulomb force that the EF exerts on those molecules. Electroosmosis induces a solvent flow across ionized membranes due to the electrical force exerted on the thin electric double layers ^{90, 91}. In clinic, the EyeGate II delivery system, developed by EyeGate Pharma, uses transscleral iontophoresis to deliver a therapeutic concentration of drug molecules into various ocular tissues ^{92, 93}.

Wound healing. Details are present in §I.4.

I.2 Bioelectricity of skin

I.2.1 General description of the skin

Skin is the largest organ of human body, which acts as a wall to exclude harmful compounds and physical insults, to avoid dehydration and to participate in temperature regulation. Anatomically, the skin is comprised of the epidermis (the outermost layer), the dermis (the next layer which is loaded with blood vessels and nerves), and then the hypodermis ⁹⁴.

I.2.1.1 The epidermis

The epidermis is a stratified squamous epithelium (as shown in Figure I.6) ⁹⁵ that creates the chemical and physical barrier between the external environment and the internal body. The thickness of the epidermis can range from 50 µm (eyelids) to 1.5 mm (palms and soles) and it consists of several layers. From the inside to the outside, there are the stratum basale (SB), stratum spinosum (SS), stratum granulosum (SG), stratum lucidum (SL) (palms and soles) and stratum corneum (SC). The SB is anchored to dermis through the basement membrane zone (BMZ), which consists of an intricately organized collection of intracellular, transmembrane, and extracellular proteins ^{96, 97}. The components of the BMZ include collagen type IV and type VII, laminins, nidogen, and perlecan. There is no direct blood supply in the epidermis. The supply of nutrients and elimination of wastes depends on the underlying dermis by diffusing through the BMZ. Since the BMZ holds the epidermis and dermis together, it plays a critical role in the mutual relationship between keratinocytes and fibroblasts ⁹⁸.

There are various cell populations including keratinocytes, melanocytes, tactile cells (Merkel cells) and dendritic cells (Langerhans cells) in the epidermis. The predominant cell type is keratinocyte ⁹⁹. Melanocytes are located in the SB and they can produce melanin, a pigment that absorbs UV radiation. Merkel cells are also located in the SB and are very close to the nerve endings. These cells are found to specialize in the perception of the light touch. Langerhans cells reside in basal layer but can migrate to get in contact with the antigen. They are the most active immune cells in the skin. Keratinocytes account for 80% of the epidermis' total cellular population and are responsible for the stratified structure of the epidermis. They maintain the constant renewing property of the epidermis, details of which are presented separately ¹⁰⁰.



Figure I.6 Structure and skin cells of the epidermis ⁹⁵.

I.2.1.1.1 Keratinocytes

Keratinocytes define the epidermis through an organized vertical migration accompanied by an equally organized and coordinated sequence of irreversible termination of proliferation and differentiation events, as well as through the formation of the specific connections between cells ^{100, 101}. The process of epithelialization relies on the special characteristics of keratinocytes and the crosstalk between keratinocytes and other cells; in reverse, these properties endow the epidermis with the functions more than as a physical barrier ¹⁰².

I.2.1.1.1.1 Keratinocytes are highly specialized cells in epidermis

The Keratinocytes in different layers of the epidermis are in different stages of differentiation. Their destiny is becoming corneocytes in a process called keratinization, in which they are expulsed of the skin due to the loss of the intercellular desmosomal connections ^{103, 104}. The basal keratinocyte is highly proliferative and can divide in either symmetric or asymmetric manner (Figure I.7) ¹⁰⁵. Through symmetric division, in which the spindle is oriented parallel to the underlying basement membrane, it produces two daughters in basal layer; and through asymmetric division, in which the spindle is oriented perpendicular to the basement membrane, it gives one basal and one suprabasal keratinocytes ^{102, 106}. Asymmetric division is coupled with transferring from proliferation to differentiation state, accompanied by synthesizing distinct panel proteins and

soluble mediators and react differentially to exogenous stimuli. This process is highly regulated by several signaling pathways ^{107, 108}.



Figure I.7 Model for spindle orientation in symmetric and asymmetric keratinocyte divisions ¹⁰⁵.

MAP kinase pathways, which are well-known in regulating this process, can be activated by calcium influx ¹⁰⁹, epidermal growth factors ^{110, 111}, and tumor necrosis factors ^{112, 113}. ERK1/2 promote keratinocyte proliferation ^{114, 115}, while p38 activates the proteolytic and nucleolytic activity that leads to the destruction of cellular organelles and DNA ^{116, 117}. Notch signaling drives keratin-5/14 positive basal cells into keratin 1/10-positive suprabasal cells ¹⁰⁵. Active EGFR signals promote cell proliferation ^{118, 119}. Calcium can trigger keratinocyte differentiation via a PKCβ-Calpain-focal adhesion kinase pathway ¹²⁰. Following these signaling pathways, once keratinocytes turn profilaggrin into filaggrin, they undergo changes into late terminal differentiation and are irreversibly committed to the process of differentiation ¹²¹. When proteolytic and nucleolytic activities destroy the cellular organelles and DNA, differentiation comes to end ^{103, 104}.

As cells continue their outward journey, they degenerate into a flat crosslinked keratinous material, which forms a cornified envelop on skin surface that is constantly being worn off and replaced by new ones ¹²². Lipids and proteins produced by the lamellar granules of keratinocyte in the SG layer fill in the crevices between the corneocytes in the SC layer ¹²³. It's like a "mortar" and "bricks"

structure which prevents water evaporation from skin ¹²⁴. In addition, the stratified layers of the epidermis have developed specific junctions during epithelialization. Indeed, the basal keratinocytes are anchored to BMZ through hemidesmosome ¹²⁵ and focal adhesion ¹²⁶. Adjacent keratinocytes are connected to each other through tight junctions, adherent junctions, and desmosomes. Gap junctions are unique in forming intracellular connection between cell membranes to transfer ionic molecules. These cell-to-cell connections provide the epidermis with a tension-resistant structure capable of supporting shear forces ^{101, 127}.



Figure I.8 Regenerative capacity of the epidermis relies on local populations of ESCs. ORS: outer root sheet; IRS: inner root sheet ¹¹³.

The renewing capability of keratinocytes is driven by the population of epidermal stem cells (ESC) ¹⁰². There are three distinct ESC niches identified to date (Figure I.8) ¹¹³: the bulge of the hair follicle (HF), the base of sebaceous gland (SG), and the basal layer of the interfollicular epidermis (IFE). The stem cells produce a population of transit-amplifying keratinocytes that have a limited number of division ability. These transit-amplifying keratinocytes either differentiate and depart the basal layer to generate upward differentiating keratinocytes, or remain as proliferative basal keratinocytes ¹²⁸. Therefore, damage to these structures affects skin's ability of re-epithelialization.

I.2.1.1.1.2 Polarity in basal keratinocytes

Another important characteristic of keratinocytes is polarity, like the simple monolayer epithelial cells ^{105, 129-131}. A basal keratinocyte has both basal and apical domains, which are maintained by many polarity components, such as the transmembrane proteins, cell junctions, cytoskeleton, lipids. The polarity is important for generating the proper epidermis architecture. For example,

Par3/Pins/LGN are found in the apical region of the asymmetrically dividing cells, which affect cell fate by directing mitotic spindle orientation ^{132, 133}; integrin is polarized to the basal side of basal keratinocytes, where it facilitates attachment to the BMZ; primary cilia are enriched at the apical surface of the basal keratinocytes ¹⁰⁵. The primary cilium is an important signaling center, and its apical localization puts it in close contact with the differentiated cells while somewhat away from the signals coming from beneath the cell ¹³⁴. Besides these, the polarity has other important roles in maintaining normal life activities, such as skin battery ¹³⁵, the details of which are presented in §I.2.2.

I.2.1.1.1.3 Cross talk between keratinocytes and other skin cells

The interactions between keratinocytes and other cells are essential for maintaining the skin homeostasis ¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸.

The crosstalk between keratinocytes and fibroblasts has been reviewed by Barbara, et al. in 2020 ¹³⁶. Keratinocytes can affect fibroblast activities such as the expression of ECM-related genes or protein production ¹³⁹, phenotype modification ¹⁴⁰, and cytokine production ¹⁴¹. At the same time, in the presence of fibroblasts, keratinocytes showed enhanced proliferation, reduced apoptosis, physiological differentiation, and enhanced BMZ deposition ^{142, 143}. In contrast, in the absence of fibroblasts, keratinocytes showed impaired differentiation and dysregulated expression of skin barrier and tight junction proteins, increased skin permeability, and a decreased skin lipid/protein ratio ¹⁴⁴. It has been shown that cytokines such as IL-1 secreted by keratinocytes stimulate fibroblasts to secrete KGF, GM-CSF, TGF α , IL-6, IL-8, IL-1, COX2, and PGE2 ¹³⁶. In return, the KGF, GM-CSF and PGE2 secreted by fibroblasts promote keratinocyte proliferation and favor proper keratinocyte differentiation ¹³⁶. Keratinocytes contribute to ECM turnover by favoring MMP (Matrix metalloproteinases) over a concomitantly decreased or alternatively increased collagen deposition by fibroblasts ^{136, 145-147}. However, there are controversial results about the roles of keratinocytes in ECM production by fibroblasts. Thus, more feed-forward mechanisms between these two key cells need to be investigated.

Keratinocyte-melanocyte communication is also crucial for the homeostasis of the epidermis. Melanocytes produce melanin, which absorbs UV radiation and prevents DNA damage to keratinocytes ¹⁴⁸. Keratinocytes, on the other hand, stimulate melanocyte functions such as proliferation, differentiation, and melanogenesis ^{149, 150}.

Keratinocytes have immunomodulatory functions that interact with lymphocytes and Langerhans cells in the skin ^{137, 138}. Keratinocytes express several Toll-like receptors (TLRs) which can recognize invading microorganisms and initiate host defense reactions ¹⁵¹. Keratinocytes can produce trigger factors, *i.e.* LL37 cathelecidin/nucleic acid complexes, antimicrobial peptides such as human β -defensins (HBD) and S100 proteins, together with chemokines and cytokines of the IL-1 family that can trigger initial activation of T cells ^{138, 152-155}. It has been shown that lymphokines released in skin lesions are pivotal for keratinocyte activation and production of inflammatory molecules, which in turn lead to amplification of the local immune responses during wound healing ^{156, 157}.

I.2.1.2 The dermis

The dermis is a fibrous and elastic tissue, with a thickness ranging from 300 μ m (eyelid) to 6 mm (soles and palms). It is divided into the superficial papillary layer and the deeper reticular layer. These two layers are separated by a vascular plexus, which is fed by another vascular plexus located at the base of the reticular dermis ^{94, 96}.

The main component of the dermis is ECM, including collagen (70%), elastin (2~4%) and proteoglycans. The collagen provides strength and toughness; elastin fibers maintain normal elastic and flexible features; and proteoglycans provide hydration and viscosity ^{94, 158, 159}. The papillary dermis is a flowing connective tissue, which is composed of capillaries, elastic fibers, reticular fibers, and non-organized collagen fibers, basically collagen III. The reticular dermis is a compact connective tissue, composed of larger blood vessels, cross-linked elastic fibers, and well-organized fiber bundles of collagen III and I that run parallel to the skin surface ^{158, 160}. The ECM undergoes constant remodeling, where ECM components are deposited, degraded, or otherwise modified ¹⁶¹.

The most abundant cells in the dermis are fibroblasts, which play a crucial role in the production of ECM and its remodeling. Fibroblasts can release MMPs, which directly regulate ECM production and degradation. In addition, fibroblasts secrete various growth factors (GFs) including the TGF- β and the cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) that directly affect keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation. During wound healing, these growth factors and cytokines participate in important processes such as breaking down the fibrin clot, forming the granulation tissue, regulating angiogenesis, supporting wound contraction, assisting reepithelization, and creating new ECM ¹⁶².

In addition, other cells including dendritic cells and leukocytes are located in, or travel through the dermis. Also skin appendages like sweat and sebaceous glands and hair follicles can be found within the dermis ⁹⁴.

I.2.1.3 The hypodermis

The hypodermis lies between the dermis and muscle, and its thickness varies from person to person. The main cellular component of the hypodermis is adipocytes structured into lobules separated by the septa that is a fibrous connective tissue containing nerve connections, lymphatic vessels and a rich microvascular network that provides oxygenation and nutrient exchange ⁹⁴. The hypodermis provides insulation from the cold, serves as an energy reservoir, protects deep tissues from trauma, and even acts as an endocrine organ by participating in the synthesis of oestrone and leptin ¹⁶⁰.

The skin appendages include hair follicles, nails, sebaceous glands, sweat glands, mammary glands, and ceruminous glands. Hair follicles are generated by basal cells in the basement membrane and, apart from palms and soles, they can be found all around the body. They contribute to maintaining body temperature and perceiving touch sensation. Nails are also composed of keratinized and flattened dead cells. Sebaceous glands, located at the base of the hair follicle, secrete an oily substance known as sebum, which lubricates and waterproofs the skin and hair ¹⁶³. Sweat glands secrete sweat to the surface of the skin. Mammary and ceruminous glands are modified sweat glands that produce milk and cerumen, respectively ^{94, 160}.

I.2.2 Electrical properties of normal skin

Skin has unique electrical characteristics ^{2, 164, 165}. The epidermis can be considered a semipermeable membrane, so if there is a difference in ionic strength across this membrane, there will be a potential difference. The dermis and the subcutaneous tissues under epidermis behave in general as pure resistances, which generate negligible DC potentials ^{11, 166, 167}. This concept is shown in Figure I.9A ¹³⁵.



Figure I.9 Generation of electric fields in normal skin. (A) Unbroken skin maintains this "skin battery" or transepidermal potential of 20 - 50 mV. (B) Diagram of a typical epithelial cell in a monolayer with Na⁺ and Cl⁻ channels localized on the apical plasma membrane and K⁺ channels localized on the basolateral membranes along with the Na⁺/K⁺- ATPase ³³.

Unlike symmetrical cells, in basal keratinocytes Na^+ channels are localized more in the apical membrane and K⁺ channels are localized more in the basolateral membrane. This produces several different transmembrane potentials, among which at least the apical membrane potential and the basolateral membrane potential must be taken into account when it comes to the transcellular potential of keratinocytes ¹⁰⁵. The fact that Na⁺ travels across the apical membrane and K⁺ travels across the basolateral membrane establish a potential across the cell, with positive charges on the basolateral surface. The apical-basal transcellular current must flow back extracellularly, so the cells prompt to drive Cl⁻ follow a pathway between the cells, *i.e.*, tight junctions. Because these junctions have high resistance, when ionic current flows through, a transceptibelial potential (TEP) is build up, positive to the basal side with respect to the negative apical side, as shown in Figure I.9B ¹¹, ³³, ¹³⁵, ¹⁶⁸.

Transcutaneous potential measurements were performed in human body. Negative potentials in the stratum corneum with respect to the dermis were recorded, being -23 ± 9 mV in average ¹⁶⁹. The existence of epidermal "batteries" has been thought to subserve wound healing ^{170, 171}. Indeed, when decreasing the field strength with the Na⁺-channel blocker, wound healing was significantly retarded, while increasing the field strength by the addition of direct current promoted the re-epithelization rate ¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁶. These observations suggest that the endogenous EF plays a role in normal wound healing process.

I.2.3 Electrical properties of wounded skin

When skin is injured, the TEP in wound area becomes zero. The existing TEP in the adjacent intact skin will form a lateral EF to drive the ionic current following the pathway toward the wound center in the deep layer of the epidermis and form an electric circuit around the wound bed (Figure I.10) ³³. As a result, a wound-induced EF is built up and persists until the wound is closed (Figure I.12) ¹⁷³. The lateral voltage gradient between the wound center and adjacent intact skin is around 150 mV mm⁻¹ and declines with distance from the wound, as shown in Figure I.11 ¹⁷⁷. This lateral voltage gradient falls off gradually over time and ultimately becomes nonexistent due to the increasing resistance created by the newly regenerating epidermis ^{33, 173, 178}.

Cells are also known to respond to EF as a cue to migrate to wound sites. This directional migration, or galvanotropism, due to EF, is thought to mediate early cell migration in wound healing ³³. Studies have shown that almost all skin cells respond to the wound-induced EF. Neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages show electrotaxis ^{50, 179}, a phenomenon probably beneficial for the immune response and a better antibacterial effect. Endothelial cells respond to EF by projecting the broad, actin-filled lamellipodia ¹⁸⁰. Fibroblasts show time-dependent electrotactic responses ^{44, 58}, not mentioning the electrotaxis of keratinocytes that plays a vital role in wound closure. Inspired by this, scientists have tried to apply ES to accelerate wound closure ^{181, 182}.



Figure I.10 Generation of electric field in wounded skin. When wounded, the TEP drives current flow through the newly formed low resistance pathway, generating a lateral electric field whose negative vector points toward the wound center at the lower portion of the epidermis and away


from the wound on the upper portion just beneath the stratum corneum 33 .

Figure I.11 The magnitude of the natural endogenous electric field near a cut ¹⁷⁷.

I.3. Wound healing

Wound healing is an essential biological process that comprises sequential steps aimed at restoring the architecture and function of damaged cells and tissues ¹⁸³. Triggered by damage signals, *i.e.*, Ca²⁺ wave, EF, wound healing begins with an immediate gene transcription-independent cellular response, including the changes in cell shape, the formation of functional actomyosin structures and the recruitment of immune cells. This is followed by a gene transcription-dependent response, including cell proliferation, differentiation, and protein production ¹⁸⁴. Overall, wound healing adopts the principle of maximum efficiency to protect the body and restore the tissue function.

I.3.1 Skin wound healing process

As first line of defense, a fast skin wound healing is vital for body survival. It is achieved through several overlapping phases (Figure I.12)¹⁷³: hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation, and remodeling, accompanied with complex signals and regulating factors.



Figure I.12 Skin repair progress ¹⁷³.

Hemostasis. Immediately after injury, damage signals trigger platelet aggregation at the wound

site. Subsequently, platelet-secreted factors, such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), promote the formation of a fibrin clot to stop bleeding and plugs the wound area to provide a provisional matrix for subsequent cell invasion ^{185, 186}.

Inflammation. While clot formation occurs, leukocytes (neutrophils and later monocytes, which locally differentiate into macrophages) are recruited to the wound. Angiogenesis can be observed at this stage, with the new blood vessels to facilitate the migration of immune cells and the transport of oxygen and nutrients to the wound site. Neutrophils release reactive oxygen species (ROS) and proteases that prevent bacterial contamination and clean cellular debris ^{186, 187}. At the same time, they release chemokines attracting macrophages and other cells to the wound site. Neutrophils begin to wane when monocytes enter the wound and mature into macrophages. Macrophages phagocytose debris and bacteria, meanwhile secrete extracellular enzymes to degrade necrotic tissue and apoptotic cells, thus paving the way to resolving inflammation ¹⁸⁸. Resolution of the inflammatory phase is accompanied by the apoptosis of inflammatory cells, which are related to anti-inflammatory cytokines and bioactive lipids ¹⁸⁹.

Proliferation. This phase is primarily characterized by tissue granulation, newly formed blood vessels, and re-epithelialization. At this stage, growth factors act to induce and maintain cell proliferation and migration, and promote angiogenesis to provide a favorable microenvironment for keratinocytes and fibroblasts ^{162, 189}. Granulation tissue is a mixture of loosely organized ECM (collagen III, fibrin, fibronectin, hyaluronic acid, etc.) and several cell populations, *i.e.*, fibroblasts, immune cells, and endothelial cells. Mechanical tensions experienced by fibroblasts in the granulation tissue, together with the factors such as PDGF and TGF- α , trigger fibroblast differentiation into myofibroblasts. Myofibroblasts are rich in alpha smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) and so have a high contractile capacity, which causes wound contraction and promotes the wound re-epithelialization ¹⁹⁰. The details of re-epithelialization will be present in §I.3.4.

Remodeling. As the edges of a wound come together, cell migration and proliferation terminate. The immune response also ends. The vasculature is reorganized. MMPs and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases allow the replacement of collagen type III into collagen type I, which has a much higher tensile strength, to form a mature scar tissue ^{191,192}. Although this scar tissue is enough as a barrier, but it has 30% less mechanical strength than the healthy tissue and lacks skin appendages. A scar tissue never regains the properties of the uninjured skin ¹⁹³.

I.3.2 Wound healing limitations

Healing can follow two different mechanisms: regeneration or repair. Regeneration achieves a full healing of the original tissue; repair develops into a scar ¹⁹⁴. Human fetuses can regenerate the wound without scarring, but this ability is lost during adult life. A leading hypothesis is that the immune system is involved in the switch between regeneration and fibrotic healing, as human fetuses have immature immune systems ^{195, 196}. Because the immune response not only combats infections but also can result in the local over-deposition of fibrin fibers and collagen, causing fibrosis and scarring ¹⁹⁷. Another explanation is that a rapid scarring tissue confers a survival advantage by preventing infectious microorganisms from invading the wound and by inhibiting the continued mechanical deformation of larger tissues ¹⁸³. However, these mechanisms are not fully understood till now. Thus, a full understand of wound healing, and a better control of inflammation during wound healing is a way to eliminate undesirable side effects and advance to tissue regeneration.

I.3.3 Wound healing regulators

Cells are sensitive to physical and chemical changes. Injured cells release a cocktail of ions and factors which can be detected by adjacent healthy cells. In response to the changes, they send complex damage messages aimed at informing target cells to start wound healing. Subsequently, genes can be turned on or off depending on the distance to the wound and the stage of wound healing ^{184, 198}. Therefore, there exist both immediate regulators and more sustained signals during wound healing. Hence, understanding these regulators will contribute to develop a better wound healing therapy.

I.3.3.1 Wound signals

Since gene expression takes time, cells must turn-on the readily available mechanisms in order to respond to immediate challenges posed by the wound. To date, the main immediate transcriptionindependent and diffusible damage signals include Ca²⁺ wave, ROS, purinergic molecules, and EF. Healthy cells can recognize these damage signals and trigger complex repair programs ¹⁸⁴.

 Ca^{2+} wave. Injury leads to a rapid increase in intracellular Ca²⁺, which can activate RHO GTPases and promote actin polymerization and actomyosin contractility, possibly through RHO GEFs ¹⁹⁹⁻ ²⁰². Furthermore, Ca²⁺ can directly activate actin-severing proteins, such as calpain and gelsolin, leading to increased actin dynamics. Subsequently, Ca²⁺ can potentiate JNK and ERK signaling, which leads to the transcription factor activation and the increased expression of wound response genes, including several cytoskeletal regulators ^{203, 204}.

ROS. ROS such as H_2O_2 are highly reactive oxygen-containing molecules that are formed in cells as the products of the oxidative metabolism or the activity of oxidative enzymes. Studies have shown that as early as 3 minutes after injury, wound bordering cells experience a rise in H_2O_2 levels; and dissipation of H_2O_2 by one hour after wounding coincides with the decreased immune cell migration to the wound, underlining the predominant role of H_2O_2 as an immediate pro-inflammatory factor ²⁰⁵.

Purinergic signal. Under normal conditions, the intracellular concentration of ATP is very high (approximately 100 mM), whereas the extracellular concentration is considerably lower (approximately 10 nM). Upon injury, a considerable amount of ATP is released by damaged cells into the extracellular milieu. Research shows that the active ATP release and the purinergic receptor-mediated ATP recognition might have an important role in alerting the immune system ^{206, 207}.

Electric field. Damage-induced membrane disruption alters ion transport profiles across cell membranes ^{165, 169}. This results in the formation of EFs that have essential roles during wound healing ²⁰⁸. Studies have shown that skin cells display wound-induced electrotaxis ^{33, 42}. Details will be presented in §I.4.

In addition, these damage signals are integrated and co-regulated. For instance, the intracellular Ca²⁺ wave can promote ATP release, while the consequent engagement of purinergic receptors of neighboring cells leads to a concurrent Ca²⁺ uptake. The Ca²⁺ release by internal stores is also promoted, propagating the initial damage signal. Moreover, ATP and Ca²⁺ cooperatively promote EGFR signaling and activate its downstream PI3K–AKT and ERK–MAPK signaling pathways in epithelial wound healing ¹⁸⁴.

I.3.3.2 Cytokines, growth factors and chemokines in wound healing

Damage to cells triggers the activation of conserved signal transduction pathways that ultimately cause changes in the transcription of specific genes. For example, a strong expression of suppressor of cytokine signalling-1 (SOCS-1) mRNA gene will down regulate the proinflammatory cytokines,

while a highly expressed macrophage stimulating-1 (MS-1) gene is a proinflammatory mediator. These two genes balance the inflammation process during wound healing ²⁰⁹. Cytokines, growths factors and chemokines mediate all these events and regulate cell activities from the injury to the final healed tissue. These agents can bind to specific cell membrane receptors or ECM proteins to trigger a cascade of molecular events. The endpoint of a signaling pathway is the gene promoters that regulate the translation of the proteins that control cell cycle, migration, infiltration, or differentiation patterns ^{162, 183, 184, 210}. These transcription-dependent cellular responses are slower but more specific. Working in this manner, these factors ensure the success of wound healing. The important factors are summarized in Table I.1.

Ligand	Receptor location	Secreted by	Function in wound healing	Ref.
EGF	Throughout epidermis, prominent in basal layer	Platelets, macrophages, fibroblasts.	 Accelerate keratinocyte migration and proliferation (increase K6, K16). Increase fibroblast collagenase secretion. Inhibits fetal wound contraction. 	162, 211- 213
TGF-α	Epidermis	Platelets, keratinocytes, macrophages, lymphocytes, fibroblasts.	Accelerate keratinocyte migration and proliferation (through the increase K6, K16).	162, 211, 212, 214, 215
HB-EGF	Epidermis	Keratinocytes	 Promote keratinocyte migration. Angiogenesis.	162, 212, 216
FGF-2 (bFGF)	Epidermis & dermis	Macrophages, endothelium, keratinocytes, mast cells, fibroblasts.	 Increase keratinocyte motility. Regulate ECM synthesis and deposition. Promote fibroblasts proliferation and stimulates collagenase production (collagen remodeling). Prevent wound contraction in fetal wounds. Involved in endothelial cell growth and migration, promote angiogenesis. 	162, 211
FGF-7 & FGF-10	FGFR2IIIb receptor, solely on epithelium of ectodermal origin	Endothelium fibroblasts. γ-δ T cells.	 Regulate keratinocyte proliferation and maturation. Detoxification of ROS. 	162, 211, 217

Table I.1 Important growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines in skin wound healing

FGF-22	FGFR2IIIb receptor	Hair follicle keratinocytes, keratinocytes of hypertrophic epidermis of the wound bed in the late stages of wound healing.	More studies needed to better understand	162, 212, 216
TGF-β1/ β2	Epidermis & dermis	Platelets, macrophages, fibroblasts, keratinocytes.	 Recruit inflammatory cells and augment macrophage mediated tissue debridement. Deactivate superoxide production from macrophages. Shift keratinocyte integrin expression toward a more migratory phenotype. Increase the expression of genes associated with ECM formation. Up-regulate VEGF. Facilitate contraction. Inhibit MMPs and promote TIMP synthesis. Induce arginase activity in several cell lines. Overexpression can lead to elevated scarring. Inhibit the same processes that it activates in immune cells. Fetal wounds lack of TGF-β (scarless healing). 	162, 211, 218, 219
TGF-β3	Epidermis & dermis	Keratinocytes	 Recruit inflammatory cells and fibroblasts to the wound site and facilitate keratinocyte migration. Inhibit scarring and promotes better collagen organization. Stop signal for terminal differentiation in epidermis. 	162, 211, 218, 219
Activins	Fibroblasts, keratinocytes	Fibroblasts, keratinocytes.	 Affect keratinocyte proliferation indirectly by inducing the expression of growth factors in dermal fibroblasts. Inhibit keratinocyte proliferation and induce terminal differentiation. 	162, 211
BMP-6	Keratinocytes	Regenerated keratinocytes, fibroblasts.	 Important in keratinocyte differentiation. An overexpression has been shown to severely delay re-epithelialization. 	162, 211
PDGFs	/	Platelets, macrophages, vascular endothelium, fibroblasts, keratinocytes.	 Mitogenicity and chemotaxis of neutrophils, macrophages, fibroblasts to wound site. Stimulate macrophage-derived growth factors, <i>i.e.</i>, TGF-β. Recruit pericytes to the capillaries. 	162, 211, 220

			 Increase keratinocyte motility by upregulating IGF-1. Enhance fibroblasts proliferation. Stimulate fibroblasts switch to myofibroblasts. Up-regulating MMPs to promote tissue remodeling. 	
VEGF-A	Endothelial surface of blood vessels	Endothelium, keratinocytes, fibroblasts, macrophages, platelets, neutrophils.	Promote early angiogenesis.Play a role in lymph angiogenesis.	162, 220- 222
VEGF-C	Lymphatic endothelium, fenestrated endothelia, monocytes, macrophages	Macrophages	 Recruit inflammatory cell to wound site. Play a role in lymph angiogenesis. Play a role in angiogenesis. 	162, 221, 222
PLGF	/	Keratinocytes, endothelium.	 Promote monocyte chemotaxis and bone marrow-derived precursor cell mobilization. Promote granulation tissue formation, maturation, and vascularization. 	162, 221, 222
CTGF	/	Fibroblasts, muscle cells, γδ-T lymphocytes.	 Stimulate proliferation and chemotaxis of fibroblasts. Essential for re-epithelialization by promoting keratinocytes migration induced by TGF-β through Ras/MEK/ERK MAPK. Strong inducer of ECM proteins. Mesenchymal cell adhesion, migration, and proliferation. 	162, 211, 223
GM-CSF	/	Keratinocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial cells, macrophages	 Promote inflammation. Increase keratinocyte proliferation. Increase migration and proliferation of endothelial cells. 	162, 211
IL-1 (IL-1α, IL-1β)	/	Neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, keratinocytes.	 Activate neutrophils and promote chemotaxis. Induce proinflammatory cytokine expression. Induce keratinocyte migration (expression K6, K16) and proliferation. Activate fibroblasts and increase FGF-7 secretion. Elevated levels of IL-1β 	162, 211, 224
IL-18	T Lymphocytes, NK cells, macrophages	Keratinocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells.	 Up-regulate Th1 cytokines. Overproduction induces severe inflammatory disorders. 	162, 225, 226
IL-6	/	Neutrophils, monocytes,	• Stimulate keratinocytes and fibroblasts proliferation.	162

		fibroblasts.	 Chemo attractive to neutrophils. Primary inducer of the hepatic and myeloid acute phase responses. Inappropriate IL-6 expression is unfavorable to healing. 	
TNF-α	/	Macrophages	 Essential in the early phases; overproduction or prolonged expression in remodeling phase causes increased tissue destruction by the over activation of immune cells and their protease products. Induce neutrophil recruitment and maturation. Increase hemostasis. Indirectly promote re-epithelialization by inducing FGF-7 production. Alone, at low levels, can stimulate inflammation and increase macrophage produced growth factors. 	162, 211, 224, 227, 228
IFN-γ	/	T lymphocytes	 Polymorphonuclear leukocytes and macrophage activation and cytotoxicity. Induce tissue remodeling. Overexpression can reduce re- epithelialization. 	162, 229
IL-2	/	T lymphocytes	Predominantly a T-cell growth factor.Associated with inflammation.	162
IL-4	/	T lymphocytes, basophils, mast cells	 Suppress proinflammatory cytokine expression. Promote fibroblast proliferation. Up-regulate arginase activity in fibroblasts, macrophages, endothelium. 	162
IL-10	/	T lymphocytes, dendritic cells, macrophages	 Inhibit proinflammatory cytokine production. Prevent neutrophil and macrophage infiltration into the wound. 	162
MCP-1 or CCL2	/	Keratinocytes	• Chemoattractant for monocytes/macrophages, T-cells, and mast cells.	210, 230
IP-10 or CXCL10	/	Keratinocytes	 Promote inflammatory response. Delay re-epithelialization and prolong granulation phase. 	210, 230
IL-8 or CXCL8	/	Macrophages, fibroblasts.	 Increase keratinocyte migration, proliferation, maturation, and margination. Induce MMPs expression in leukocytes, stimulate tissue remodeling. Strong chemoattractant for neutrophils. Increase endothelium adhesion protein expression. Excessive expression causes increased 	210, 230

 Excessive expression causes increased scarring.

			• Very low concentrations in fetal tissue.	
GRO-α or CXCL1	/	Keratinocytes	 Promote keratinocyte migration. Potent regulator of neutrophil chemotaxis. 	210, 230
SDF-1 or CXCL12	/	Endothelium, myofibroblasts, keratinocytes.	 Recruit lymphocytes to the wound. Promote proliferation and migration of endothelial cells. Recruit bone marrow progenitors from circulation to peripheral tissues. Enhance keratinocyte proliferation. 	210, 230

I.3.4 Re-epithelialization

Re-epithelialization can be viewed as the result of three overlapping keratinocyte activities: migration, proliferation, and differentiation. The sequence of the events begins with the dissolution of cell-cell and cell-substratum contacts, followed by the polarization and initiation of migration in basal, and a subset of suprabasal keratinocytes over the provisional wound matrix. A subset of keratinocytes immediately adjacent to, but not within the wound bed, then undergo mitosis. Finally, keratinocytes stratify and form the new epidermis ²³¹⁻²³³.

I.3.4.1 Re-epithelialization mechanism

Re-epithelialization is stimulated by the local wound milieu ²³⁴. Several re-epithelialization mechanisms have been postulated, including "collective leading-edge keratinocytes migration", "increased progenitor keratinocytes proliferation behind the leading-edge zone" and "partial epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)". And these mechanisms involve multiple signaling cascades ^{100, 113, 235-238}.

Two distinct keratinocyte zones play critical roles: A proliferative hub is composed of the IFE and HF-derived stem cells and their progeny, and a migrate leading edge composed of the non-proliferative keratinocytes. The migrate leading edge acts as a scaffold secreting a high level of enzymes that remodel the surrounding ECM and fibrin clot, allowing epidermal regeneration to progress toward the center of the wound and protecting the stem cells and their progeny from the immediate vicinity of the wound front and infection ^{100, 235, 239}.

The adhesive complexes of migrating keratinocytes must be stable enough to maintain contact points, yet plastic enough to form the leading edge and disassemble at the trailing edge ²⁴⁰⁻²⁴³. Consequently, the regulation of junctional dissolution must be very finely tuned to enable just

sufficient loosening between keratinocytes to allow a migration without detaching the migrating cells entirely from one another so they cannot migrate collectively ^{241, 244, 245}, which is the so called "partial EMT". Migration relies on the coordination of forward protrusion and rearward retraction forces, mediated by actin and microtubule cytoskeleton. Reorganization of keratinocyte cytoskeleton lets the keratinocytes in the leading edge acquire a motile phenotype and start migrating ²³⁵. The migrating cells do not proliferate actively as it migrates to the wound center. Proliferation resumes when the edges fuse at midline of the wound.

There are multiple regulatory cascades that modulate re-epithelialization. So far what have been intensively studied include the altered integrin, the laminin-332 expression and distribution associated with migrating keratinocytes, and the hyperproliferative keratinocytes expressing K6, K16 and K17. IGF-1 stimulates membrane protrusion and facilitates cell spreading through PI3K signaling pathway, while EGF has been shown to induce keratinocyte size reduction through MAPK signaling pathway ^{234, 246-252}.

Of the keratinocytes in the leading-edge migrating zone, the most upregulated genes are the genes coding for the proteins that include MMP9, MMP13 and MMP1, whereas TIMP3 is the most downregulated gene, suggesting that a high level of MMPs promotes the remodeling of the ECM at the wound front allowing the front cells to progress toward the center ²⁵³. MMPs also help the breakdown of the hemidesmosomes that anchor cells at basal membrane and are therefore essential for the movement of basal cells. The migrating zone also expresses a high level of urokinase (Plau) and urokinase receptor (Plaur), two key fibrinolytic proteins contributing to the remodeling of blood clot ^{249, 254-256}. In addition, the genes controlling keratinocyte adhesion, including protocadherins (Pcdh7, Pcdhb19, Pcdhga1), integrins (Itga5, Itga6) and their ECM ligands (Fn1, Lama3, Lamb3, Lamc2), desmosomes (Cdsn) and gap junction proteins (Gjb6/Cx30 and Gjb2/Cx26), are alternatively expressed ²³⁵. The genes controlling keratinocyte cytoskeleton remodeling including actin regulators (Fscn1, Cald1, Nav2, Fmnl2), myosin (Myo1b, Myo5b, Myh9, Tpm1, Tpm2) and tubulin (Tubb2a, Tubb3, Tubb6), are preferentially overexpressed. These genes control the morphology, polarity, and migration of keratinocytes. Several genes that regulate cell quiescence (E2f7, Fgf18) may contribute to the shutdown of proliferation ^{234, 235}.

I.3.4.2 Re-epithelialization regulators

Re-epithelialization relies on numerous signaling cues and multiple cellular processes that take place both within the epidermis and in other participating tissues ^{234, 257}. A variety of modulators are involved (Table I.2).

Factors	Functions in re-epithelialization		
EGF, HB-EGF, TGF-α	Promote keratinocyte migration and proliferation.		
FGF2, FGF7, FGF10	Increase keratinocyte migration, proliferation, and survival.		
TGF-β	Contradictory findings: Inhibition/promotion of keratinocyte migration and proliferation.		
BMP-6	Inhibit proliferation and induce differentiation of keratinocytes.		
HGF	Stimulation of keratinocyte migration and probably proliferation.		
GM-CSF, IGF, IFN-γ, IL-6	Increase re-epithelialization.		
IL-1	Increase keratinocyte survival, motility, and proliferation.		
TNF-α	Indirectly augment re-epithelialization though the expression of FGF-7 while directly inhibit re-epithelialization through keratinocyte p55 receptor. The direct effects seem to play a more dominant role.		
IL-6	Regulate keratinocyte motility and wound re-epithelialization.		
Chemokines (IL-8 or CXCL8, GRO-α or CXCL1, MCP-1 or CCL2, MRP-1 or CCL6)	Alter keratinocyte migration and/or wound re-epithelialization.		
Oxygen	Hypoxemic (2%) can suppress keratinocyte differentiation, increase keratinocyte motility.		
Antimicrobial peptides (LL-37)	Increase keratinocyte motility.		
ECM	Composition of the underlying ECM can modify the speed of keratinocyte migration in the presence of growth factors.		
Epithelial–mesenchymal interactions	Fibroblast-keratinocyte interactions via cytokines and their receptors and signal transduction pathways regulate keratinocyte differentiation and proliferation.		
MMPs, TIMPs	MMP and TIMP levels are under tight regulation for optimal keratinocyte motility.		
Acetylcholine	M3 receptor, calcium-dependent guanylyl cyclase, cyclic GMP and PKG, leading to the inhibition of RHO and keratinocyte migration. M4 receptor, adenylyl cyclase, cyclic AMP and PKA, leading to the activation of RHO and stimulation of keratinocyte migration		
Catecholamines, including adrenaline	Inhibition of keratinocyte migration		
Polyunsaturated fatty acids	Stimulation of keratinocyte migration and survival.		

Table I.2 Important regulators during re-epithelialization ^{63, 141, 183, 234, 258, 259}.

I.4 The benefits of ES in wound healing

As for the application of ES, the most studied area is wound healing. Studies in animal models and clinical trials have generated relatively positive outcomes ^{182, 260, 261}. In the last few decades, the research field has expanded from studying endogenous EF to the artificial ES therapy for wound healing.

Studies have shown that applying an EF at the direction opposite to the wound-induced EF caused a nonhealing wound, while the opposite of this significantly increased wound closure ²⁶². ES can attract the cells necessary for the healing process, including neutrophils, macrophages, fibroblasts, and epidermal cells ³³. Studies have also shown that ES not only accelerated healing but also regenerated the tissue with increased tensile properties compared to the control ²⁶³. Furthermore, ES can be beneficial in improving local perfusion, increasing temperature of the affected skin, and leading to a better wound healing ²⁶⁴. ES also has been shown to promote angiogenesis, another important mediator of wound healing ²⁶⁵. Of note, emerging evidences have suggested that a low frequency ES (< 10 Hz) has a higher efficacy in healing capacity than that of the ES at higher frequencies (> 50 Hz) ³¹. DC ²⁶¹, PC ⁷², and PEMF ²⁶⁶ have all been utilized in wound healing ²⁹. Although initial findings are encouraging, further study is warranted to fine tune the ES parameters for specific wound size and thickness to harness the benefits. Specifically, future study should investigate different EF intensities, frequencies, and the delays from initial injury, to adequately assess the most beneficial way that ES could be used in clinical setting.

Several ES-based wound dressings have been developed and used in clinic. POSiFECT® is one of the early products developed by Biofisica, Inc. ²⁶⁷. It consists of a ring-shaped anode placed outside the wound and a small cathode placed at the center of the wound bed to direct the EF or current in the wound bed. The power is provided by an integrated battery module and a constant ES current is ensured through a control circuit. Procellera® is a wound dressing developed by Vomaris Innovations, Inc. ²⁶⁸. This product utilizes a novel microcurrent-generating technology which produces electrical fields through a matrix of embedded microcell batteries. It has been shown that the Procellera® wound dressing has antibacterial effect against clinically relevant wound pathogens and could potentially reduce the risk of infection at the wound site.

I.5 Interactions of ES with keratinocytes

Endogenous EF is an important mechanism in guiding the migration of keratinocytes to the wound site and plays a pivotal role in promoting re-epithelialization.¹⁸² Exogenous EF has been applied in keratinocyte culture to study its effect on the cells. According to the findings, it is likely that DC EF between two electrodes can direct the migration of keratinocytes toward cathode ²⁶⁹. To summarize, 1) Migration of human keratinocytes in EF requires growth factors and is Ca²⁺-dependent ²⁷⁰; 2) EGFR relocalization and kinase activity are necessary for the directional migration of keratinocytes in DCEF ⁶⁸; 3) Response of keratinocytes to DCEF is dependent on differentiation status ²⁷¹; 4) Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase A plays a role in the directed migration of keratinocytes in a DCEF ²⁷².

Studies have revealed the following mechanisms:

1) Following an ES, keratinocytes polarize and migrate, together with the activation of PI3 kinase which is polarized to the leading edge ²⁷². However, polarized phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) were found at the opposite side of the migrating cells. This suggests that PI3 kinase and PTEN act as "compass molecules" in directional sensing ²⁷³. During such a process, multiple cAMP signaling pathways were reported to regulate keratinocyte electrotaxis ^{274, 275}.

2) EGFRs are redistributed asymmetrically after the application of DCEF on keratinocytes. EGFR/PI3 kinase/F-actin signaling can mediate keratinocyte electrotaxis ^{276, 277}. In fact, an extracellular electrical signal can be sensed by the EGFR on cell membrane, which leads to the activation of the PI3 kinase/Akt and mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase signaling pathways. The transduction of electric signal then results in an asymmetric polymerization of intracellular F-actin and a directional migration of keratinocytes, which further promotes wound healing ⁶⁸.

3) Genetic and pharmacological evidence revealed a two-molecule model involving the K^+ channel/Kir4.2 and the intracellular polyamines. Initially, a weak extracellular EF redistributes the positively charged polyamines, which then bind to K^+ channel Kir4.2 and consequently regulate the flux of K^+ . The K^+ alteration then induces changes in membrane potential, osmolality, and the ionic environment, which consequently interacts with the previously established intracellular PI3K/AKT pathways and ultimately affects actin polymerization, membrane protrusion, and cell migration $^{176, 278, 279}$.

4) ES-inducible SIVA1 modulates p53 activities in proliferating keratinocytes, and exogenous ES affects p53/HDM2/SIVA1 axis leading to an increased proliferation during re-epithelialization ²⁷⁹.

Despite the evidences suggesting the implication of EF in keratinocyte activities, the precise physiological role of EF on keratinocytes and re-epithelialization mechanisms remains to be determined ²⁸⁰.

I.6 Conductive polymers (CPs)

A conductive scaffold provides a unique and attractive option for delivering ES to cells or tissues ²⁸¹. A conductive scaffold can be prepared by blending biomaterials such as polylactide (PLA), polycaprolactone (PCL) or polyurethane (PU) with conductive particles such as gold, silver, or graphene particles ²⁸²⁻²⁸⁶. However, problems like inhomogeneous distribution of the conductive particles in the composite lead to non-reliable conductive properties that limit the widespread and successful use of such composites ²⁸⁷. Conductive polymers, owning to their intrinsically electrical conductivity and biocompatibility, make ES more efficient and a great potential in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine ²⁸⁸.

I.6.1 General introduction of CPs

Conductive polymers are a surprising discovery. Traditionally, polymers or plastics are known as insulators which can be used to protect the electric wires from short circuits. However, this view was changed, as in 1970s Alan J. Heeger, Alan G. MacDiarmid and Hideki Shirakawa synthesized the halogen derivatives of polyacetylene (CH)x (PA) ²⁸⁹. A conductivity of 3000 Siemens per meter (S m⁻¹) was measured for the iodine-modified PA, which was 10⁹ times more conductive than the original PA and was higher than any previously known polymers. Following that, the fluorine-modified PA was prepared and was 10¹¹ times more conductive than original PA ²⁹⁰. As a comparison, Teflon has a conductivity of 10^{-16} S m⁻¹ and copper 10^8 S m⁻¹. This discovery stimulated the synthesis of various conjugated polymers ²⁹¹. As the results, an entire class of polymers was found to possess electrical conductivity after the halogen treatment. The typical representatives include polyaniline (PANI), poly(p-phenylene vinylene) (PPV), polythiophene (PT) and its derivatives, PEDOT, and PPy. The common feature of the chemical structures of CPs is the polyconjugation in the π -system of their backbone, as shown in Figure I.13 ²⁹². The conductive forms of these polymers are obtained by means of doping and the doping is reversible

as a result of dedoping (removal of dopant) ²⁹³. CPs can have the electrical properties similar to metals while retain the mechanical properties and processibility of conventional polymers, which makes them very attractive. Researchers and engineers from a variety of fields in science and technology have engaged in CPs studies and have found that CPs may have promising applications in energy storage, sensors, photoluminescent and electroluminescent materials, "artificial muscles", gas separating membranes, anticorrosive coatings, electromagnetic shielding, drug delivery, etc ²⁹². Because Heeger, MacDiarmid and Shirakawa opened up the field of CPs, they were awarded the Nobel Prize in Chemistry in 2000 ²⁹¹.



Figure I.13 Chemical structures of some common conductive polymers ²⁹².

I.6.2 Conductive mechanism of CPs

Conductivity depends on the density of charge carriers and how fast they can move in the material. Based on classical band theory, the lowest unoccupied molecular orbital (LUMO) is called the *conduction band* and the highest occupied molecular orbital (HOMO) is called the *valence band*. The minimum energy spacing between LUMO and HOMO is called the *band gap* (ΔE), corresponding to the energy needed to create a charge pair with one electron in the upper (empty) band and one positive charge or "hole" in lower (filled) band ²⁹⁴, as shown in Figure I.14.



Figure I.14 Simple band gap diagram showing the difference between conductors, semiconductors, and insulators ²⁹⁵.

In polymers, when double bonds are added to molecules, every double bond contains a localized "sigma" (σ) bond which forms a strong chemical link, and additionally, a less localized "pi" (π) bond which is weaker. Alternating single and double bonds between the carbon atoms in polymer chains form conjugations. The conjugated double bonds behave quite differently from the isolated double bonds by that they act collectively. Hückel's theory ²⁹⁶ predicts that conjugated π electrons are spaced out rather evenly and delocalized over the entire chain. In other words, in conjugated π electron systems, all bonds are equal and ΔE becomes small because of this special system. However, for the overwhelming majority of conjugated polymers, their molecule structures are highly disordered, leading to the π -electrons that are insufficiently delocalized to facilitate charge transport ²⁹⁷. Therefore, to delocalize π -electrons, a push factor is needed. Experiments have proved that delocalization can be achieved through treating the conjugated polymers with halogen, which is called "doping". There are p-doping (or oxidation) and n-doping (or reduction) ²⁹⁸. The dopants are the chemicals injected into the material to form extra electrons or "holes" (a hole is a position where an electron is missing). A doped polymer is therefore like a salt. The roles of the dopants are to compensate the charge of the free charge carriers and simultaneously to enhance the probability of the charge transfer. Dopants can be single atom ions (Cl⁻) or ionized small molecules (DMSO) or even polymers (PSS). By applying an EF, the dopants, which are also called counterions, can be made to diffuse from or into the material, causing the doping reaction to proceed backwards or forwards. In this way the conductivity can be switched off or on ^{293, 297-299}.

In summary, a key property of CPs is the presence of conjugated double bonds along the backbone of the polymer. In addition, doping has to be introduced to form the mobile polarons and bipolarons along the polymer chain. Regulation of doping level provides a possibility to prepare polymers with a widely varied electrical conductivity, from the insulating form of the polymers in undoped state to the highly conductive ones in heavily doped state ²⁹⁸.

I.6.3 Polypyrrole (PPy)

PPy is by far the most extensively studied among the numerous CPs because of its easy synthesis, environmental stability, high electrical conductivity, and most importantly its excellent biocompatibility that endows PPy to be intensively investigated for biomedical applications ³⁰⁰.

PPy preparation. PPy is polymerized through the oxidation of pyrrole monomers (C_4H_5N), which can be carried out through electrochemical synthesis or chemical synthesis methods ³⁰¹.

For **electrochemical polymerization**, the pyrrole monomer is oxidized on the anode in aqueous or non-aqueous medium, producing a thin PPy film on the electrode surface. The film adheres strongly to the electrode and is difficult to peel off, which limits its application ³⁰¹.

Usually, a **chemical polymerization** is carried out by mixing pyrrole monomers and oxidant in a solution. The solvent can be water, methanol, benzene, chloroform, acetone, etc. The widely used oxidants are FeCl₃ and other salts of iron (III) and copper (II). The formed PPy is an opaque, brittle, and amorphous material, often in form of a black powder. The type of oxidant plays an important role in the yield and conductivity of the PPy. In some cases, the oxidant can be the dopant as well. The conductivity of PPy can range from zero to hundred S/cm ³⁰². Other factors, such as the choice of solvent, pyrrole concentration, duration and temperature of the reaction also influence the properties of the formed PPy ^{303, 304}. When pyrrole is oxidized by FeCl₃, the formed PPy will be automatically doped by Cl⁻ anions. The stoichiometric equation of the reaction is:

n C₄H₅N+(2+y)n FeCl₃ →
$$[(C_4H_3N)_n^{y+}nyCl^-]$$
+(2+y)n FeCl₂+2n HCl

where y is the degree of PPy oxidation (doping level) and is determined from the Cl/N ratio. A Cl/N ratio equal to 0.25 has been identified ³⁰¹.

As pristine PPy is brittle, insoluble and infusible ^{301, 303, 305}, in order to have sufficient strength and ductility for practical use, polymerizing pyrrole inside the matrix of other polymers, *i.e.*, PVA,

PLA, PU, or nanoporous cellulose gels, etc. ³⁰⁶⁻³¹³, has been used to form the conductive composites with enhanced mechanical properties. Another technique is to polymerize pyrrole on surface of the fabrics, *i.e.*, fabrics made of PET, PLA, PLGA, PCL and PVDF, etc. ^{24, 91, 312, 314-322}, to produce a PPy coated fabric. The formed materials combine the conductive properties of PPy and the mechanical properties of the host polymer. However, for such heterogeneous polymer systems, the instability caused by the dissipative structures is a problem, because the heterogeneous material promotes the spread out of inelastic strains over the whole macroscopic sample ^{323, 324}.

Our research group pioneered and conducted a great deal of research about PPy scaffold and PPy substrate-based ES for regenerative medicine ^{23, 72, 85, 86, 261, 325-328}. Recently, a soft pristine PPy membrane was successfully prepared, showing unique advantages as a substrate to support cell growth and to mediate ES ³²⁹. However, such a membrane is difficult to manipulate because of its weak mechanical strength.

I.7 Aims of the study

I.7.1 Research question

Based on the above-mentioned background, it's easy to raise my research question, which is "can we reinforce the soft PPy membrane without losing its softness and conductivity, and use it as a material platform to deliver electrical stimulation to soft tissues like skin and to skin cells?" For this reason, this study is to reinforce the soft PPy membrane, to use the reinforced PPy membrane to deliver ES, and to investigate the keratinocyte behaviors under ES treatment. The overall study will pave the way for the soft PPy membrane to be employed as a tool in ES-assisted therapy for wound healing.

I.7.2 Hypothesis

1. The soft PPy membrane can be reinforced with electrospun polymer fibres without losing its electrical property and cytocompatibility.

2. ES mediated by the soft PPy membrane can trigger ERK1/2 signaling pathway to modulate the release of cytokines and growth factors by the keratinocytes, in favor of wound healing.

I.7.3 Objectives

The principal objective is to prepare a soft PPy membrane as a suitable substrate to deliver ES to keratinocyte, and to study how ES activates keratinocytes at both cellular and molecular levels in the context of improving wound healing. The specific objectives are:

1. To develop a new conductive substrate by reinforcing a soft PPy membrane with electrospun polymer fibers without affecting the electrical property, surface chemistry and cytocompatibility of the membrane.

2. To investigate in vitro the effects of ES on human skin keratinocytes in terms of the cell proliferation, secretion of growth factors and cytokines, and the signaling pathway.

I.7.4 Research design



Figure I.15 The schematic of research design.

Considering the brittleness and the poor handling property of the soft PPy membrane, the mechanical property of this membrane must be improved before it can be used for cell culture. Considering that the soft PPy membrane is to be used as an ES scaffold, only biocompatible polymers should be selected as the reinforcing materials, and cytotoxicity must be excluded during the process. This chapter therefore studies use PU and PLLA fibers to reinforce the soft PPy membrane by an electrospinning technique. The reinforced PPy membrane keeps the conductivity of PPy, is not cytotoxic, and therefore can be used as an ES scaffold.

Chapter 1: To engineer a reinforced biocompatible polypyrrole membrane for biomedical applications

A biocompatible polypyrrole membrane for biomedical applications

Shujun Cui ^{abc}, Jifu Mao ^d, Mahmoud Rouabhia ^a, Saïd Elkoun ^e and Ze Zhang ^{*bc}

^a Research Group on Oral Ecology, Faculty of Dentistry, Université Laval, Québec (QC),
Canada. ^b Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Université Laval, Québec (QC), Canada.
^c Division of Regenerative Medicine, Research Center of CHU de Québec-Université Laval,
Québec (QC), Canada. ^d Key Laboratory of Textile Science & Technology of Ministry of
Education and College of Textiles, Donghua University, Shanghai, China. ^e Department of
Mechanical Engineering, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke (QC), Canada.

RSC Adv., 2021, 11, 16996-1700

Résumé

Le polypyrrole (PPy) est le biomatériau conducteur le plus étudié. Cependant, en raison de sa rigidité intrinsèque, le PPy n'a été utilisé que sous la forme d'un composite ou d'un revêtement mince. Ce travail présente une membrane souple à base de PPy pur, renforcée de manière synergique par des fibres de polyuréthane (PU) et d'acide poly-L-lactique (PLLA) électrofilées. Ce renforcement particulier rend non seulement la membrane PPy facile à manipuler, mais il empêche également la membrane de se déformer dans un environnement aqueux. Des tests de pelage et des tests mécaniques ont confirmé la forte adhésion des fibres et l'augmentation de la résistance à la traction de la membrane renforcée. La conductivité électrique de surface et la stabilité électrique à long terme ont été testées, montrant que ces propriétés n'étaient pas affectées par le renforcement. La morphologie et la chimie de la surface ont été analysées par spectroscopie électronique à balayage (SEM), spectroscopie photoélectronique à rayons X (XPS) et spectroscopie infrarouge à transformée de Fourier (FTIR). La stabilité thermique du matériau a été étudiée par analyse thermogravimétrique (TGA). Enfin, l'adhésion et la prolifération de kératinocytes de peau humaine sur la membrane ont été évaluées par coloration de Hoechst et par le test au bromure de méthylthiazolyldiphényl-tétrazolium (MTT). En conclusion, cette membrane s'avère être le premier biomatériau conducteur souple à base de PPy pouvant être utilisé de manière pratique. Sa conductivité électrique et sa cytocompatibilité promettent une utilisation biomédicale élargie de cette membrane à base de PPy.

Abstract

Polypyrrole (PPy) is the most widely investigated electrically conductive biomaterial. However, because of its intrinsic rigidity, PPy has only been used either in form of a composite or a thin coating. This work presents a pure and soft PPy membrane that is synergically reinforced with the electrospun polyurethane (PU) and poly-L-lactic acid (PLLA) fibers. This particular reinforcement not only renders the originally rather fragile PPy membrane easy to manipulate, it also prevents the membrane from deformation in an aqueous environment. Peel and mechanical tests confirmed the strong adhesion of the fibers and the significantly increased tensile strength of the reinforced membrane. Surface electrical conductivity and long-term electrical stability were tested, showing that these properties were not affected by the reinforcement. Surface morphology and chemistry were analyzed with scanning electron spectroscopy (SEM), X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS), and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR). Material thermal stability was investigated with thermogravimetric analysis (TGA). Finally, the adhesion and proliferation of human skin keratinocytes on the membrane were assessed by Hoechst staining and the methylthiazolyldiphenyl-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. In conclusion, this membrane proves to be the first PPy-based soft conductive biomaterial that can be practically used. Its electrical conductivity and cytocompatibility promise a wide range of biomedical applications.

1.1. Introduction

Polypyrrole (PPy) is an inherently conductive polymer formed through consecutive couplings of the oxidized heterocyclic pyrrole (Py) monomers and oligomers ¹. Unlike polyacetylene, PPy is hardly crystalline; and instead of forming a planar structure, PPy grows and aggregates layer by layer ^{2, 3}, making it low in tensile strength, with a lack of plasticity and elasticity, and poor in processability ⁴.

Meanwhile, due to its electrical conductivity, environmental stability and excellent biocompatibility ⁵, PPy has been intensively investigated as a biomaterial ⁶. Considering its potential applications in electrical stimulation including in clinic therapies ⁷⁻¹¹, PPy also becomes an interesting scaffolding material or an interface to mediate electrical stimulation to cells or tissues, such as in cancer therapy or tissue regeneration ^{12, 13}. All of these, however, are based on the promise to have a processable PPy scaffold with adequate mechanical strength ¹⁴.

Abundant research work has concentrated on improving the mechanical properties of PPy by combining it with supporting polymers ^{6, 15}. A commonly used method is to blend PPy particles with supporting polymers including *in situ* polymerization of PPy in a polymer solution, followed by solution casting and solvent evaporation to obtain a composite PPy membrane. Polymers that are frequently used include polylactide (PLA) ¹⁵, polyurethane (PU) ¹⁶⁻¹⁸, chitosan ¹⁹ and polycaprolactone (PCL) ²⁰. With this approach, normally only a small percentage of the PPy particles are dispersed in the supporting polymer, which should be adequate to make the composite conductive but not too high to make the mechanical property weak. The key point of this technique is to homogeneously distribute the PPy particles and, at the same time, form a PPy network to conduct electricity. Another widely used method is surface modification ²¹⁻²³. For example, soaking a polyester fabric in pyrrole monomer solution followed by oxidation polymerization can lead to a conductive textile, with a thin layer of PPy coated on the individual fibers if pyrrole is not excessive to fill the microporous structure.

Other nonconventional technologies have also been used. For example, electrospinning a polymer/PPy solution can generate fibrous conductive scaffolds ^{24, 25}. *In situ* vapor-phase polymerization of pyrrole monomers in cellulose gels followed by supercritical drying can produce a conductive aerogel ²⁶. A flexible PPy/cellulose composite membrane was prepared through

electrochemical polymerization by firstly sputter-coating a paper with platinum ²⁷. The work of PPy and its composites in biomedical applications have been extensively reviewed recently ^{28, 29}.

However, the above-mentioned methods have two major limitations. In the approach of using PPy particles as fillers, conductivity of the composite is significantly lower than that of the pure PPy, for the supporting polymers are normally insulators. In the second approach, *i.e.*, surface coating, although the thin PPy coating can be as conductive as the pure PPy, this conductivity deteriorates rapidly once used in an aqueous environment due to dedoping ³. The lowering of conductivity in either approach can be as significant as 3 to 4 orders of magnitude.

The free standing soft PPy membrane synthesized *via* a template-assisted interfacial polymerization technique largely addressed these two problems 30 . This PPy membrane has a distinctive physical structure that, for the first time, makes the pure PPy membrane soft and flexible. However, the tensile strength of this membrane is poor, with an elastic modulus of 3.4 MPa and an ultimate elongation 2.5%, making it easily damaged if not handled properly. Because free standing pure PPy membranes are hardly available and non-extendable, the tensile strength of pure PPy in literature is very rare. One group reported a PPy foam with a tensile strength of 18 kPa at 3.3% elongation ³¹.

In this study, we aimed to improve the mechanical strength of the free-standing soft PPy membrane without losing its other properties. For that purpose, polyurethane (PU) and poly(D,L-lactide) (PLLA) were sequentially electrospun onto the PPy membrane. The final membrane displayed unchanged electrical conductivity, significantly improved tensile strength and handling property, and an excellent cytocompatibility.

1.2. Materials and methods

1.2.1 Materials

Pyrrole (98%, Alfa Aesar), ferric chloride hexahydrate (FeCl₃·6H₂O, 98%, Sigma-Aldrich), methyl orange (MO, ACS reagent, dye content 85%, Sigma-Aldrich), chloroform (CHCl₃, HPLC grade, Fisher Scientific), PU (TecoflexTM SG-80A, Thermedics), PLLA (intrinsic viscosity 1.3, Hycail). All chemicals except pyrrole were used as received. Pyrrole was distilled and kept at 4 °C before use.

1.2.2 Synthesis of PPy membrane

PPy membranes were synthesized according to the technique published in our previous work ³¹. Briefly, 3 mL pyrrole was dissolved in 150 mL CHCl₃ and maintained at 4 °C for at least 1 h before use. The amount of 18.2 g of FeCl₃•6H₂O and 5 mM of MO were simultaneously dissolved into 320 mL of deionized water, and stirred for 30 min to obtain a FeCl₃/MO complex. The interfacial polymerization started when the FeCl₃/MO complex was transferred onto the top of the cold pyrrole chloroform solution in a 15 cm in diameter beaker. After 48 h polymerization at 4 °C, the PPy membrane was collected and washed sequentially with ethanol and deionized water to colorless. A HCl solution (1.67 mol L⁻¹) was dropped into the washing solution and the absence of pink color indicated the complete removal of FeCl₂ and MO. Then the membrane was dried at ambient temperature and named PPy for later use.

1.2.3 Strengthening PPy membrane with electrospun fibers

After trying 10, 12, 15 and 18 wt% concentrations, 15 wt% was found most appropriate to spin both PU and PLLA fibres using a handheld electrospinning device (Bona, Qingdao, China). The PU and PLLA solutions of 15 wt% were separately prepared by adding solid polymer pellets to CHCl₃, and then stirred at room temperature overnight. A volume of 1.5 ml of the polymer solution was then fed into a syringe that was then loaded to the handheld electrospinning device. Fibres were spun through a #25 gauge needle to cover 241 cm² of PPy surface (*i.e.*, 0.93 mg cm⁻²) at a feeding rate of about 2.25 mL h⁻¹ under a DC voltage about 9 kV at 25 °C and 65% humidity. The bubble side of the PPy membranes ³⁰ was used as the collector, which was 25 cm away from the needle. To spin composite fibers, the PU fibers were firstly spun, followed by the PLLA fibers, as illustrated in Figure 1.1. The fibre-reinforced PPy membrane was then placed in an oven at 40 °C overnight to evaporate CHCl₃. The reinforced membranes herein were identified as PPy-PU, PPy-PLLA and PPy-PU/PLLA.

In addition, the dried original and reinforced PPy membranes were immersed in deionized water for 7 day with the water refreshed twice a day to further remove impurities and reduce cytotoxicity. The membranes were subsequently dried naturally in the fume hood. The membranes, after 7 day wash, were named as wPPy, wPPy-PU, wPPy-PLLA, and wPPy-PU/PLLA.



Figure 1.1 Schematic illustration of how the electrospun fibers are assembled on top of the bubble surface of PPy membrane.

1.2.4 Characterizations

1.2.4.1 Surface morphology

A scanning electron microscope (SEM, model JSM-6360LV, JEOL, Tokyo, Japan) at an accelerating voltage of 20 kV was used to observe the morphological microstructures of the membranes. Specimens were sputter-coated with gold in a sputter coater (Fison Instruments, Polaron SC500, Uckfield, UK). Photomicrographs of various magnifications were taken from the representative parts of the surface and cross section.

1.2.4.2 Peel test

To measure the adhesion strength of the PU and PLLA fibers to the PPy surface, peel tests were conducted on the bubble side of the membrane. A circular PPy membrane was cut from the middle into two halves, to ensure the two membrane specimens being synthesized from the same batch of experiment. These two semicircular membranes were electrospun with either PU or PLLA fibers. Before electrospinning, a 5 mm wide of the straight edge of the specimen was covered with a piece of paper, to shield the edge from landing of the fibers. During electrospinning, the fibers landed on the surface of the membrane and the paper, as illustrated in Figure 1.4A. After evaporation of the solvent in an oven at 40 °C overnight, the fibers were slowly peeled off from the membrane surface. The fiber

adhesion strength was measured and photographed by the two outcomes, *i.e.*, either the fibers were peeled off without damaging the membrane, or the membrane was broken while peeling off the fibers. The peeling test was repeated 5 times for each type of fiber.

1.2.4.3 Tensile strength measurement

An Instron 5848 MicroTester (Instron, Norwood, MA, USA) was used for the tensile strength test. The specimens were cut into the shape of a "dog-bone", with 7 mm width at two ends and 3.5 mm x 16 mm in the middle. The distance between two gauges was 13 mm. The stretch was carried out at a rate of 1.0 mm min⁻¹ till failure. For each sample, data were collected at least from 5 specimens broken in the middle. The thickness of the samples was measured using a thickness gauge under the pressure of 19.76 kPa (MTG-DX2, Rex Gauge Company, Buffalo Grove, IL, USA).

1.2.4.4 Electrical conductivity

The surface resistance (*Rs*) of the non-reinforced side of the membranes was measured and averaged from at least 10 measurements at randomly selected locations using the Jandel multi-height four-point probe (Jandel Engineering Ltd., Linslade, Beds, UK) at room atmosphere. The four probes have a separation of 1 mm and a diameter of 100 μ m. The surface electrical conductivity (σ) was calculated referring to the publication from Smits ³².

1.2.4.5 Electrical stability

The electrical stability of the membranes under cell culture conditions was investigated using a home-made multi-well electrical cell culture plate ⁸. The wPPy-PU/PLLA membrane was mounted into the plate, immersed in culture medium, and kept in a standard cell culture incubator. The two ends of the membrane outside the culture well were applied with a 200 mV mm⁻¹ potential gradient, with the current recorded *versus* time for 240 h using a Keithley 2700 Digital Multimeter/Data Acquisition System (Keithley Instruments, Cleveland, OH, USA). Eight tests were performed for this experiment.

1.2.4.6 FTIR test

The Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectra of the membranes were recorded with a Nicolet Magna-IR 550 spectrophotometer (Nicolet Instrument, Madison, USA) at the attenuated total reflectance (ATR) mode. To do so, the specimens were pressed against a hemispherical silicon

crystal and scanned 64 times between 500 and 4000 cm⁻¹ at a resolution of 4 cm⁻¹. Considering the small thickness of the membrane (*ca*. 0.7 μ m)³⁰ and the sampling depth of the silicon crystal (*ca*. 0.8 μ m at 45 degree and 1000 cm⁻¹), this analysis should be considered bulk even if it was done at ATR mode. The ATR-FTIR test was conducted on the fiber-free side of the membranes.

1.2.4.7 XPS analysis

The X-ray photoelectron spectrometer (XPS, Perkin-Elmer PHI model 5600, Eden Prairie, MN, USA) was used to examine the surface elemental composition and chemical valence states of the membranes. The survey scans were obtained using a monochromatic aluminum source at 1486.6 eV, and the high-resolution spectra were achieved *via* a standard magnesium source at 1253.6 eV. The XPS analysis was performed on the fiber-free side of the membranes.

1.2.4.8 Thermogravimetric analysis

The thermogravimetric analyzer TGA/SDTA 851e (Mettler-Toledo, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) was used to measure the thermal degradation of the membranes by heating at a rate of 20 °C min⁻¹ from 25 to 600 °C in the atmosphere of nitrogen flowing at a rate of 20 ml min⁻¹.

1.2.4.9 Cytocompatibility

The wPPy-PU/PLLA membranes were cut into circular specimens according to the size of the 24well culture plate and sterilized with ethylene oxide gas following standard industrial procedures. Human skin keratinocytes (HaCat, Cedarlane CELLutions Biosystems, Burlington, ON, Canada) were seeded on the fiber-free side of the membranes at 1×10^5 cells per well for cell morphology analysis and at 2×10^5 cells per well for cell proliferation analysis. The cells were cultured for 24, 48 and 72 hours and then either stained with Hoechst dye 33342 (Riedel de Haen, Seele, Germany) for adhesion observations or processed for MTT assay (Sigma-Aldrich, Canada) for viability assessment. The cell culture experiment was triplicate at each time point. For MTT assay, four measurements were performed for each experiment.

For Hoechst staining, the cells were first washed three times with PBS and then fixed with a mixture of methanol in acetone (3: 1) for 10 min. After, the cells were incubated with a solution of 2 mg mL⁻¹ of Hoechst 33342 in PBS for 15 min at room temperature and then washed with PBS. The cells were finally observed under an epifluorescence microscope (Axiophot, Zeiss,

Oberkochen, Germany), and photographed. The cells cultured on glass slides were used as the control group.

To do MTT assay, the prepared 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) solution (5 mg mL⁻¹) was stored at 4 °C prior to use. The cells were refreshed with the new medium containing 10% (v/v) MTT and cultivated in an incubator for 4 h without light. The supernatant was then carefully removed and 2 mL of 0.04 N HCl in isopropanol (lysis solution) was added. Fifteen minutes later, 200 mL of the solution was transferred in triplicate from each well to a 96-well flat bottom plate. Absorbance of the formazan at 550 nm was determined using an ELISA reader (Model 680, BioRad Laboratories, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Cells cultured in standard 24-well plate were used as control.

1.2.5 Statistical analysis

All data were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (n \geq 3) when appropriate. Student t-test and Two-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) were performed to compare the variations between two experiments or among a group of experiments, respectively. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

1.3. Results and discussion

1.3.1 The synergy between PU and PLLA fibers

The surface of the soft PPy membrane has two distinct topographies: a flat nanotube side and a porous bubble side (Figure 1.2). Since the flat surface after removal of the nanotubes was used for cell culture, the reinforcement could only be done on the bubble side. The size and shape of the bubbles vary, ranging from 1 mm to 0.1 mm. The bubbles can be closed or open (Figure 1.2B). Such a surface topography significantly reduced the contact area between the PPy bubbles and any non-compliant fibers. Consequently, in this work we used two types of polymer fibers, *i.e.*, PU and PLLA. The PU fibers are soft and compliant as compared with the PLLA fibres, so can better follow the surface topography of the PPy bubbles to achieve a large adhesion area. However, the PU fibers can absorb a small amount of water and became slightly swollen in culture medium, forcing the soft PPy membrane to deform. Therefore, the rigid PLLA fibers were added to strengthen and stabilize the PU reinforced PPy membrane. As shown in Figure 1.3, the PU fibers

landed on the bubble surface and deformed according to the surface topography (Figure 1.3F&H), forming an intimate contact to PPy. In comparison, the PLLA fibers were straight and spanned the neighboring bubbles without following surface contour (Figure 1.3C&G). When electrospinning PU and then PLLA on the membrane, the composite fibers showed a strong adhesion to the PPy membrane, where the compliant PU fibers acted as an adhesive primer between the PPy and PLLA (Figure 1.3I, Figure 1.2D-F). The thickness of either PU or PLLA layer was estimated to be between 50 to 70 \Box m.



Figure 1.2 SEM of the original PPy membrane (A-C) and the reinforced PPy membrane (D-F). (A) nanotube side; (B) bubble side; (C) cross section; (D) the good attachment of the compliant PU fibers to the PPy; (E) the straight PLLA fibers detached from the membrane; and (F) the integration of the composite fibers to the PPy surface.



Figure 1.3 SEM images of the fibers and the cross section of the reinforced PPy membranes. (A–C) PLLA reinforced membrane, showing the PLLA fibres before (A) and after (B) wash, the cross-section of the washed membrane after wash. (D-F) PU reinforced membrane, showing PU fibres before (D) and after (E) wash, and the cross-section of the washed membrane. (G–I) PLLA/PU reinforced and washed membrane wPPy-PU/PLLA, showing the straight PLLA fibres (G), compliant PU fibres (H), and the cross-section of the membrane (I).

Safety must be adequately ensured for biomaterials. Reducing cytotoxicity through washing is a critical step for the as-prepared membranes. After wash, tiny dents appeared over the surface of the PLLA and PU fibers, as shown in Figure 1.3B&E. The probable causes include the extraction of residual chloroform that was not completely evaporated through conventional drying, and the hydrolytic degradation of the PLLA fiber during washing ³³.

Peel test showed that the PLLA fibers were very easily peeled off the PPy membrane, whereas the PU fibers adhered strongly to the PPy membrane making it impossible to peel off the PU fibers without breaking the PPy membrane (Figure 1.4B&C). These results are consistent with the SEM observations, *i.e.*, the PU fibers were better integrated with the PPy bubbles. The TecoflexTM SG-

80A is a polyether-based aliphatic thermoplastic polyurethane, of which the electrospun fibers were highly elastic and compliant. The PU fibers were also very sticky to the PPy probably because of the urethane groups that might have formed hydrogen bonds with the PPy. The PLLA, on the other hand, is a polymer with high crystallinity, which imposes rigidity and is compatible with the PU fibers. Consequently, the PU fibers stuck to both PPy and PLLA firmly, like a glue.



Figure 1.4 Peel test of the electrospun fibers on PPy membrane, showing the weak adhesion of the PLLA fibers and the strong adhesion of the PU fibers. (A) illustration of the peel test; (B) PLLA fibers were easily peeled off without damaging the PPy membrane; (C) PU fibers cannot be peeled off without breaking the PPy membrane.

To test the usability, the PU/PLLA reinforced PPy membranes and the non-reinforced (naked) PPy membranes were pressed with screws to the bottom of a home-made cell culture device (Figure 1.5A) and then released, mimicking the manipulations in a real cell culture experiment. The naked PPy membranes were found broken while the reinforced membranes were intact (Figure 1.5B&C). Because of the flexibility of the PU fibers and rigidity of the PLLA fibers, the reinforced PPy membrane exhibited a sufficient resistance to deformation and pressure.



Figure 1.5 Usability test of the PU/PLLA strengthened PPy membranes in comparison with the non-reinforced membranes, showing the intact reinforced membranes $(2^{nd} \text{ and } 4^{th} \text{ rows})$ and the broken non-reinforced membranes $(1^{st} \text{ and } 3^{rd} \text{ rows})$. (A) Membranes assembled in the home-made cell culture device; (B) Membranes disassembled from the cell culture device; (C) Reverse side of the membranes. The white appearance of the 2 membranes in column C is because of the electrospun fibers.

1.3.2 Mechanical and handling properties

In general, the stress-strain curves of the PPy membranes are linear and show very low stress and strain at failure, which is expectable for such a brittle material (Figure 1.6). Interestingly, the washing procedure significantly reduced the ultimate strain (4.13 *vs.* 2.78%, p < 0.01) and stress (693 *vs.* 377 KPa, p < 0.05) of the PPy (Table 1.1). Knowing that PPy is not vulnerable to hydrolysis, we believe that such a drop in mechanical property is likely because of the leaching of dopants and possibly other small molecules such as oligomers out of the PPy, causing the PPy less compact and generating weak points. These small molecules also could have acted as plasticizers that render the PPy slightly more ductile. The differences in the strain and stress at break of the PPy are insignificant between the PPy and PPy-PU groups before wash (p > 0.5), indicating that the electrospinning of PU did not change the ductility of the PPy membrane. However, after wash, the PPy-PU membranes showed the largest decline in stress at break, *i.e.*, 544.09 vs. 229.25 KPa (p < 0.01). This is because that the PU fibers absorbed water and expanded, which stretched and

damaged the PPy membrane. In fact, the PPy-PU membranes were found deformed during washing. Importantly, such a PU fiber-caused membrane deformation was not observed among the PPy-PU/PLLA membranes during washing. Apparently, the rigid PLLA fibers prevented such a deformation as well as the damage to the PPy.



Figure 1.6 Stress-strain curves of the membranes, before (A) and after (B) 7 day wash, and the SEM photos of the stretched and broken wPPy-PU/PLLA specimen at low (C) and high (D) magnifications.

For the reinforced membranes, the high stress and strain reflect the property of the electrospun fibers rather than that of the PPy. Even the reinforced membranes recorded a much higher stress and strain, the PPy membrane still broke at a low strain. As shown in Figure 1.6, the failure of PPy can be clearly identified for the PPy and PPy-PU membranes. For the PPy-PU/PLLA membrane, the break point of the PPy was shield by the strong PLLA fibers and became undetectable. Table 1.1 only lists the stress and strain of the PPy at failure because these are the data that really mater. In this work, the role of the fibers is to prevent the strain of the PPy membrane from reaching the strain of failure during manipulation, not to make a strong and elastic composite membrane. The PLLA fibers showed a yield point followed by a large plastic deformation before failure, which is

normal. They became stiffer after wash likely because of the better organized crystalline structures and the complete removal of the residual chloroform, which is supported by the SEM results. The PU fibers on the other hand were very elastic and recorded a large deformation at low stress.

	1 1	5	
Condition	Membrane	Strain at break (%)	Stress at break (KPa)
	PPy	4.13±0.41	692.82±79.60
Before wash	PPy-PU	4.30±0.35	544.09±21.96
	PPy-PU/PLLA	_a	_a
	wPPy	2.78±0.32	376.90 ± 98.02
After wash	wPPy-PU	2.77 ± 0.18	229.25±32.91
	wPPy-PU/PLLA	_a	_ ^a

Table 1.1 Mechanical properties of PPy in different membranes

^a undetectable

1.3.3 Electrical conductivity

 Table 1.2 Surface electrical conductivity

Condition Membrane		Surface electrical conductivity (S cm ⁻¹)	
Defere 7 dev week	РРу	0.161 ± 0.016	
Before / day wash	PPy-PU/PLLA	0.109 ± 0.012	
After 7 day wash	wPPy	2.41E-04±2.58E-05	
	wPPy-PU/PLLA	2.17E-04±1.73E-05	

The surface conductivity of the membranes is presented in Table 1.2. The influence of wash and electrospinning on surface conductivity was analyzed through two-way ANOVAs. The 7 day wash significantly reduced the surface conductivity of both PPy (p < 0.01) and PPy-PU/PLLA (p < 0.01) membranes. In fact, the surface conductivity dropped by three orders of magnitude after wash. The reason is the leaching out of the dopants from PPy, resulting in the decay of conductivity. The difference between the PPy and PPy-PU/PLLA groups before wash was significant (p < 0.01), meaning that chloroform in the electrospinning process can affect PPy conductivity. However, this small difference is negligible in terms of conductivity, particularly for conductive polymers. This difference disappeared after wash (p > 0.05), which marks the effectiveness of washing in comparison of conventional drying in removing trace chloroform from polymers.


Figure 1.7 Electrical stability of the wPPy-PU/PLLA membrane

The peak voltage gradient at the wound edge was reported 140 mV mm⁻¹ in skin and 42 mV mm⁻¹ in cornea ^{34, 35}. So, the electrical stability of the wPPy-PU/PLLA membranes was tested in a 200 mV mm⁻¹ electrical field. As shown in Figure 1.7, after a sharp decline in the first 24 h, which was about 65% of the initial conductivity, the conductivity continued to decrease but in a slow and linear fashion, with 13% of the initial conductivity retained after 10 days. The resistivity at this point was at the level of 10³ ohm cm, which is still similar to that of the living animal tissues³⁶. The first exponential decrease was due to the de-doping of anions from the PPy to the aqueous environment, a process enhanced by the reductive electrical potential. However, at same time the anions in the medium could diffuse back to re-dope the PPy. The second relatively stable stage in Figure 1.7 is attributed to the dynamic de-doping and re-doping processes. Knowing the electrical behaviors of the reinforced PPy membranes in aqueous environment, researchers are better guided about how to use such PPy membranes in biomedicine.

1.3.4 XPS and FTIR

Table 1.5 Surface elemental analysis by XPS (%)						
	C_{1S}	N_{1S}	O _{1S}	Cl _{2P}		
РРу	76.3±0.8	12.0±0.5	10.9±0.5	0.9±0.1		
wPPy	75.6±2.2	12.1±1.4	12.3±1.0	_ ^a		

 Cable 1.3 Surface elemental analysis by XPS (%)

^a undetectable



Figure 1.8 XPS survey spectrum of PPy membrane before (PPy) and after wash (wPPy).



Figure 1.9 Curve fittings of the high resolution XPS spectra of N_{1s} , PPy membrane before 7 day wash (A) and after 7 day wash (B).

The influence of wash on surface elemental composition of PPy (Table 1.3) was analyzed through Student t-test. The difference in elemental composition is significant for Cl_{2p} (p < 0.001), but insignificant for C_{1s} (p > 0.5), N_{1s} (p > 0.5) and O_{1s} (p > 0.05). This means that the chemical structure of the PPy was not affected after 7 day in water except the loss of chlorine anions, as shown in Figure 1.8. The presence of a significant amount of oxygen testifies the oxidation in PPy,

which nevertheless is normal considering that the surface tested (nanotube side, with the nanotubes removed) was synthesized in water phase that inevitably contained dissolved oxygen. The loss of chlorine anions is supported by Figure 1.9, showing clearly that the amount of oxidized pyrrole rings (positively charged N) was significantly reduced from 30.44% before wash to 22.13% after wash, explaining the deterioration in conductivity before and after wash.



Figure 1.10 Infrared spectra of (a) MO; (b) PPy; (c) PPy-PU/PLLA; (d) wPPy; (e) wPPy-PU/PLLA.

The characteristic absorptions of the PPy and MO identified from the FTIR spectra in Figure 1.10 are summarized in Table 1.4. The MO absorptions do not exist in the spectrum of any membrane, proving that MO was completely washed out. MO is cytotoxic and its elimination is essential to insure membrane cytocompatibility. It was found that the spectra of the naked and the fiber reinforced membranes are basically identical before and after wash (Figure 1.10b vs. c, d vs. e), further proving that the electrospinning did not alter PPy chemistry. The peaks in highlight in Figure 1.10 identify the absorptions that changed before and after wash. According to literature, the absorption at 1450 cm⁻¹ was due to C-N stretching in pyrrole aromatic rings ³⁷. The band at

1299 cm⁻¹ is attributed to C-N in-plane deformation ³⁸. Thus after washing, pyrrole aromatic ring vibrations became weak, possibly because of the low doping ratio. After wash, the absorptions at 961 cm⁻¹ (C=C) and 850 cm⁻¹ also became weaker and the ones at 900 cm⁻¹ and 780 cm⁻¹ became stronger. The absorption at 961 cm⁻¹ is attributed to C=C-C in-plane and out-of-plane deformation, and those at 900 cm⁻¹, 850 cm⁻¹ and 780 cm⁻¹ are caused by C-H vibrations ³⁸. We conclude that the electrospinning did not bring detectable changes to PPy chemistry, and that the changes caused by washing were likely because of the dedoping and changes in oxidation states, which however requires further investigation.

Materials	Peak assignment	Absorptions (cm ⁻¹)	Ref.
	Stretching of C-C and C=C	1565, 1547	
PPy	C-N and ring stretching vibration	1450, 1310	38,39
	Out of plane bending of C-H and ring modes	700 to 1000	
	CC vibrations in the aromatic rings	1607, 1520	
MO	CH ₃ vibrations	1422	40
MO	Azo group N=N vibration	1367	
	Sulfate groups from sulfonate species	1000 to 1200	

Table 1.4 The characteristic absorptions of PPy and MO from FTIR spectrum (The characteristic absorptions and assignments of the FTIR spectrum of PPy and MO)

1.3.5 Thermal stability

As presented in Figure 1.11A&C, the thermogravimetric curves of the naked PPy show three stages of weight loss. The first stage is from 25 to 125 °C where the weight loss is mainly from water and low molecular weight volatiles absorbed in the membranes. In the second stage, from 125 to 300 °C, the weight loss remains small meaning a low degradation rate, which should come from the less stable components in PPy such as the structures with oxidation. The third and most significant degradation starts around 300 °C and does not stop at 600 °C, which accounts for 60% to 67% of the weight loss. The residue at 600 °C is 20.4 % for the original PPy and 12.6% for the PPy after the 7 day wash, indicating that when chlorine anions were used as dopant the PPy with a higher doping ratio was more stable.



Figure 1.11 The TGA (solid black curve) and DTG (dash red curve) analyses of the membranes. (A) PPy; (B) PPy-PU/PLLA; (C) wPPy; (D) wPPy-PU/PLLA.

		Residue (%)			
	25-125 °С	125-300 °C	300-600 °С		@600 °C
РРу	9.4±0.4	9.6±1.7	60.7±5.0		20.4±3.0
wPPy	9.3±1.3	10.7 ± 0.4	67.5±0.7		12.6±1.5
	25-125 °С	125-300 °C	300-450 °С	450-600 °С	@600 °C
PPy-PU/PLLA	2.5±0.2	3.7±0.1	72.6±2.3	2.5±0.2	18.7±1.9
wPPy-PU/PLLA	$2.8{\pm}0.3$	5.5 ± 2.8	71.1±4.6	6.8±3.4	14.0±2.2

 Table 1.5 Thermal degradation of the membranes

For the PU/PLLA reinforced PPy membranes (Figure 1.11B&D), the weight loss happened in four stages, with an initial loss of volatile maters below 125 °C, followed by a slow weight loss up to 300 °C, then a significant drop of weight from 300 to 450 °C, and finally a slow weight loss up to 600 °C. Clearly, the relatively narrow degradation temperature of PU and PLLA is largely responsible for the sharp weight loss between 300 and 450 °C. The DTG curves show a shoulder at 340 °C (arrows), which should be due to PU that is less stable than PLLA. Student *t*-test revealed

no difference (p > 0.1) in weight loss at the 3rd stage (72.6 vs. 71.1), meaning that the wash did not have impact on the thermal stability of the fibers. The significant differences at the 4th stage and in final residue are due to the de-doped and less stable PPy. To conclude, the thermal stability of PPy was affected starting from 300 °C because of the dedoping caused by the intensive wash; and the electrospinning did not affect PPy stability (Table 1.5).

1.3.6 Cytocompatibility

Figure 1.12 presents the cell proliferation after 24, 48 and 72 h of culture. It can be seen that the amount of cells on the membranes (Figure 1.12A, B and C) were comparable to that on the glass slide (Figure 1.12D, E and F). Many cells on the membrane were out of focus because of the uneven surface morphology. The quantitative data depicted by the histograms also show a similar number of cells at 24 h and 48 h. At 72 h, however, a significantly higher number of cells was found on the membranes (0.58 *vs*. 0.48, p < 0.01), which was probably because of the larger surface area of the PPy-PU/PLLA membrane allowing more space to proliferate. These results indicate that the reinforced membrane has an excellent cytocompatibility and can support keratinocyte growth, which indicates the potential of using such conductive membranes in skin wound care.



Figure 1.12 Cytocompatibility test of the PU/PLLA reinforced PPy membrane. Adhesion of human skin keratinocytes on wPPy-PU/PLLA membrane at 24 h (A), 48 h (B) and 72 h (C), showing comparable cell density to the controls on glass slide (D-F). The histograms show the proliferation of the keratinocytes, showing a comparable or higher number of cells on the wPPy-PU/PLLA membrane compared to that in the tissue culture plate. ** p < 0.01.

1.4. Conclusions

Electrospun PU and PLLA fibers were successfully utilized to strengthen the soft PPy membrane without sacrificing its electrical conductivity, electrical stability, thermal stability, and surface

chemistry, which for the first time makes the soft PPy membrane practically usable. The unique combination of PU and PLLA fibers ensured their strong attachment to the PPy surface, no membrane deformation in aqueous solution despite the multi-layered structure, and the sufficient mechanical strength to stand normal manipulation without damaging the membrane. The reinforced membrane remained highly flexible and light weight, and supported the proliferation of human skin keratinocytes. Such a microporous, flexible, high surface area and easy to use conductive PPy membrane is very useful for a variety of biomedical applications such as electrically stimulated cell culture and reconstruction of conductive tissues.

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts to declare.

Acknowledgements

The study was funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research CIHR Project Grant 148523. The first author acknowledges the studentships from the Projet Intégrateurs of the Research Center for High Performance Polymer and Composite Systems (CREPEC) and La Fondation du CHU de Québec. The technical assistance of Pascale Chevallier in XPS measurement is greatly appreciated.

References

- 1. Bolto, B.A., McNeill, R., and Weiss, D.E., *Electronic conduction in polymers. III. Electronic properties of polypyrrole.* Australian Journal of Chemistry, 1963. **16**: p. 1090-1103.
- 2. Street, G.B., Lindsey, S.E., Nazzal, A.I., et al., *The structure and mechanical properties of polypyrrole*. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals, 1985. **118**: p. 137-148.
- 3. Vernitskaya, T.V. and Efimov, O.N., *Polypyrrole: a conducting polymer; its synthesis, properties and applications.* Russian Chemical Reviews 1997. **66**: p. 443.
- 4. Yilmaz, F., *Conducting polymers*. 2016: InTech.
- 5. Zhang, Z., Rouabhia, M., and Moulton, S.E., *Conductive polymers: electrical interactions in cell biology and medicine*. 2018: CRC Press.
- 6. Mao, J.F. and Zhang, Z., *Polypyrrole as electrically conductive biomaterials: synthesis, biofunctionalization, potential applications and challenges,* in *Cutting-Edge Enabling Technologies for Regenerative Medicine.* 2018, Springer. p. 347-370.
- Levin, M., Molecular bioelectricity: how endogenous voltage potentials control cell behavior and instruct pattern regulation in vivo. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 2014. 25: p. 3835-3850.
- 8. Meng, S., Zhang, Z., and Rouabhia, M., *Accelerated osteoblast mineralization on a conductive substrate by multiple electrical stimulation*. Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism, 2011. **29**: p. 535-544.
- 9. Tai, G., Tai, M., and Zhao, M., *Electrically stimulated cell migration and its contribution to wound healing*. Burns & Trauma, 2018. **6**: p. 1-7.
- 10. Waldauf, P., Gojda, J., Urban, T., et al., *Functional electrical stimulation-assisted cycle ergometry in critically Ill. protocol of randomised controlled trial.* Trials, 2019. **20**: p. 1-11.
- 11. Meng, S., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., *Electrical stimulation in tissue regeneration*, in *Applied Biomedical Engineering*. 2011, InTech. p. 37-62.
- 12. O'Connor, D. and Caulfield, B., *The application of neuromuscular electrical stimulation* (*NMES*) *in cancer rehabilitation: current prescription, pitfalls, and future directions.* Supportive Care in Cancer, 2018. **26**: p. 3661-3663.
- 13. Balint, R., Cassidy, N.J., and Cartmell, S.H., *Electrical stimulation: a novel tool for tissue engineering*. Tissue Engineering Part B: Reviews, 2013. **19**: p. 48-57.
- 14. Guimarães, C.F., Gasperini, L., Marques, A.P., et al., *The stiffness of living tissues and its implications for tissue engineering*. Nature Reviews Materials, 2020. **5**: p. 351-370.
- 15. Shi, G., Rouabhia, M., Wang, Z., et al., *A novel electrically conductive and biodegradable composite made of polypyrrole nanoparticles and polylactide*. Biomaterials, 2004. **25**: p. 2477-2488.
- 16. Wu, H.H., Sheng, D.K., Liu, X.D., et al., *NIR induced self-healing polyurethane/polypyrrole nanocomposites.* Polymer, 2020. **189**: p. 122-181.
- 17. Zhao, Y.X., Li, Y.F., Kang, W.M., et al., *A novel flexible sensor for respiratory monitoring based on in situ polymerization of polypyrrole and polyurethane coating.* RSC Advances, 2017. 7: p. 49576-49585.
- 18. Broda, C.R., Lee, J.Y., Sirivisoot, S., et al., *A chemically polymerized electrically conducting composite of polypyrrole nanoparticles and polyurethane for tissue engineering*. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A, 2011. **98**: p. 509-516.

- 19. Qi, F.Y., Wang, Y.Q., Ma, T., et al., *Electrical regulation of olfactory ensheathing cells using conductive polypyrrole/chitosan polymers*. Biomaterials, 2013. **34**: p. 1799-1809.
- 20. Hardy, J.G., Sukhavasi, R.C., Aguilar, D., et al., *Electrical stimulation of human* mesenchymal stem cells on biomineralized conducting polymers enhances their differentiation towards osteogenic outcomes. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2015. **3**: p. 8059-8064.
- 21. Pelto, J., Björninen, M., Pälli, A., et al., *Novel polypyrrole-coated polylactide scaffolds enhance adipose stem cell proliferation and early osteogenic differentiation*. Tissue Engineering Part A, 2013. **19**: p. 882-892.
- 22. Wang, Y., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., *PPy-coated PET fabrics and electric pulse-stimulated fibroblasts*. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2013. 1: p. 3789-3796.
- 23. Jing, W., Ao, Q., Wang, L., et al., *Constructing conductive conduit with conductive fibrous infilling for peripheral nerve regeneration*. Chemical Engineering Journal, 2018. **345**: p. 566-577.
- 24. Zhou, J.F., Wang, Y.G., Cheng, L., et al., *Preparation of polypyrrole-embedded electrospun poly (lactic acid) nanofibrous scaffolds for nerve tissue engineering*. Neural Regeneration Research, 2016. **11**: p. 1644.
- 25. Shu, B., Liu, X., Zhou, J., et al., *Polypyrrole/polylactic acid nanofibrous scaffold cotransplanted with bone marrow stromal cells promotes the functional recovery of spinal cord injury in rats.* CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics, 2019. **25**: p. 951-964.
- 26. Foo, C.Y., Huang, N.M., Lim, H.N., et al., *Hydrostatic bath synthesis of conductive polypyrrole/reduced graphene oxide aerogel as compression sensor*. European Polymer Journal, 2019. **117**: p. 227-235.
- Fu, X., Wang, J.K., Ramírez-Pérez, A.C., et al., *Flexible conducting polymer-based cellulose substrates for on-skin applications*. Materials Science and Engineering: C, 2020. 108: p. 110392.
- 28. Talikowska, M., Fu, X., and Lisak, G., *Application of conducting polymers to wound care and skin tissue engineering: A review.* Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 2019: p. 50-63.
- 29. Guo, B. and Ma, P.X., *Conducting polymers for tissue engineering*. Biomacromolecules, 2018. **19**: p. 1764-1782.
- 30. Mao, J., Li, C., Park, H.J., et al., *Conductive polymer waving in liquid nitrogen*. ACS Nano, 2017. **11**: p. 10409-10416.
- 31. Wang, C., Ding, Y., Yuan, Y., et al., *Multifunctional, highly flexible, free-Standing 3D* polypyrrole foam. Small, 2016. **12**: p. 4070-4076.
- 32. Smits, F.M., *Measurement of sheet resistivities with the four-point probe*. Bell System Technical Journal, 1958. **37**: p. 711-718.
- 33. Gorrasi, G. and Pantani, R., *Hydrolysis and biodegradation of poly (lactic acid).* in *Synthesis, Structure and Properties of Poly (lactic acid).* 2017, Springer. p. 119-151.
- 34. Barker, A.T., Jaffe, L.F., and Vanable Jr, J.W., *The glabrous epidermis of cavies contains a powerful battery*. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 1982. **242**: p. R358-R366.
- 35. Chiang, M., Robinson, K.R., and Vanable Jr, J.W., *Electrical fields in the vicinity of epithelial wounds in the isolated bovine eye.* Experimental Eye Research, 1992. **54**: p. 999-1003.
- 36. Schwan, H.P. and Kay, C.F., *Specific resistance of body tissues*. Circulation Research 1956.
 4: p. 664-670.

- 37. Tian, B. and Zerbi, G., *Lattice dynamics and vibrational spectra of polypyrrole*. The Journal of Chemical Physics, 1990. **92**: p. 3886-3891.
- 38. Ajjan, F.N., Jafari, M.J., Rębiś, T., et al., *Spectroelectrochemical investigation of redox states in a polypyrrole/lignin composite electrode material*. Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 2015. **3**: p. 12927-12937.
- 39. Ahmad, Z., Choudhary, M.A., Mehmood, A., et al., *Synthesis of polypyrrole nano/microspheres using cobalt(III) as an oxidizing agent and its ammonia sensing behavior*. Macromolecular Research, 2016. **24**: p. 596-601.
- 40. Murcia, J.J., Hidalgo, M.C., Navío, J.A., et al., *Correlation study between photodegradation and surface adsorption properties of phenol and methyl orange on TiO2 Vs platinum-supported TiO2*. Applied Catalysis B: Environmental, 2014. **150**: p. 107-115.

In the previous chapter, a conductive PPy cell culture scaffold was successfully prepared. Considering that EF plays certain role during wounding healing, in the following chapter, the PPy scaffold was used for the electrical stimulated cell culture.

Keratinocyte plays an important role throughout skin wound healing process. Based on the literature review, only a few studies have been reported about the interactions between keratinocytes and ES. Moreover, these studies focused on keratinocyte electrotaxis. Therefore, to know more about keratinocyte behaviours under ES is valuable. This chapter explores how ES interact with keratinocytes where PPy is used as the tool to deliver electrical signals.

Chapter 2: To investigate the interaction of electrical stimulation with human skin keratinocyte

Effects of electrical stimulation on human skin keratinocyte growth and the secretion of cytokines and growth factors

Shujun Cui ^{1,2,3}, Mahmoud Rouabhia ^{1,*}, Abdelhabib Semlali ¹ and Ze Zhang ^{2,3}

 ¹ Research Group on Oral Ecology, Faculty of Dentistry, Université Laval, Québec (QC), Canada. ² Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Université Laval, Québec (QC), Canada.
 ³ Division of Regenerative Medicine, Research Center of CHU-Université Laval, Québec (QC), Canada.

Biomed. Mater. 16 (2021) 065021

Résumé

La stimulation électrique (SE) a été largement explorée et s'est avérée efficace pour favoriser la cicatrisation des plaies. Cependant, le rôle de la SE sur les kératinocytes, un acteur majeur dans la cicatrisation des plaies, n'a pas été bien établi. L'objectif de cette étude est d'évaluer l'effet de la SE sur les comportements cellulaires et moléculaires des kératinocytes de la peau humaine. Des kératinocytes HaCaT ont été ensemencés sur une nouvelle membrane souple électriquement conductrice composée de PPy-PU/PLLA, puis exposés à différentes SE allant de 100 à 200 mV mm⁻¹ pendant 6 et 24 h. Nous avons évalué l'effet de la SE sur la prolifération cellulaire, la formation de colonies, la sécrétion de cytokines et de facteurs de croissance, la production de kératines, ainsi que l'activation des kinases ERK1/2. Les résultats ont montré que les cellules stimulées électriquement présentaient une capacité proliférative plus élevée et sécrétaient plus d'IL-6, IL-1a, IL-8, GROa, FGF2, et VEGF-A. Il est intéressant de noter que la SE de 24 heures a induit une "mémoire du stimulus" en montrant une augmentation significative de l'efficacité de formation de colonies jusqu'à 5 jours post stimulation. La production de kératine 1, 5, 13 et 14 a été augmentée par la SE. Enfin, l'ES a augmenté les kinases pERK1/2. Les résultats globaux ont démontré que la SE pourrait jouer un rôle important dans la cicatrisation en augmentant la prolifération des kératinocytes et en favorisant la sécrétion de plusieurs cytokines et facteurs de croissance.

Abstract

Electrical stimulation (ES) has been widely explored and found effective in promoting wound healing. However, the role of ES on keratinocytes, a major player in wound healing, has not been well established. The present work investigated the cellular and molecular behaviors of human skin keratinocytes being exposed to ES. HaCaT keratinocytes were seeded on a novel electrically conductive and soft PPy-PU/PLLA membrane and cultured under electrical intensities of 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 6 and 24 h. The factors assessed after ES include cell proliferation, colony formation, cytokines, keratins, as well as phosphorylated ERK1/2 (pERK1/2) kinases. The results showed that the electrically stimulated cells exhibited a higher proliferative ability and secreted more IL-6, IL-1a, IL-8, GROa, FGF2, and VEGF-A. Interestingly, the 24 h ES induced a "stimulus memory" by showing a significant rise in colony-forming efficiency in post-ES cells that were sub-cultured. Additionally, after stopping the 24 h ES, the productions of keratin 5 and keratin 14 were continuously increased for 3 d. The productions of keratin 10 and keratin 13 were significantly increased post the 6 h ES. Finally, the ES increased pERK1/2 kinases. The overall results demonstrated that the proliferation of keratinocytes and their secretion of cytokines and growth factors can be activated through appropriate ES to benefit skin wound healing.

2.1 Introduction

Skin is the body's first line of defense, and its integrity is important for survival. However, the capacity of skin wound healing diminishes with age and chronic diseases (*i.e.*, diabetes) ^{1, 2}. Indeed, skin cells around ulcer beds usually show abnormal proliferation and growth factor secretion, which compromise wound healing. Non-healing wounds such as diabetic foot ulcers represent a great challenge to patient care and a significant financial burden to the healthcare system ³. Thus, any improvement in wound healing efficiency is welcome, not only because it can shorten hospital stay, but also because it may salvage limbs in case of non-healing ulcers.

Wound healing is a complex physiological process, which is achieved through four overlapping phases, including hemostasis, inflammation, formation of new tissue (dermis and epidermis), and tissue remodeling⁴. Each phase relies on the cross-interactions of various cell types either directly or indirectly (through growth factors and cytokines). The participating cells include platelets, neutrophils, macrophages, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and keratinocytes. These cells are exposed or migrate to the wound site, proliferate, and secrete various mediators such as growth factors and chemokines. These mediators orchestrate cellular activities to accomplish wound healing ⁵. Such cellular activities are known to respond to electrical field (EF)⁶. EF was reported to play an overriding role in guiding cell migration during wound healing ⁷. Compared to normal skin wounds, diabetic skin or aged normal skin exhibits diminished EFs⁸. Inspired by this, exogenous EF has been considered an attractive tool and been explored to help wound healing. It was reported that ES could promote *in-vitro* fibroblast migration, proliferation, and differentiation ⁷. As the predominant cell type in the epidermis, keratinocytes actively participate in skin wound healing ⁹. During tissue formation and remodeling phases, keratinocytes proliferate and migrate (Figure 2.1) to repair the wound and restore the barrier function ^{10, 11}. Within the epidermis, keratinocytes are interconnected, forming different layers that constitute an efficient and a physically and chemically protective barrier ^{12, 13}. The basal layer consists of proliferating cells, while differentiated keratinocytes form the supra-basal layer. The keratinocytes in different layers express various keratin proteins (K) to form intermediate filaments that contribute to cell cohesion. Highly proliferative keratinocytes are located at

the basal layer of the epidermis. They express specific keratins such as K5, K14 and K19¹⁴, while supra-basal cells express keratins K1, K10 and K13¹⁵. Keratinocytes play multiple key roles in skin repair. They are actively involved in the re-epithelialization process through proliferation, migration, and differentiation (Figure 2.1), to restore the epidermal barrier ¹⁶, ¹⁷. During wound healing process, keratinocytes secrete different mediators (Figure 2.1), including growth factors, cytokines, and chemokines ¹⁸.



Figure 2.1 Schema summarizing the roles of keratinocytes in wound healing. Upon wound and formation of new connective tissues by fibroblasts (a), basal keratinocytes proliferate horizontally and migrate on the newly formed connective tissues to fill the wounded epidermis (b). To migrate, basal keratinocytes need to be detached from the basal membrane momentarily. Once the wound is covered horizontally, basal keratinocytes will differentiate to form the subsequent layers of the epidermis (c). Both (b) and (c) steps refer to reepithelialization. The re-epithelialization involves multiple cytokines and growth factors secreted mostly by fibroblasts and keratinocytes near the wound. K = keratin, BL = basal layer, SBL = supra-basal layer, CL = corneum layer, and GL = granular layer.

Interestingly, ES was found to influence keratinocyte migration and proliferation ¹⁹⁻²³. EF was reported interacting with different types of cells through multiple signaling pathways, including epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptors, mitogen-activated protein kinase, ERK, and Src ²⁴⁻²⁶. It has been shown that ES activated the TGFβ1/ERK/NF-κB signaling pathway in primary human skin fibroblasts ²⁷ and ERK1/2 and the p38 mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase pathways in primary human skin keratinocytes ²¹. The culture of primary human keratinocytes needs the use of feeder cells (irradiated 3T3 fibroblasts) to promote

keratinocytes growth and prevent their differentiation ²⁸. These feeder cells may have effect on keratinocytes when exposed to ES or other stimuli. This limitation could be solved by using HaCaT cell line.

HaCaT cell is a spontaneously immortalized nontumorigenic keratinocyte cell line generated from adult human skin. This cell line offers several advantages compared to primary human keratinocytes ²⁹. HaCaT cells can be maintained for a long-term growth without the use of feeder cells or specific growth factors, compared to primary human keratinocytes. HaCaT cells exhibit both the fundamental functions of the primary human keratinocytes and the stable plating efficiency, *i.e.*, steadily expressing specific proliferation (Keratins 5 and 14) and differentiation markers (Keratins 1 and 10) ³⁰. This work, therefore, used HaCaT cells to evaluate the effect of ES on keratinocyte behaviors.

ES can be delivered through conductive polymers (CPs)³¹. Owning to the unique electrical conductivity and biocompatibility, CPs provide an attractive option to deliver ES to cells or tissues. CPs can support cell grows on them, and at the same time electrically stimulate the cells with the EF applied to the CPs. This is an easy approach and can avoid the electrochemical reactions when using electrodes. Polypyrrole (PPy) has received a great interest in the field of ES and skin wound healing ³², as it exhibits the good electrical properties, excellent biocompatibility, and ease of synthesis. These properties endow PPy with the great potential and advantages in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine applications. However, PPy has some limitations because it is brittle, insoluble, and infusible. To solve such limitations, PPy can be mixed with polymers having sufficient rigidity, strength and ductility, *i.e.*, poly(L-lactide) (PLLA), polycaprolactone (PCL), polyurethane (PU), etc., to form a PPy-filled composite membrane ³³; or be coated on the polymeric textiles, *i.e.*, a polyethylene terephthalate (PET) fabric, to produce a PPy-coated conductive fabric ³⁴. These products as ES vehicles have been successfully used and showed positive outcomes. However, for the composite membrane, the supporting polymer sacrifices the conductivity significantly; for the surface coating, although the thin PPy layer can be as conductive as the pure PPy, the conductivity deteriorates rapidly once used in an aqueous environment due to dedoping. In this work, therefor, a novel soft PPy-PU/PLLA membrane was used. This membrane maintained the conductivity of a pure PPy membrane and at same time achieved an enhanced mechanical strength, making it a practical tool to deliver ES.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Soft PPy-PU/PLLA membrane and ES cell culture device

The pure PPy membranes were synthesized through a template-assisted interfacial polymerization technique ³⁵. Briefly, pyrrole monomers (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) were distilled and then dissolved in chloroform (reagent grade, Fisher Chemicals, Ottawa, Canada) to form solution A. Ferric chloride (Sigma Aldrich) as the oxidant and methyl orange (Sigma-Aldrich) as the template were dissolved in deionized water to form solution B. Solution A was firstly added into a beaker, on top of which solution B was slowly added. The beaker was kept at -4 °C till a PPy membrane was formed at the chloroform/water interface. The membrane was carefully collected and thoroughly washed to remove impurities. After drying, a circular soft PPy membrane about 15 cm in diameter and 200 \Box m in thickness was obtained. The thickness was measured under 19.76 kPa using a MTG-DX2 digital gauge (Rex Gauge Company, Buffalo Grove, IL, USA).

To increase the handling property of the fragile PPy membrane, PU Tecoflex 80A (Lubrizol, Avon Lake, OH, USA) and PLLA (Hycail, Turku, Finland) fibres were sequentially electrospun onto the bubble side of the PPy membrane ³⁶ as described below.

The PU and PLLA solutions of 15 wt% were separately prepared by adding solid polymer pellets to CHCl₃, and then stirred at room temperature overnight. A volume of 1.5 mL of the polymer solution was then fed into a syringe that was then loaded to a handheld electrospinning device. Fibres were spun through a 25-gauge needle to cover 241 cm² of PPy surface (*i.e.*, 0.93 mg cm⁻²) at a feeding rate of about 2.25 mL h⁻¹ under a directed current (DC) voltage about 9 kV at 25 °C and 65% humidity. The bubble side of the PPy membranes was used as the collector, which was 25 cm away from the needle. The PU fibers were firstly spun, followed by the PLLA fibers. The fiber reinforced PPy membrane was then placed in an oven at 40 °C overnight to evaporate CHCl₃.³⁶ The membranes were thoroughly washed, dried, and then cut into specimens of 7.0 × 2.5 cm² in size. These specimens were assembled at the bottom of our home-made multi-well ES cell culture plates, then sterilized with ethylene oxide gas (Anprolene AN2000, Anderson products Inc., Haw Drive, NC, USA) at room temperature before use. The two ends of the rectangular membrane specimens extended

to the outside of the culture wells were connected to a waveform generator and a real-time monitoring device (Keithley 2700, Cleveland, OH, USA).

2.2.2 Keratinocyte culture

HaCaT cells (Cedarlane CELLutions Biosystems, Burlington, Canada) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum in 75 cm² flasks in a humidified incubator at 37 °C with 5% CO₂. Once the cultures reached 80% confluence, the cells were detached from the flasks using 0.05% trypsin and used to investigate the effect of ES, as summarized in the schema below (Figure 2.2). Cell culture medium was changed every 2 d.



Figure 2.2 Schematic diagram of the ES set up. The PPy-PLLA/PU membranes (7 cm \times 2.5 cm each) were fixed in a 4-well cell culture plate (between the cell culture well and the base plate) using screws, with two ends out of the cell culture well to connect with the electrical circuit.

2.2.3 HaCaT cell viability and growth following ES

Prior to cell seeding, the membranes in the ES cell culture plates were incubated firstly in PBS for a day and then in DMEM overnight. Thereafter, 3 ml of HaCaT cell suspension was seeded onto the membrane at a density of 5×10^4 cells cm². After 24 h culturing, the media

were refreshed, and the PPy-PU/PLLA membranes were supplied with a constant DC potential of either 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 6 and 24 h. In such a way, the keratinocytes on the surface of the membranes were exposed to the specific EF. The selected ES intensities were shown to be non-toxic to human skin fibroblasts ³⁷. They were within the physiological range (40–180 mV mm⁻¹) of endogenous EF ^{24, 38}. After exposure to ES, the cells were further cultured for 24 h prior to analysis. Control groups followed the same conditions without exposure to ES. Cell viability was measured using the MTS (methyl thiazolyl tetrazolium salt) colorimetric assay (ab197010, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom). Each experiment was repeated minimally three times.

2.2.4 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity

Following HaCaT cell exposure to ES and culture for an additional 24 h, the supernatants were collected, centrifuged to remove debris, then subjected to a LDH cytotoxicity assay (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). Briefly, 50 μ l of each culture medium were transferred to a flat-bottom 96-well plate in the presence of 50 μ l of reconstituted substrate mix. The mixture was incubated in the dark at room temperature for 30 min. To stop the reaction, an acid solution (50 μ l) was added to the well. The absorbance of the wells was read at 490 nm with an X-Mark microplate spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON, Canada). As a positive control, keratinocytes were incubated in the presence of 1% Triton X-100 to induce 100% cell death. Negative control was obtained by culturing keratinocytes under normal cell growth conditions.

2.2.5 ES effect on colony formation

Colony-forming efficiency (CFE) was used to study the growth potential of the ES-treated HaCaT cells ³⁹. Briefly, 24 h after ES, HaCaT cells were detached from the PPy-PU/PLLA membrane using 0.25% trypsin, and 3×10^4 cells collected from each ES condition were seeded in a 6 well tissue culture plate. After 6-day of incubation at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ and with the medium refreshed every 48 h, the cultures were fixed in paraformaldehyde and stained with crystal violet. The colonies with five cells and more were counted under an optical microscope. Control groups without ES were cultured and treated following the same procedure. CFE was expressed as a percentage of the counted colonies to the total number of

plated cells. The results were presented in the form of a comparison between the control and ES groups, with the control group being considered 100%.

2.2.6 Release of IL-1a, IL-6, IL-8, GROa, FGF2, and VEGF-A

After ES and the additional 24 h culture, cell culture supernatants were collected, filtered through 0.22 μ m filters, and then used for cytokine array analysis. The cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors in the supernatants were detected using a MILLIPLEX Human Cytokine/Chemokine 71 plex kit (Millipore, St. Charles, MO, USA). The multiplexing analysis was performed using the LuminexTM 100 system (Eve Technologies Corp., Calgary, Canada). According to the manufacturer, assay sensitivities range from 0.1 to 9.5 pg mL⁻¹. Each experiment was repeated four times and the means ± SD were calculated.

2.2.7 Western blot analysis of keratin production

HaCaT cells (5×10^5 cells cm²) were cultured, electrically stimulated, and further cultured for 24 h as previously described. When finish, cells were trypsinized from the PPy-PU/PLLA membrane and re-cultured in a flask. After 60 h culture, cells were collected from the flask and lysed in a lysis buffer (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with an anti-phosphatase cocktail III (Sigma-Aldrich). Concentrations of the extracted proteins were quantified through the Bradford assay. Equal amounts of total protein (20 - 40 µg) in a reducing buffer (61.5 mM Tris, 100 mM dithiothreitol (DTT), 2% lauryl sodium sulfate (SDS), 10% glycerol) were boiled for 5 min and separated through SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis using a 10% polyacrylamide gel. The proteins were then transferred to the PVDF membranes using a refrigerated Tris-glycine transfer buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 100 µM Na₃VO₄, and 20% methanol) for 1 h at 100 V. The PVDF membranes were incubated overnight with the primary antibodies against K5 (ab52635, Abcam), K14 (ab7800, Abcam), K10 (ab76318, Abcam), and K13 (sc-390982, Santa Cruz, CA, USA). The membranes were then washed and incubated for 1 h with the appropriate peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies. Detection was performed using the VersaDoc 5000MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), and photographs were taken and analyzed with the Quantity One software (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA).

2.2.8 MAP kinase signalling pathways

To assess the contribution of MAP kinases to the ES-mediated HaCaT growth, cells were cultured for 24 h on the PPy-PU/PLLA membrane, then preincubated for 45 min with and without 10 μ M of inhibitors to ERK (PD98059, InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) prior to ES exposure for 6 or 24h. After the ES exposure regime, total proteins were extracted and separated through SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis using a 12% polyacrylamide gel as described above. The proteins were subjected to Western blot analyses using both total (4377S, NEB, MA, USA) and phosph-ERK1/2 antibodies (4695S, NEB).

2.2.9 Statistical analysis

Data was presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) of at least three experiments. The statistical significance of the differences between the control and the test values was determined by one-way analysis of variance. Posteriori comparisons were performed using Tukey's method. *P* values were declared significant at < 0.05. The data were analyzed using the SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics 19) and GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software).

2.3 Results



2.3.1 ES promoted HaCaT viability and proliferation

Figure 2.3 Electrical stimulation (ES) through PPy-PU/PLLA membrane promoted HaCaT viability/growth and the long-term growth and colony formation. Cells were seeded onto the conductive PPy-PU/PLLA membrane for 24 h and subjected to a 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ ES for 6 and 24 h. (a) Cell viability and proliferation were measured by MTS (n = 4), (b) Cell

cytotoxicity was measured by the LDH (n = 4) assays, (c) the electrically stimulated cells were collected and plated in 6 well plate and cultured for 6 d, the colonies were counted under an optical microscope to calculate CFE (n = 8). Data are presented as means \pm SD. Significance was determined by comparing the control values with those obtained after ES. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.001.

Keratinocytes were cultured onto a conductive PPy-PU/PLLA membrane that was produced and characterized previously ³⁶. The viability/proliferation of HaCaT was significantly promoted by the ES at either 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ for both 6 and 24 h, in comparison with the controls (No ES), as shown in Figure 2.3(a). Moreover, cell viability/proliferation increased with the increase in ES intensity (from 100 to 200 mV mm⁻¹). Besides, a similar tendency was also observed when the ES exposure increased from 6 to 24 h. It also appears that the exposure to 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 24 h was more effective on keratinocyte growth, as indicated by the steeper slops of the dash lines in both Figure 2.3. These results indicate that all four combinations of the ES parameters could accelerate the proliferation of HaCaT cells. In addition, the cell cytotoxicity was measured using the LDH assay, as shown in Figure 2.3(b). It shows no significant effect of ES on LDH activity, either in intensity or in duration.





Figure 2.4 ES has no adverse effect on keratinocyte morphology. Keratinocytes were exposed to ES for 6 or 24 h. They were then detached from the conductive membrane, seeded in tissue culture plate, and cultured for 6 d. The cells were then stained with crystal violet, observed under an optical microscope, and photographed. Representative photos, n = 4.

The long-term effect of ES on HaCaT cells is also a critical indicator, which was investigated by observing the clone formation of the ES-exposed HaCaT cells for 6-day post-ES (Figure 2.3(c)). There is no significant difference in CFE between the 100 and 200 mV mm⁻¹ ES for both 6 and 24 h exposures. There is also no significant difference between the control and the ES groups when the stimulation was 6 h. However, the CFE of the ES groups at both intensities displayed a significant ($p \le 0.01$) increase with respect to the control groups when the duration of ES reached 24 h (Figure 2.3(c)). The cell morphology of the cells after exposure to ES for 6 and 24 h was comparable to those non-exposed cells. Indeed, keratinocytes showed small size with a cuboidal form and small nucleus and cytoplasm volumes (Figure 2.4).

2.3.3 Effect on the levels of IL-6, IL-8, IL-1a, GROa, FGF2, and VEGF-A

As shown in Figure 2.5(a), the interleukin 6 (IL-6) secretion increased significantly under all four ES conditions than the controls. In particular, the increase was about 12%-14% of the controls after 6 h ES, and about 20% to 24% after 24 h ES. It was also noted that the two ES intensities did not cause any significant difference. Finally, the levels of IL-6 in all 24 h groups, including control are significantly higher than that in the 6 h groups.

Figure 2.5(b) shows significantly higher IL-8 levels in the four ES groups except in the 6 $hr/200 \text{ mV mm}^{-1}$ group, as compared to the controls. All other three ES groups recorded a 24%-28% increase vs. controls. Interestingly, at 200 mV mm⁻¹, the secretion of IL-8 showed a latent period, with a slight but non-significant increase following the 6 h ES.

Figure 2.5(c) shows significant increases in IL-1 α in all ES groups compared to the controls. Moreover, the variations caused by different ES intensities and stimulation periods are also significant. Specifically, the level of IL-1 α increased 30% after 6 h at 100 mV mm⁻¹, 51% after 6 h at 200 mV mm⁻¹, 35% after 24 h at 100 mV mm⁻¹, and 10% after 24 h at 200 mV mm⁻¹. The secretion of IL-1 \Box increased with the increase in ES intensity when the stimulation time was 6 h. For a longer stimulation time, the secretion was lower at high intensity.

There was a significant increase in the level of GRO α for all ES groups (Figure 2.5(d)). The percent increases are 86% and 121% for the 6 h stimulation at 100 and 200 mV mm⁻¹,

respectively. For the 24 h stimulation, the increases are 91% at 100 mV mm⁻¹ and 106% at 200 mV mm⁻¹. Again, for the short time stimulation, the two ES intensities resulted in a significant difference.

Figure 2.5(e) shows that the secretion of FGF2 was significantly increased in all ES groups vs. controls, ranging from 31% to 73%. The significant increase of FGF2 by ES was obtained at 6 h, while at 24 h there was no significant difference compared with the control.



Figure 2.5 ES increased the secretion of (a) epidermal IL-6, (b) interleukin 8 (IL-8), (c) interleukin 1 alpha (IL-1 α), (d) chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1 (CXCL1 or GRO α), (e) epidermal basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF2), and (f) vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) by HaCaT. After the exposure of the cells to ES at 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 6 and 24 h, the supernatants were collected, and the IL-1 α , IL-6, IL-8, GRO α , FGF2, VEGF-A levels were measured by cytokine array assay. Significance was determined by comparing the control values with those obtained after ES, n = 4. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.001.

The increase in VEGF-A is shown in Figure 2.5(f). ES significantly upregulated the level of VEGF-A in all stimulated groups. Compared to the 24 h stimulation, the 6 h stimulation demonstrated a higher efficiency, resulting in a 66% increase at 100 mV mm⁻¹ and a 52% increase at 200 mV mm⁻¹. The corresponding values for the 24 h stimulation are 28% and 19%. The two ES intensities did not cause any significant difference.



2.3.4 Effect on keratin production

Figure 2.6 A 6 h ES increased the production of keratin 5 (K5) and keratin 14 (K14) by HaCaTs. Cells were exposed/not exposed to 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 6 and 24 h. K5 and K14 protein productions were evaluated by Western blot. The values of the scanned bands are presented. Significance was determined by comparing the control values and those obtained after ES, n = 4. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.



Figure 2.7 ES differentially stimulated the production of keratin 10 (K10) and keratin 13 (K13) by HaCaTs. Cells were exposed/not exposed to 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 6 and 24 h. K10 and K13 protein productions were evaluated by Western blot. The values of the scanned bands are presented. Significance was determined by comparing the control values and those obtained after ES, n = 4. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

The production of K5, K10, K13 and K14 with respect to β -actin was shown in Figure 2.6 and Figure 2.7. It can be seen from Figure 2.6(a) that the 6 h ES significantly increased the

secretion of K5 and K14 by about 50%. The difference in ES intensity did not have any impact on the other hand. However, for the 24 h stimulation, there is little effect on Keratin 5 (K5) production. In fact, slight decreases in K14 were found after 24 h ES (Figure 2.6(d)).

Figure 2.7(a) and (c) showed that both K10 and K13 productions were significantly increased when the keratinocytes were exposed to a 6 h ES, but at different intensities. The increase in K10 was obtained with 200 mV mm⁻¹ ES; but the increase in K13 was obtained with 100 mV mm⁻¹ ES. For the 24 h ES, as showed by Figure 2.5(b) and (d), the production of K10 was significantly increased with 100 mV mm⁻¹ ES, while there was a significant decline in K13 production after the 100 mV mm⁻¹ ES.

2.3.5 Signalling molecules

As shown in Figure 2.8, the exposure to ES for 6 h increased phosphorylated ERK1/2 (pERK1/2) production compared to the controls. The pERK1/2 increase was greater at 200 mV mm⁻¹ as compared to the 100 mV mm⁻¹. Meanwhile, the presence of the ERK1/2 inhibitor effectively inhibited the production of pERK1/2 at both ES intensities. This suggests that the effect of ES on keratinocytes involves pERK1/2 MAP kinase signaling pathway.



Figure 2.8 Production of the phosphorylated ERK1/2 (pERK1/2) in keratinocytes exposed to electrical stimulation. Cells were pre-incubated or not with ERK inhibitor (PD98059) for 45 min, then exposed or not to 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹ for 6 h. Proteins were collected to analyze total and pERK1/2 by Western blot.

2.4 Discussion

It is well known that keratinocytes have a pivotal role in re-epithelialization during the wound healing process. This involves keratinocyte migration and proliferation to cover the wound bed ⁴. Multiple stimuli such as EF were reported to promote keratinocyte migration contributing to wound healing ²². This is supported by our study showing that ES at 100 and 200 mV mm⁻¹ was cytocompatible promoting the proliferation of HaCaT cells. The proliferation of keratinocytes goes through the formation of colonies ⁴⁰. Colony-formation is a well-recognized indicator of the number of cells having relatively high proliferative potential and reflects the proliferative potential of a single cell under a given set of culture conditions. This study demonstrated that the ES promoted the formation of keratinocyte colonies. Compared with controls, the high adhesion/growth activities were maintained for 6-day for the cells that were stimulated for 24 h at either 100 or 200 mV mm⁻¹. However, for those only stimulated for 6 h, such acquired extra cell proliferation/adhesion abilities disappeared in the 6-day colony formation experiment. These results might indicate that the "growth memory" in HaCaT cells can be established after 24 h ES. Further studies are needed to demonstrate whether keratinocytes would keep such a growth memory with a longer ES time. The famous experiments that Ivan Pavlov conducted with his dogs well demonstrated that behaviors established by an external stimulus could be memorized in an animal ⁴¹. And it was reported that human memory was enhanced after ES to brain cells ⁴². So, this study opens a new scene of ES effects on skin wound healing. Indeed, it would be interesting to evaluate the effect of ES on HaCat cell migration after scratch (an in vitro wound healing model). However, with our non-transparent conductive PPy-PU/PLLA membranes, we cannot perform such an experiment for the moment.

In keratinocytes, different cytoskeleton proteins such as keratins play significant roles in epidermis mechanical integrity. They promote and maintain cell proliferation ^{14, 43}. Among the numerous keratins, K5 and K14 are strongly expressed by highly proliferative keratinocytes, and their production is downregulated as cells differentiate. Because we demonstrated that exposure to ES increased the production of K5 and K14, this supported the idea that ES can contribute to keratinocyte proliferation and by doing so can play a significant role in the wound healing process as previously suggested ²¹. Skin keratinocytes are also

producers of other keratins such as K1, K4, K10, K13. These proteins are more expressed in differentiated keratinocytes and are major constituents of the intermediate filament cytoskeleton in supra-basal epidermis ⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷. Because we demonstrated that ES increased the production of K10 and K13, this may suggest the implication of ES in keratinocyte differentiation contributing to the formation of epidermal cell layers ⁴⁸.

As keratinocytes are the first to encounter external stimuli when skin injury happens, they initiate the immune response by increasing the production of various inflammatory mediators ⁴⁹. Keratinocytes are the source of multiple mediators, including IL-1a, IL-8, IL-6 and GROa that are the key cytokines implicated in keratinocyte immune responses. Among them, IL-1a is a key pro-inflammatory mediator that can mediate keratinocyte proliferation by stimulating fibroblasts to secrete cytokines inducing keratinocyte division ⁵⁰. IL-6 was reported to promote inflammatory response during the inflammation phase but induce fibroblast migration and keratinocyte proliferation and migration in the proliferation phase ⁵¹. IL-8 not only promotes inflammation but also plays an anti-inflammatory role during wound healing. Besides, IL-8 is a mitogen for keratinocytes and supports angiogenesis ^{52, 53}. Like IL-8, it has been shown that GRO α also contributes to wound re-epithelization ⁵⁴. Overall, we demonstrated that the ES protocols used in this work could upregulate the secretion of IL-1 α , IL-6, IL-8, and GRO α . As these cytokines were reported to play active roles in keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation, which was also supported by the colony formation experiment in this work, these ES protocols may be used to accelerate tissue reepithelialization.

Keratinocytes also secrete a variety of growth factors, including FGF2 and VEGF-A. These factors play crucial roles throughout the wound healing process ⁵⁵. We demonstrated that ES increased the secretion of FGF2 and VEGF-A by keratinocytes. FGF2 and VEGF-A are essential to support cell growth and wound healing. FGF2 activates fibroblast migration, while VEGF-A plays an important pro-angiogenic role ^{56, 57}. Consequently, the increase in FGF2 and VEGF-A reported in this study suggests the active role of ES in wound healing.

Given the above findings, we investigated the signaling pathway that may link the ES with the observed cellular activities. ERK1/2 has been well known for its crucial role in regulating cell cycle, proliferation, and development ^{58, 59}. From the increased production level of the

phosphorylated ERK1/2 after ES, it is reasonable to suggest that the ES activated the ERK1/2 pathway leading to the activation of the keratinocytes and the production of different keratins and mediators. This, however, does not exclude the possibility that other signaling pathways may also have been activated by ES.

Finally, it is worth pointing out that ES as a tool can differentially regulate cellular activities. It not only can upregulate but also can down-regulate the secretion of important proteins. For example, K10 was upregulated by 24 ES at both intensities, but K13 was down-regulated by the same conditions. This is about differential regulation. Further study is required to explore this line of inquiry.

2.5 Conclusions

This study, for the first time, explored the effect of ES on HaCaT keratinocytes through a flexible electrically conductive PPy-PU/PLLA membrane. It revealed the immediate effect on the secretion of key mediators of inflammation and wound healing and the long-term benefit in promoting keratinocyte colony formation. We also demonstrated that keratinocytes differentially reacted to the particular combinations of the ES parameters. Finally, we revealed that the ERK1/2 signaling pathway was involved in the electrical activation of the keratinocytes. This work, therefore, demonstrated that the ES protocols used in this study may contribute to tissue re-epithelialization and accelerate wound healing.

Data availability statement

All data that support the findings of this study are included within the article (and any supplementary files).

Acknowledgments

The advice and technical assistance of Hyun Jin Park, Humidah Alanazi, and Amine Belmadani are highly appreciated.

Authors' Contributions

Conceptualization: Z Z and M R; Funding Acquisition; Z Z and M R; Investigation: S C, Z

Z, M R and A S; Methodology: S C, M R and A S; Project Administration: Z Z and M R; Writing—Original Draft Preparation: S C and M R; Writing—Review and Editing: Z Z, M R and A S.

Funding

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Project Grant 148523. The first author acknowledges the studentships from the Centre de Recherche sur les Systèmes Polymères et Composites à Haute Performance (CREPEC) and by la Fondation du CHU de Québec.

Conflicts of interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. Gould, L., Abadir, P., Brem, H., et al., *Chronic wound repair and healing in older adults: current status and future research*. Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2015. **23**: p. 1-13.
- 2. Kinn, P.M., Holdren, G.O., Westermeyer, B.A., et al., *Age-dependent variation in cytokines, chemokines, and biologic analytes rinsed from the surface of healthy human skin.* Scientific Reports, 2015. **5**: p. 1-8.
- 3. Enoch, S. and Price, P., *Cellular, molecular and biochemical differences in the pathophysiology of healing between acute wounds, chronic wounds and wounds in the aged.* World Wide Wounds, 2004. **13**: p. 1-17.
- 4. Canedo-Dorantes, L. and Canedo-Ayala, M., *Skin acute wound healing: a comprehensive review*. International Journal of Inflammation 2019. **2019**: p. 3706315.
- 5. Sorg, H., Tilkorn, D.J., Hager, S., et al., *Skin wound healing: an update on the current knowledge and concepts.* European Surgical Research, 2017. **58**: p. 81-94.
- 6. Ashrafi, M., Alonso-Rasgado, T., Baguneid, M., et al., *The efficacy of electrical stimulation in experimentally induced cutaneous wounds in animals*. Veterinary Dermatology, 2016. **27**: p. 235-e57.
- 7. Zhao, M., *Electrical fields in wound healing an overriding signal that directs cell migration*. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 2009. **20**: p. 674-682.
- 8. Tyler, S.E., *Nature's electric potential: a systematic review of the role of bioelectricity in wound healing and regenerative processes in animals, humans, and plants.* Frontiers in Physiology, 2017. **8**: p. 627.
- 9. Fuchs, E., *Epithelial skin biology: three decades of developmental biology, a hundred questions answered and a thousand new ones to address.* Current Topics in Developmental Biology 2016. **116**: p. 357-374.
- 10. Kiatsurayanon, C., Ogawa, H., and Niyonsaba, F., *The role of host defense peptide* human β -defensins in the maintenance of skin barriers. Current Pharmaceutical Design, 2018. **24**: p. 1092-1099.
- 11. Pastar, I., Stojadinovic, O., Yin, N.C., et al., *Epithelialization in wound healing: a comprehensive review*. Advances in Wound Care, 2014. **3**: p. 445-464.
- 12. Presland, R.B. and Dale, B.A., *Epithelial structural proteins of the skin and oral cavity: function in health and disease.* Critical Reviews in Oral Biology & Medicine, 2000. **11**: p. 383-408.
- 13. Rouabhia, M. and Allaire, P., *Gingival mucosa regeneration in athymic mice using in vitro engineered human oral mucosa*. Biomaterials, 2010. **31**: p. 5798-5804.
- 14. Alam, H., Sehgal, L., Kundu, S.T., et al., *Novel function of keratins 5 and 14 in proliferation and differentiation of stratified epithelial cells*. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 2011. **22**: p. 4068-4078.
- 15. Simpson, C.L., Patel, D.M., and Green, K.J., *Deconstructing the skin:* cytoarchitectural determinants of epidermal morphogenesis. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2011. **12**: p. 565-580.
- 16. Egawa, G. and Kabashima, K., *Barrier dysfunction in the skin allergy*. Allergology International, 2018. **67**: p. 3-11.
- 17. Leung, D.Y., Berdyshev, E., and Goleva, E., *Cutaneous barrier dysfunction in allergic diseases*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2020. **145**: p. 1485-1497.
- 18. Rousselle, P., Braye, F., and Dayan, G., Re-epithelialization of adult skin wounds:

Cellular mechanisms and therapeutic strategies. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2019. **146**: p. 344-365.

- 19. Ji, R., Teng, M., Zhang, Z., et al., *Electric field down-regulates CD9 to promote keratinocytes migration through AMPK pathway*. International Journal of Medical Sciences, 2020. **17**: p. 865.
- 20. Hsiao, P.F., Anbazhagan, R., Tsai, H.C., et al., *Fabrication of electroactive polypyrrole-tungsten disulfide nanocomposite for enhanced in vivo drug release in mice skin.* Materials Science and Engineering: C, 2020. **107**: p. 110330.
- 21. Rouabhia, M., Park, H.J., Abedin-Do, A., et al., *Electrical stimulation promotes the proliferation of human keratinocytes, increases the production of keratin 5 and 14, and increases the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and p38 MAP kinases.* Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, 2020. **14**: p. 909-919.
- 22. Zajdel, T.J., Shim, G., Wang, L., et al., *SCHEEPDOG: programming electric cues to dynamically herd large-scale cell migration*. Cell Systems, 2020. **10**: p. 506-514
- 23. Ren, X., Sun, H., Liu, J., et al., *Keratinocyte electrotaxis induced by physiological pulsed direct current electric fields*. Bioelectrochemistry, 2019. **127**: p. 113-124.
- 24. Zhao, M., Song, B., Pu, J., et al., *Electrical signals control wound healing through phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase-y and PTEN*. Nature, 2006. **442**: p. 457-460.
- 25. Zhao, M., Pu, J., Forrester, J.V., et al., *Membrane lipids, EGF receptors, and intracellular signals colocalize and are polarized in epithelial cells moving directionally in a physiological electric field.* Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 2002. **16**: p. 857-859.
- 26. Fang, K.S., Ionides, E., Oster, G., et al., *Epidermal growth factor receptor relocalization and kinase activity are necessary for directional migration of keratinocytes in DC electric fields*. Journal of Cell Science, 1999. **112**: p. 1967-1978.
- 27. Wang, Y., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., *Pulsed electrical stimulation benefits wound healing by activating skin fibroblasts through the TGFbeta1/ERK/NF-kappaB axis.* Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects, 2016. **1860**: p. 1551-1559.
- 28. Rheinwatd, J.G. and Green, H., Seria cultivation of strains of human epidemal keratinocytes: the formation keratinizin colonies from single cell is. Cell, 1975. 6: p. 331-343.
- 29. Boukamp, P., Petrussevska, R.T., Breitkreutz, D., et al., *Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploid human keratinocyte cell line*. The Journal of Cell Biology, 1988. **106**: p. 761-771.
- 30. Colombo, I., Sangiovanni, E., Maggio, R., et al., *HaCaT cells as a reliable in vitro differentiation model to dissect the inflammatory/repair response of human keratinocytes.* Mediators of Inflammation, 2017. **2017**: p. 1-12.
- 31. Sharma, S., Sudhakara, P., Omran, A.A.B., et al., *Recent trends and developments in conducting polymer nanocomposites for multifunctional applications*. Polymers, 2021. **13**: p. 2898.
- 32. Talikowska, M., Fu, X., and Lisak, G., *Application of conducting polymers to wound care and skin tissue engineering: A review*. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 2019. **135**: p. 50-63.
- 33. Shi, G., Rouabhia, M., Wang, Z., et al., *A novel electrically conductive and biodegradable composite made of polypyrrole nanoparticles and polylactide.* Biomaterials, 2004. **25**: p. 2477-2488.
- 34. Wang, Y., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., PPy-coated PET fabrics and electric pulse-

stimulated fibroblasts. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2013. 1: p. 3789-3796.

- 35. Mao, J., Li, C., Park, H.J., et al., *Conductive polymer waving in liquid nitrogen*. ACS Nano, 2017. **11**: p. 10409-10416.
- 36. Cui, S., Mao, J., Rouabhia, M., et al., *A biocompatible polypyrrole membrane for biomedical applications*. RSC Advances, 2021. **11**: p. 16996-17006.
- 37. Rouabhia, M., Park, H., Meng, S., et al., *Electrical stimulation promotes wound healing by enhancing dermal fibroblast activity and promoting myofibroblast transdifferentiation*. PLoS One, 2013. **8**: p. e71660.
- 38. Nishimura, K.Y., Isseroff, R.R., and Nuccitelli, R., *Human keratinocytes migrate to the negative pole in direct current electric fields comparable to those measured in mammalian wounds.* Journal of Cell Science, 1996. **109**: p. 199-207.
- 39. Wong, C.W., LeGrand, C.F., Kinnear, B.F., et al., *In vitro expansion of keratinocytes on human dermal fibroblast-derived matrix retains their stem-like characteristics*. Scientific Reports, 2019. **9**: p. 1-17.
- 40. Rochat, A., Kobayashi, K., and Barrandon, Y., *Location of stem cells of human hair follicles by clonal analysis*. Cell, 1994. **76**: p. 1063-1073.
- 41. Pavlov, P.I., *Conditioned reflexes: an investigation of the physiological activity of the cerebral cortex.* Annals of Neurosciences, 1927. **17**: p. 136.
- 42. Inman, C.S., Manns, J.R., Bijanki, K.R., et al., *Direct electrical stimulation of the amygdala enhances declarative memory in humans*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2018. **115**: p. 98-103.
- 43. Ramms, L., Fabris, G., Windoffer, R., Schwarz, N., et al., *Keratins as the main component for the mechanical integrity of keratinocytes*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2013. **110**: p. 18513-18518.
- 44. Reichelt, J., Bauer, C., Porter, R., et al., *Out of balance: consequences of a partial keratin 10 knockout.* Journal of Cell Science, 1997. **110**: p. 2175-2186.
- 45. Hatta, M., Miyake, Y., Uchida, K., et al., *Keratin 13 gene is epigenetically suppressed* during transforming growth factor- β 1-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in a human keratinocyte cell line. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 2018. **496**: p. 381-386.
- 46. Moravcova, M., Libra, A., Dvorakova, J., et al., *Modulation of keratin 1, 10 and involucrin expression as part of the complex response of the human keratinocyte cell line HaCaT to ultraviolet radiation*. Interdisciplinary Toxicology, 2013. **6**: p. 203-208.
- 47. Bragulla, H.H. and Homberger, D.G., *Structure and functions of keratin proteins in simple, stratified, keratinized and cornified epithelia*. Journal of Anatomy, 2009. **214**: p. 516-559.
- 48. Gutowska-Owsiak, D., Podobas, E.I., Eggeling, C., et al., *Addressing differentiation in live human keratinocytes by assessment of membrane packing order*. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 2020. **8**: p. 1078.
- 49. Albanesi, C., Madonna, S., Gisondi, P., et al., *The interplay between keratinocytes and immune cells in the pathogenesis of psoriasis*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. **9**: p. 1549.
- 50. MacLeod, A.S. and Mansbridge, J.N., *The innate immune system in acute and chronic wounds*. Advances in Wound Care, 2016. **5**: p. 65-78.
- 51. Johnson, B.Z., Stevenson, A.W., Prele, C.M., et al., *The role of IL-6 in skin fibrosis and cutaneous wound healing*. Biomedicines, 2020. **8**: p. 101.
- 52. Qazi, B.S., Tang, K., and Qazi, A., *Recent advances in underlying pathologies provide*
insight into interleukin-8 expression-mediated inflammation and angiogenesis. International Journal of Inflammation, 2011. **2011**: p. 908468.

- 53. Rennekampff, H.O., Hansbrough, J.F., Kiessig, V., et al., *Bioactive interleukin-8 is expressed in wounds and enhances wound healing*. The Journal of Surgical Research, 2000. **93**: p. 41-54.
- 54. Rees, P.A., Greaves, N.S., Baguneid, M., et al., *Chemokines in wound healing and as potential therapeutic targets for reducing cutaneous scarring*. Advances in Wound Care, 2015. **4**: p. 687-703.
- 55. Jiang, Y., Tsoi, L.C., Billi, A.C., et al., *Cytokinocytes: the diverse contribution of keratinocytes to immune responses in skin.* JCI Insight, 2020. **5**: p. e142067.
- 56. Song, Y.H., Zhu, Y.T., Ding, J., et al., *Distribution of fibroblast growth factors and their roles in skin fibroblast cell migration*. Molecular Medicine Reports, 2016. **14**: p. 3336-3342.
- 57. Johnson, K.E. and Wilgus, T.A., *Vascular endothelial growth factor and angiogenesis in the regulation of cutaneous wound repair*. Advances in Wound Care, 2014. **3**: p. 647-661.
- 58. Kim, J., Shin, Y.K., and Kim, K.Y., *Promotion of keratinocyte proliferation by tracheloside through ERK1/2 stimulation*. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2018. **2018**: p. 4580627.
- 59. Zou, J., Lei, T., Guo, P., et al., *Mechanisms shaping the role of ERK1/2 in cellular senescence*. Molecular Medicine Reports, 2019. **19**: p. 759-770.

General discussion, conclusions and perspectives

3.1 General discussion and conclusions

ES can assist wound healing. However, the research on the fundamental mechanisms of cellular response to ES has fallen behind, which has hindered the full exploitation of the clinical potential of ES. On the other hand, newly developed intrinsically conductive polymers can make ES more efficient. But the poor handling and mechanical properties limited their applications. This thesis firstly aims to prepare a PPy membrane that can be practically used and so fill the gap between a lab material and the material that can be used in medical devices, and secondly aims to understand how ES influences skin keratinocytes in the context of wound healing, which can help to fill the gap between fundamental science and clinical research. So, in this thesis, the author studied the cellular and molecular response of keratinocytes, which is the principal cell type of the epidermis, to the ES that was delivered through a PLLA/PU fiber-reinforced pure PPy membrane. In the material aspect, the author prepared a conductive polymer membrane that can be easily handled, and established an ES protocol specifically optimized for this type of conductive substrate. In the biological aspect, the author cultured the keratinocytes on the conductive membrane and studied the cell viability under ES, including cell growth/death. The author further evaluated the cellular response to ES from the molecular perspective by investigating the key growth factors, proteins, and signaling pathways. The methodologies used in this thesis comprise polymer chemistry, material engineering, and cellular and molecular biology, highlighting the multidisciplinary characteristics of this thesis. The results filled to some degree the asmentioned gaps. Further studies both on material and cell biology may lead to a new ESassisted therapy to treat skin wounds.

3.1.1 About research question and objectives

Cells create transmembrane potentials by pumping ions in and pushing ions out through various ion channels and maintaining a negative potential inside the cells in a resting state. This transmembrane potential allows a cell to function as a battery to supply energy to the membrane-embedded "molecular devices" ³³⁰. The asymmetrical distribution of ion channels in apical and basolateral cell membranes in epithelial tissue sets up a transepithelial potential (TEP) ³³. For example, in the skin, negative potentials at the outer corneum with respect to the inner basal epidermis were recorded, which allows the skin to function as a battery that

supplies energy to skin cells. When damage occurs in the skin, a lateral electrical potential gradient is established between the wound area and the adjacent intact tissue, and this wound-induced endogenous electrical current declines with the restoration of the wound tissue ¹⁷⁵. It has been suggested that the skin's ability to heal itself partly depends on this natural wound current ³³¹⁻³³³, because it can attract cells to migrate to the wound center. It is estimated that the average healing rate decreases by 25% without this current ³³. In addition, the injury EFs in normal skin of the 65 to 80-year-olds were measured to be 48% lower than that of the 18 to 25-year-olds ³³⁴. The wound of diabetic skin and other recalcitrant wounds also have a diminished EF and the associated wound current, which could be a factor contributing to the prolonged or impaired wound healing in these patents ²⁰⁸. The underlying exact mechanism of how cells interact with this endogenous EF is very complex and remain largely unclear. Some hypotheses were proposed, explaining that the cellular components can reorganize in response to the electrical force. For example, positively charged proteins or lipids may be attracted to cathode ^{56, 335}.

In this context, it is possible that wound healing can be boosted by enhancing the EF around the wound bed. In fact, externally applied ES has shown positive outcomes in animal models and *in vitro* experiments on human cells/tissues ^{21, 261, 279, 280, 328}. According to these studies, ES increased epithelialization, fibroblast migration, and angiogenesis around wounds. The therapeutic use of ES in clinical trials in wound management demonstrated a larger reduction in wound size and an increased healing rate when compared with control groups ^{280, 333}. The clinical effectiveness of ES in accelerating chronic wound healing also has been reported ³³⁶. However, due to the insufficient understanding on the fundamental mechanisms of cellular response to ES, it is difficult to recommend any optimal ES protocol as a standard treatment based on the current knowledge. At present, ES is only recommended as adjunctive therapy to treat chronic pressure ulcers in Australia, New Zealand, and the United States; and ES is not recommended to be used in regular practice in the UK ³³⁶. Hence, to fully explore the clinical potential of ES, further research is required to ascertain the underlying mechanisms that mediate ES and cellular/tissue changes.

To apply ES, electrodes made of metals (silver, copper, nickel, titanium) have often been used in clinic ^{21, 337}. Conductive polymers (CPs), which were developed in the 1970s and have been investigated as biomaterials only in recent 20 years, are still the materials used in

lab studies. These CPs are very attractive for the ES application because they combine the ability to conduct electricity with the polymeric nature, making them very attractive as the bioactive materials in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine ^{31, 302}.

For a biomaterial, the stiffness and surface topography play important roles in cell adhesion, migration, proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis ³³⁸⁻³⁴¹. Materials with tissue-like stiffness can reduce the mechanical mismatch between scaffold and tissues or cells, increasing interface communication and reducing scar formation ³⁴². Typically, a smooth surface is not good for cell adhesion. For example, studies have shown that polymer-coated platinum (Pt) had an improved cell adherence than bare Pt. Moreover, compared with metals, a polymer surface can be chemically modified with physiologically active species to enhance the biocompatibility and functionality, which gives polymers more possibilities in regulating cellular behaviors. The stiffness of various tissues of the human body varies a lot, from a few pascals (Pa) for the brain to dozens of kilopascals (kPa) for the skin and mega-pascals (MPa) for the bone. Keratinocytes have a stiffness of 120 - 340 kPa ³⁴³, while fibroblasts 1 - 5 kPa. Therefore, the PPy membrane prepared in our lab, with 100 - 200 kPa in stiffness ³⁴⁴, should have better tissue compatibility compared with metals (stiffness in MPa level) for skin-related applications.

CPs have a broad and tunable conductivity, from 10^{-10} S cm⁻¹ to 10^3 S cm⁻¹, ranging from insulators to semiconductors and to conductors, depending upon the polymerization method, type of dopant, doping level, etc. Metals are good conductors, usually in the range of 10^5 S cm⁻¹ ³⁴⁵. Human skin has a conductivity from 2.6×10^{-3} S cm⁻¹ to 1×10^{-7} mS cm⁻¹ ³⁴⁶, which overlaps with that of CPs.

To summarize, considering CPs' biocompatibility (support cell adhesion ³⁴⁷, help cell growth ³⁴⁸ and reduce the inflammation ³⁴⁹) and electrical compatibility (similar to tissues, low electric current under a required electric potential), it is more advantageous to use CPs than to use metals as the conductive biomaterials.

Among CPs, PPy, polyaniline (PANI), and poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) (PEDOT) are the most promising ones for biomedical applications. The investigations on PEDOT are relatively more recent compared to those on PPy and PANI. The main challenge of using PANI for biomedical applications is its poor cytocompatibility, poor processability, and lack of flexibility. PPy has excellent *in vitro* and *in vivo* biocompatibility, very good chemical stability, reasonably high conductivity under physiological conditions, and facileness in synthesis and surface modification ^{305, 348, 350}. Since the early 1990s, PPy has been substantially studied as a cell growth substrate in various *in vitro* cell culture models. There has been a significant effort focusing on the preparation of PPy for practical applications, such as surface grafting PPy on a PLA/PET substrate or embedding PPy nanoparticles in a PLA/CL matrix. The in vivo biocompatibility of these conductive composites also has already been tested ^{24, 313, 351}.

Our research group has been working on PPy for more than 20 years. Recently a free-standing soft PPy membrane was successfully developed in our lab ^{329, 352, 353}, which breaks down the technical barrier of making large-sized flexible CPs membranes. If cells are cultured on a pure CP scaffold, when ES is applied, all the cells will be uniformly affected by the EF, making ES more efficient.

Therefore, it makes a lot of sense to use the pure PPy membrane as an ES-enabled wound dressing. However, this pure PPy membrane breaks easily and must be reinforced beforehand. Secondly, exploring the cellular and molecular behaviors of skin cells under ES still requires major efforts. This thesis contributed to both material development and biological discovery.

3.1.2 About methods and results

This thesis includes two parts. In the material engineering part (Chapter 1), the aim is to reinforce the pure PPy membrane for ES applications. Electrospun polymer fibers were chosen to reinforce it. Material tests include mechanical, handling, chemical, electrical, and cytotoxicity analysis. The PU/PLLA fiber-reinforced PPy membrane can be handled easily and has good cytocompatibility, and at the same time maintains the conductivity of the pure PPy membrane. In the cell biology part (Chapter 2), the aim is to broaden the boundaries of knowledge on keratinocyte-EF interactions. HaCaT cells were cultured on the reinforced PPy membrane. ES intensities of 100 and 200 mV mm⁻¹ and during 6 and 24 h were chosen to stimulate the cells. Evaluations include cell viability/growth, growth factor/cytokine release, and protein production. Positive outcomes had been obtained. The effect of ES on cells was found "memorized" by daughter cells. Finally, a signaling pathway that mediated the EF-keratinocyte interaction was identified.

3.1.2.1 PLLA/PU reinforced PPy membrane



Figure 3.1 Diagram showing various defects in the structure of PPy ³⁵⁴.

It is well known that the application of a polymer is restricted by its physical properties, while the physical properties of a polymer depend on the hierarchical organization of the structures from single molecular to multi-molecular levels. PPy is obtained via condensation reactions among the monomers of the five-membered heterocycle pyrrole with the simultaneous incorporation of counterions ^{355, 356}. So, an ideal PPy molecule is an array of monomers joined exclusively by α , α' bonds, forming a linear PPy chain with the planar rings at *trans* positions. The ideal charge transport mechanism is through bipolarons, in which two cations transport between every six or eight rings, corresponding to the doping ratios 0.33 and 0.25 respectively ³⁵⁷. However, the PPy polymers obtained so far in practice are all structurally disordered. Previous studies have proved that PPy contains several types of defects (Figure 3.1) ^{354, 355, 358}, which cause a deviation from chain linearity and planarity, leading to structure disorder. The major source of the defect is the coupling through the β position of pyrrole. The presence of β bonds in addition to the α , α' bonds results in polymer branching and crosslinking. Besides, overoxidation of PPy is an inevitable consequence during PPy chain growth in a nucleophile medium such as water or by contacting air, because the oxidation potential of PPy is lower than that of pyrrole ³⁵⁹. In addition, in the traditional chemical oxidation of pyrrole, the polymerization rate slows down as the reactants become depleted in the system, leading to a heterogeneous distribution of the thickness of the PPy ³⁰³, which is another defect. So the PPy obtained through chemical polymerization is usually in the form of black powder.

These defects have a significant influence on the properties of PPy. The loss of linearity has important consequences for the structural organization between chains and doping anions. For the PPy with ideal linearity, the hopping of bipolarons along the chain is more effective than hopping along the branched chains. Disorder in PPy leads to other hopping mechanisms at higher organization levels, which is not known at the microscopic level ^{355, 357}. Crosslinks also make the polymer insoluble. It was demonstrated that 100 - 1000 pyrrole units were the upper limit of the average conjugation length ³⁰⁵. In fact, PPy is a mixture of molecular chains of very different lengths, particularly in the presence of the β , \Box bonds, with the shorter ones being insoluble because of the crosslinks. It should be pointed out that much of our knowledge about the PPy structure is obtained from indirect measurements because it is difficult to find a solvent to yield single crystals, and little information has been obtained from X-ray diffraction studies ³⁵⁷. Because PPy is sensitive to synthesis conditions, when polymerization parameters such as dopant selection change, the PPy structure also changes.

Given the highly conjugated molecular backbone and the highly disordered molecular structure, the polymer chains of PPy are locked into place through the interlocking network, making plastic flow difficult ³⁴⁰. Therefore, PPy is mechanically brittle, rigid, and difficult to use alone. Although more homogeneous PPy can be formed through electrochemical oxidation of pyrrole, it is still very hard to eliminate the chemical and structural defects to produce highly ordered PPy. In addition, because PPy is insoluble and thermoset, it is therefore impossible to eliminate the structural defects through after-synthesis modifications. When a force or a displacement is applied to a PPy film, stress concentration occurs easily in the defected areas, and crack propagation will follow until the bulk fracture.

The free-standing and soft PPy membrane synthesized through the template assisted - interfacial polymerization is a breakthrough 329 . This membrane has a homogeneous thickness of around 0.7 µm and can be synthesized in large size, which has not been possible

via any other polymerization methods. However, this membrane still has a poor handling property because of the very low stress and strain at failure.

To improve the tensile strength of the PPy membrane and at the same time not to lose its electrical conductivity, by choosing electrospinning as the fabrication method, a multilayer fibrous reinforcement made of the elastic polyurethane fibres (low Young's modulus but large tensile strain) overlaid with the plastic PLLA fibres (high Young's modulus and tensile strength) was spun to the PPy membrane to prevent the PPy membrane from overstretching.

Electrospinning is an old technique. It, among other fiber fabrication techniques, has become particularly attractive for the manufacture of tissue engineering scaffolds because of the ease to use, the vast possibility in material selection, and the potential to scale up. An electrospinning system simply constitutes a high voltage power supply, a spinneret, and a fiber collector. During an electrospinning process, solvent evaporates, and ultrafine fibers are collected. Almost any soluble polymers with a sufficiently high molecular weight can be electrospun. A variety of polymers have already been successfully electrospun into ultrafine fibers using this technique, including PU and PLLA. Electrospun fibrous mats exhibit good mechanical properties, and have been used as protective textiles, wound dressing materials, drug delivery carriers, etc ³⁶⁰.

Besides the electrospinnability, PU is a synthetic polymer with the urethane groups as the major repeating units. The urethane groups produce strong intermolecular bonds that make PUs useful in applications such as adhesives and coatings. PLLA is a highly crystalline aliphatic polyester and is susceptible to degradation through hydrolysis. Both PU and PLLA have excellent biocompatibility, outstanding mechanical properties and have been used in medical implants ³⁶¹⁻³⁶³.

PPy membrane is electrically conductive, and that makes it a perfect collector in the electrospun system. The ultimate PU/PLLA reinforced PPy membrane still keeps its biocompatibility and conductivity.

For a cell culture substrate, it is necessary to eliminate all cytotoxic remnants. There are two major sources of the cytotoxic remnants for the PPy-PU/PLLA membrane, *i.e.*, the residual monomers, oligomers, and solvents used in PPy synthesis, and the residual solvents used in

electrospinning. They must be thoroughly removed prior to cell culture since several reports have demonstrated that the poor cell interactions with PPy were due to the missing of the washing step for their polymers before use ³⁵⁶. The toxic leachable impeded the cell attachment ³⁶⁴. This work shows that the thoroughly washed PPy-PU/PLLA membranes can be manipulated easily and exhibit good cytocompatibility. The decreased doping ratio and the slightly decreased stiffness are expectable because high doping ratio leads to high conjugation between pyrrole rings (so planar chains) and consequently higher stiffness ^{312, 357}. Therefore, there was a decrease in backbone stiffness upon de-doping during the washing step. Nevertheless, the long-term electrical conductivity in the culture medium can still meet the requirement of ES. This PU/PLLA reinforced PPy membrane provides us a useful tool for both the fundamental research on cell-EF interactions and the translational research such as ES-assisted wound dressing.

3.1.2.2 ES to keratinocytes

ES is known to affect cells, providing a potential therapeutic approach in the treatment of diseases ¹⁷⁸. There is a growing interest in ES-assisted wound treatment ³³, by which cells sense the EF and orient their migration along its direction. Both animal and clinical studies have shown improvement in the healing of skin wounds treated with ES ^{280, 333, 336}. Due to the complexity of wound healing and the limitations of the ES devices, research on the fundamental mechanisms of cellular response to ES has fallen behind its applications. This work provides an option: a pure conductive polymer membrane-based ES device, through which the cells in contact with the membrane can directly and uniformly interact with the EF, making the study on cell-EF interactions easier.

Keratinocytes are the predominant cells in the epidermis ¹²⁸. During wound healing, keratinocytes guide the re-epithelialization. Besides, by secreting important cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors, keratinocytes indirectly participate in other events such as pro-and anti-inflammation, ECM remodeling, etc. Keratinocytes also communicate with other cells such as fibroblasts, macrophages, neutrophils, blood cells, etc., which are essential for wound healing progress ¹⁸³. In addition, keratinocytes are sensitive to ES. Previous studies have shown their electrotaxis ¹⁸. However, the current knowledge is far from enough to

understand the interactions between keratinocytes and ES. Therefore, investigating keratinocyte-ES interactions can have significant implications in helping wound healing.

This work chose HaCaT cells, an immortal keratinocyte cell line from adult human skin that has been widely used for skin biology studies ³⁶⁵. The advantages of HaCaT cells over primary keratinocytes are that using HaCaT cells eliminates the variability between donors and passages. HaCaT cells have a relatively long culture lifetime, making the experimental data reliable and easy to interpret. At the same time, HaCaT cells show similar proliferation and differentiation properties as the primary keratinocytes do. What's more, HaCaT cells can survive without a feeding layer of fibroblasts, providing a scenario to investigate the keratinocytes' response to ES without the inference of other cells. Since endogenous DC EF plays an important role in wound healing, this work still chose a DC mode of ES. The ES intensity and duration were decided by referring to the strength of the endogenous EF and the parameters in previous ES studies ^{33, 58, 114}. Previous studies about keratinocytes largely focused on cells' instantaneous response to ES, mostly about electrotaxis showing that keratinocytes migrate toward the cathode, and some about cell surface receptors (*i.e.*, EGFR, VEGFR, GPCR, purinergic receptor), ion channels and exchangers (i.e., KCNJ15/Kir4.2, EnaC, NHE1), and the intracellular signaling pathways (*i.e.*, ERK, PI(3)K/PTEN) governing the electrotaxis 63, 73, 277, 366-370.

Keratinocyte migration is vital to close a wound, while its proliferation and differentiation are crucial to re-establish the epidermis 371 . Therefore, this thesis investigated both the instantaneous and the lasting effects of ES on keratinocyte behaviors, focusing on cell proliferation and the secretion of growth factors and cytokines. The outcomes demonstrate that ES can promote keratinocyte proliferation, which can be passed to later generations. The secretion of IL-6, IL-8, IL-1 α , GRO α , FGF2, and VEGF-A, which are the important mediators for inflammation during wound healing, can be enhanced by ES. It was also demonstrated that keratinocytes responded differentially to the different sets of ES parameters, evidenced by the production of K5/K14 and K10/K13 proteins that are the important markers for keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation, respectively. Finally, our studies revealed that the ERK signaling pathway was involved in the electrical activation of keratinocytes.

From the data of this thesis, a general picture of how keratinocytes interact with ES, from cellular to molecular levels, from immediate to long-term effects, from cell growth to tissue architecture, has been generated. Therefore, this work enriched our knowledge about cellular response to ES's fundamental mechanism and provided the ES protocols that may contribute to tissue re-epithelialization and benefit wound healing.

3.2 Limitations and perspectives

In this study, a novel soft and easy to handle pure PPy membrane was prepared and validated as a cell culture scaffold and as a tool to deliver ES. The PPy-PU/PLLA membrane designed here gives researchers a choice to investigate the mechanisms of how ES activates cells or tissues more efficiently. This membrane may also be used in an ES-assisted wound dressing in clinic. The interactions between keratinocytes and EF reported in this thesis broadened the foundational knowledge and provided a protocol to be optimized before being tested in animal models or in patients. However, there are still a lot of limitations in this study. Firstly, the PPy-PU/PLLA membrane still needs to be handled with care to avoid damage to the membrane. For example, when cells are cultured on the membrane, a scratch assay can't be conducted because it will damage the membrane. Therefore, in the future, studies could be carried out to improve the intrinsic mechanical property of PPy, *i.e.*, to eliminate or reduce the structural defects during PPy synthesis, to control how PPy chains are packed, etc. These studies will be very challenging but highly rewarding as well. Secondly, while ES can be harnessed to manipulate keratinocytes, the knowledge about ES-keratinocyte interactions is still far from fully understood. In clinical practice, the variations between individuals can't be ignored, *i.e.*, the wound-induced EFs are very different in youth and elder, in chronic wound and in trauma. In future, in vitro studies need to be conducted on the cells from different kinds of skin to establish different ES protocols. And different ES modes could be tried to optimize the ES protocol because a long time DC-ES may produce side effects. Thirdly, wound healing is complex in itself. So far, although a great progress has been made, there is still much to be learned. Finally, both in biomedical research and in clinical applications, there is still a lot to be done. A better understanding of the molecular mechanisms will inspire the development of new ES-based treatments.

References

- 1. Adams, D.S., *What is bioelectricity*? Bioelectricity, 2019. 1: p. 3-4.
- 2. Schwan, H.P., *Electrical properties of tissue and cell suspensions*. Advances in Biological and Medical Physics, 1957. **5**: p. 147-209.
- 3. Adams, D.S. and Levin, M., *Bioelectricity*, in *Ahead of the Curve*, *Hidden Breakthroughs in the Biosciences*. 2018, IOP Science. p. 3-91.
- 4. Schwan, H.P., *Electrical properties of cells: principles, some recent results, and some unresolved problems*, in *The Biophysical Approach to Excitable Systems*. 1981, Springer. p. 3-24.
- 5. *Electrical activity of cells, tissues and organs*. Available from: https://www.wikilectures.eu/w/Electrical_activity_of_cells,_tissues_and_organs#:~: text=Electrical%20activity%20is%20the%20study,entire%20organs%20like%20the %20heart.
- 6. Mazzanti, M., Bustamante, J.O., and Oberleithner, H., *Electrical dimension of the nuclear envelope*. Physiological Reviews, 2001. **81**: p. 1-19.
- 7. Tseng, A. and Levin, M., *Cracking the bioelectric code: probing endogenous ionic controls of pattern formation*. Communicative & Integrative Biology, 2013. **6**: p. 192-200.
- Levin, M., Molecular bioelectricity: how endogenous voltage potentials control cell behavior and instruct pattern regulation in vivo. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 2014.
 25: p. 3835-3850.
- 9. Levin, M., Pezzulo, G., and Finkelstein, J.M., *Endogenous bioelectric signaling networks: exploiting voltage gradients for control of growth and form.* Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering, 2017. **19**: p. 353-387.
- Barnett, M.W. and Larkman, P.M., *The action potential*. Practical Neurology, 2007.
 7: p. 192-197.
- 11. DeFelice, L.J., *Bioelectricity*, in *Electrical Properties of Cells*. 1997, Springer Science & Business Media. p. 49-121.
- 12. Abdul Kadir, L., Stacey, M., and Barrett-Jolley, R., *Emerging roles of the membrane potential: Action beyond the action potential.* Frontiers in Physiology, 2018. **9**: p. 1661.
- 13. Yang, M. and Brackenbury, W.J., *Membrane potential and cancer progression*. Frontiers in Physiology, 2013. 4: p. 185.
- 14. Palacios-Prado, N. and Bukauskas, F.F., *Heterotypic gap junction channels as voltage-sensitive valves for intercellular signaling*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2009. **106**: p. 14855-14860.
- 15. Mathews, J. and Levin, M., *Gap junctional signaling in pattern regulation: Physiological network connectivity instructs growth and form.* Developmental Neurobiology, 2017. **77**: p. 643-673.
- 16. McCormick, D.A., *Membrane potential and action potential*, in *From Molecules to Networks*. 2014, Academic Press. p. 351-376.
- 17. Chrysafides, S.M., Bordes, S., and Sharma, S., *Physiology, resting potential.* 2019: StatPearls.
- 18. Reid, B. and Zhao, M., *The electrical response to injury: molecular mechanisms and wound healing*. Advances in Wound Care, 2014. **3**: p. 184-201.
- 19. Luxardi, G., Reid, B., Maillard, P., et al., Single cell wound generates electric current

circuit and cell membrane potential variations that requires calcium influx. Integrative Biology, 2014. **6**: p. 662-672.

- 20. Harris, M.P., *Bioelectric signaling as a unique regulator of development and regeneration*. Development, 2021. **148**: p. dev180794.
- 21. Chen, C., Bai, X., Ding, Y., et al., *Electrical stimulation as a novel tool for regulating cell behavior in tissue engineering*. Biomaterials Research, 2019. **23**: p. 1-12.
- 22. Xiong, G.M., Do, A.T., Wang, J.K., et al., *Development of a miniaturized stimulation device for electrical stimulation of cells*. Journal of Biological Engineering, 2015. 9: p. 1-10.
- 23. Shi, G.X., Zhang, Z., and Rouabhia, M., *The regulation of cell functions electrically using biodegradable polypyrrole-polylactide conductors*. Biomaterials, 2008. **29**: p. 3792-3798.
- 24. Wang, Y., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., *PPy-coated PET fabrics and electric pulse-stimulated fibroblasts*. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2013. **1**: p. 3789-3796.
- 25. Manoukian, O.S., Stratton, S., Arul, M.R., et al., *Polymeric ionically conductive composite matrices and electrical stimulation strategies for nerve regeneration: In vitro characterization.* Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials, 2019. **107**: p. 1792-1805.
- Da Silva, L.P., Kundu, S.C., Reis, R.L., et al., *Electric phenomenon: a disregarded tool in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine*. Trends in Biotechnology, 2020. 38: p. 24-49.
- 27. Zhao, S.W., Tseng, P., Grasman, J., et al., *Programmable hydrogel ionic circuits for biologically matched electronic interfaces*. Advanced Materials, 2018. **30**: p. 1800598.
- 28. Bocharova, V. and Sokolov, A.P., *Perspectives for polymer electrolytes: a view from fundamentals of ionic conductivity.* Macromolecules, 2020. **53**: p. 4141-4157.
- 29. Zhao, S., Mehta, A.S., and Zhao, M., *Biomedical applications of electrical stimulation*. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2020. 77: p. 2681-2699.
- Leppik, L., Bhavsar, M.B., Oliveira, K.M.C., et al., Construction and Use of an Electrical Stimulation Chamber for Enhancing Osteogenic Differentiation in Mesenchymal Stem/Stromal Cells In Vitro. Journal of Visualized Experiments, 2019: p. e59127.
- 31. Ferrigno, B., Bordett, R., Duraisamy, N., et al., *Bioactive polymeric materials and electrical stimulation strategies for musculoskeletal tissue repair and regeneration.* Bioactive Materials, 2020. **5**: p. 468-485.
- 32. Guo, B. and Ma, P.X., *Conducting polymers for tissue engineering*. Biomacromolecules, 2018. **19**: p. 1764-1782.
- 33. Nuccitelli, R., *A role for endogenous electric fields in wound healing*. Current Topics in Developmental Biology, 2003. **58**: p. 1-26.
- 34. Radisic, M., Park, H., Shing, H., et al., *Functional assembly of engineered myocardium by electrical stimulation of cardiac myocytes cultured on scaffolds.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2004. **101**: p. 18129-18134.
- 35. Tzoneva, R., *Influence of electric field on cell behavior. Electrotreatment of cells for biomedical applications.* Asian Journal of Physics, 2014. **23**: p. 789-814.
- 36. Hammerick, K.E., Longaker, M.T., and Prinz, F.B., *In vitro effects of direct current electric fields on adipose-derived stromal cells*. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 2010. **397**: p. 12-17.
- 37. Shao, S., Zhou, S., Li, L., et al., Osteoblast function on electrically conductive

electrospun PLA/MWCNTs nanofibers. Biomaterials, 2011. 32: p. 2821-33.

- 38. Li, Y., Huang, G., Zhang, X., et al., *Engineering cell alignment in vitro*. Biotechnology Advances, 2014. **32**: p. 347-365.
- 39. Banks, T.A., Luckman, P.S., Frith, J.E., et al., *Effects of electric fields on human mesenchymal stem cell behaviour and morphology using a novel multichannel device.* Integrative Biology, 2015. 7: p. 693-712.
- 40. Ganji, Y., Li, Q., Quabius, E.S., et al., *Cardiomyocyte behavior on biodegradable polyurethane/gold nanocomposite scaffolds under electrical stimulation*. Materials Science and Engineering: C, 2016. **59**: p. 10-18.
- 41. Ko, U.H., Park, S., Bang, H., et al., *Promotion of myogenic maturation by timely application of electric field along the topographical alignment*. Tissue Engineering Part A, 2018. **24**: p. 752-760.
- 42. Sroka, J., Zimolag, E., Lasota, S., et al., *Electrotaxis: cell directional movement in electric fields*, in *Cell Migration*. 2018, Humana Press. p. 325-340.
- 43. Zhao, Z., Qin, L., Reid, B., et al., *Directing migration of endothelial progenitor cells with applied DC electric fields*. Stem Cell Research, 2012. **8**: p. 38-48.
- 44. Guo, A., Song, B., Reid, B., et al., *Effects of physiological electric fields on migration of human dermal fibroblasts.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2010. **130**: p. 2320-2327.
- 45. Zhao, Z., Watt, C., Karystinou, A., et al., *Directed migration of human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in a physiological direct current electric field*. European Cells and Materials, 2011. **22**: p. 344-358.
- 46. Feng, J.F., Liu, J., Zhang, X.Z., et al., *Guided migration of neural stem cells derived from human embryonic stem cells by an electric field*. Stem Cells, 2012. **30**: p. 349-355.
- 47. Forciniti, L., Ybarra, J., Zaman, M.H., et al., *Schwann cell response on polypyrrole substrates upon electrical stimulation*. Acta Biomaterialia, 2014. **10**: p. 2423-2433.
- 48. Yao, L., Li, Y., Knapp, J., et al., *Exploration of molecular pathways mediating electric field-directed Schwann cell migration by RNA-seq.* Journal of Cellular Physiology, 2015. **230**: p. 1515-1524.
- 49. Hayashi, H., Edin, F., Li, H., et al., *The effect of pulsed electric fields on the electrotactic migration of human neural progenitor cells through the involvement of intracellular calcium signaling.* Brain Research, 2016. **1652**: p. 195-203.
- 50. Hoare, J.I., Rajnicek, A.M., McCaig, C.D., et al., *Electric fields are novel determinants of human macrophage functions*. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 2016. **99**: p. 1141-1151.
- 51. Kumar, A., Nune, K.C., and Misra, R.D., *Electric field-mediated growth of osteoblasts the significant impact of dynamic flow of medium.* Biomaterials Science, 2016. **4**: p. 136-144.
- 52. Canillas, M., Moreno, B., Chinarro, E., et al., *TiO₂ surfaces support neuron growth during electric field stimulation*. Materials Science and Engineering: C, 2017. **79**: p. 1-8.
- 53. Kapeller, B., Mueller, J., Losert, U., et al., *Microcurrent stimulation promotes reverse remodelling in cardiomyocytes*. ESC Heart Fail, 2016. **3**: p. 122-130.
- 54. Wang, Y., Cui, H., Wu, Z., et al., *Modulation of osteogenesis in MC3T3-E1 cells by different frequency electrical stimulation*. PLoS One, 2016. **11**: p. e0154924.
- 55. Sordini, L., Garrudo, F.F.F., Rodrigues, C.A.V., et al., *Effect of electrical stimulation*

conditions on neural stem cells differentiation on cross-linked PEDOT: PSS films. Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology, 2021. 9: p. 591838.

- 56. Liu, Q. and Song, B., *Electric field regulated signaling pathways*. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 2014. **55**: p. 264-268.
- 57. Artemenko, Y., Axiotakis Jr, L., Borleis, J., et al., *Chemical and mechanical stimuli act on common signal transduction and cytoskeletal networks*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2018. **113**: p. E7500-E7509.
- 58. Zhao, M., Song, B., Pu, J., et al., *Electrical signals control wound healing through phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase-y and PTEN*. Nature, 2006. **442**: p. 457-460.
- 59. Huang, C.W., Chen, H.Y., Yen, M.H., et al., *Gene expression of human lung cancer cell line CL1–5 in response to a direct current electric field.* PloS one, 2011. **6**: p. e25928.
- 60. Rajnicek, A.M., Foubister, L.E., and McCaig, C.D., *Temporally and spatially coordinated roles for Rho, Rac, Cdc42 and their effectors in growth cone guidance by a physiological electric field.* Journal of Cell Science, 2006. **119**: p. 1723-1735.
- 61. Widlak, W., Cell signaling pathway, in Molecular Biology Not Only for Bioinformaticians. 2013, Springer. p. 121-138.
- 62. Geng, L., Wang, Z., Cui, C., et al., *Rapid electrical stimulation increased cardiac apoptosis through disturbance of calcium homeostasis and mitochondrial dysfunction in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes.* Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry, 2018. **47**: p. 1167-1180.
- 63. Tai, G., Tai, M., and Zhao, M., *Electrically stimulated cell migration and its contribution to wound healing*. Burns & Trauma, 2018. **6**: p. 1-7.
- 64. Babona-Pilipos, R., Liu, N., Pritchard-Oh, A., et al., *Calcium influx differentially regulates migration velocity and directedness in response to electric field application.* Experimental Cell Research, 2018. **368**: p. 202-214.
- 65. Zhao, H., Steiger, A., Nohner, M., et al., Specific intensity direct current (DC) electric field improves neural stem cell migration and enhances differentiation towards βIII-Tubulin+ Neurons. PLoS One, 2015. 10: p. e0129625.
- 66. McLaughlin, K.A. and Levin, M., *Bioelectric signaling in regeneration: mechanisms* of ionic controls of growth and form. Developmental Biology, 2018. **433**: p. 177-189.
- 67. Zhao, M., Pu, J., Forrester, J.V., et al., *Membrane lipids, EGF receptors, and intracellular signals colocalize and are polarized in epithelial cells moving directionally in a physiological electric field.* Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 2002. **16**: p. 857-859.
- 68. Fang, K.S., Ionides, E., Oster, G., et al., *Epidermal growth factor receptor relocalization and kinase activity are necessary for directional migration of keratinocytes in DC electric fields.* Journal of Cell Science, 1999. **112**: p. 1967-1978.
- 69. Guo, L., Li, H., Wang, Y., et al., *Controlling ERK activation dynamics in mammary epithelial cells with alternating electric fields through microelectrodes.* Nano Letters, 2019. **19**: p. 7526-7533.
- 70. Hernandez-Bule, M.L., Paino, C.L., Trillo, M.A., et al., *Electric stimulation at 448 kHz promotes proliferation of human mesenchymal stem cells*. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry, 2014. **34**: p. 1741-1755.
- 71. Meng, X., Arocena, M., Penninger, J., et al., *PI3K mediated electrotaxis of embryonic and adult neural progenitor cells in the presence of growth factors.* Experimental Neurology, 2011. **227**: p. 210-7.

- 72. Wang, Y., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., *Pulsed electrical stimulation benefits wound healing by activating skin fibroblasts through the TGFbeta1/ERK/NF-kappaB axis.* Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects, 2016. **1860**: p. 1551-1559.
- 73. Zhao, M., Bai, H., Wang, E., et al., *Electrical stimulation directly induces preangiogenic responses in vascular endothelial cells by signaling through VEGF receptors.* Journal of Cell Science, 2004. **117**: p. 397-405.
- Ross, C.L., *The use of electric, magnetic, and electromagnetic field for directed cell migration and adhesion in regenerative medicine.* Biotechnology Progress, 2017. 33: p. 5-16.
- 75. Zohar, B., Blinder, Y., Mooney, D.J., et al., *Flow-induced vascular network formation and maturation in three-dimensional engineered tissue*. ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering, 2018. **4**: p. 1265-1271.
- 76. Tehovnik, E.J., *Electrical stimulation of neural tissue to evoke behavioral responses*. Journal of Neuroscience Methods, 1996. **65**: p. 1-17.
- 77. Brocker, D.T. and Grill, W.M., *Principles of electrical stimulation of neural tissue*. Handbook of Clinical Neurology, 2013. **116**: p. 3-18.
- 78. Gunter, C., Delbeke, J., and Ortiz-Catalan, M., *Safety of long-term electrical peripheral nerve stimulation: review of the state of the art.* Journal of Neuroengineering and Rehabilitation, 2019. **16**: p. 13.
- 79. Akiyama, Y., Nakayama, A., Nakano, S., et al., *An electrical stimulation culture system for daily maintenance-free muscle tissue production.* Cyborg and Bionic Systems, 2021. **2021**: p. 1-12.
- 80. Kim, H., Kim, M.C., and Asada, H.H., *Extracellular matrix remodelling induced by alternating electrical and mechanical stimulations increases the contraction of engineered skeletal muscle tissues.* Scientific Reports, 2019. **9**: p. 1-11.
- 81. Villanueva, P., Pereira, S., Olmo, A., et al., *Electrical pulse stimulation of skeletal myoblasts cell cultures with simulated action potentials.* Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, 2019. **13**: p. 1265-1269.
- 82. Tandon, N., Cannizzaro, C., Chao, P.H., et al., *Electrical stimulation systems for cardiac tissue engineering*. Nature Protocols, 2009. **4**: p. 155-173.
- 83. Chan, Y.C., Ting, S., Lee, Y.K., et al., *Electrical stimulation promotes maturation of cardiomyocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells*. Journal of Cardiovascular Translational Research, 2013. **6**: p. 989-999.
- 84. Hernandez, D., Millard, R., Sivakumaran, P., et al., *Electrical stimulation promotes* cardiac differentiation of human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells International, 2016. **2016**: p. 1718041.
- 85. Meng, S., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., *Electrical stimulation modulates osteoblast proliferation and bone protein production through heparin-bioactivated conductive scaffolds.* Bioelectromagnetics, 2013. **34**: p. 189-199.
- 86. Meng, S., Zhang, Z., and Rouabhia, M., *Accelerated osteoblast mineralization on a conductive substrate by multiple electrical stimulation.* Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism, 2011. **29**: p. 535-544.
- 87. Khatua, C., Bhattacharya, D., and Balla, V.K., *In situ electrical stimulation for enhanced bone growth: a mini-review.* Medical Devices & Sensors, 2020. **3**: p. e10090.
- 88. Leppik, L., Oliveira, K.M.C., Bhavsar, M.B., et al., *Electrical stimulation in bone tissue engineering treatments*. European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery,

2020. **46**: p. 231-244.

- 89. Meng, S., Rouabhia, M., and Zhang, Z., *Electrical stimulation in tissue regeneration*, in *Applied Biomedical Engineering*. 2011, InTech. p. 37-62.
- 90. Yi, Y.T., Sun, J.Y., Lu, Y.W., et al., *Programmable and on-demand drug release using electrical stimulation*. Biomicrofluidics, 2015. **9**: p. 022401.
- 91. Miar, S., Ong, J.L., Bizios, R., et al., *Electrically stimulated tunable drug delivery from polypyrrole-coated polyvinylidene fluoride*. Frontiers in Chemistry, 2021. **9**: p. 599631.
- 92. Halhal, M., Renard, G., Courtois, Y., et al., *Iontophoresis: from the lab to the bed side*. Experimental Eye Research, 2004. **78**: p. 751-757.
- 93. Cohen, A.E., Assang, C., Patane, M.A., et al., *Evaluation of dexamethasone* phosphate delivered by ocular iontophoresis for treating noninfectious anterior uveitis. Ophthalmology, 2012. **119**: p. 66-73.
- 94. Shier, D., Butler, J., and Lewis, R., *Hole's human anatomy and physiology*. 2015: McGraw-Hill Education.
- 95. *Skin*. Available from: https://healthjade.net/skin/.
- 96. Schoenwolf, G.C., Bleyl, S.B., Brauer, P.R., et al., *Larsen's human embryology*. 2014: Elsevier Health Sciences.
- 97. Madison, K.C., *Barrier function of the skin: "la raison d'etre" of the epidermis.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2003. **121**: p. 231-241.
- 98. Breitkreutz, D., Koxholt, I., Thiemann, K., et al., *Skin basement membrane: the foundation of epidermal integrity--BM functions and diverse roles of bridging molecules nidogen and perlecan.* BioMed Research International, 2013. **2013**: p. 179784.
- 99. Suter, M.M., Crameri, F.M., Olivry, T., et al., *Keratinocyte biology and pathology*. Veterinary Dermatology, 1997. **8**: p. 67-100.
- 100. Fuchs, E., *Epithelial skin biology: three decades of developmental biology, a hundred questions answered and a thousand new ones to address.* Current Topics in Developmental Biology 2016. **116**: p. 357-374.
- Garcia, M.A., Nelson, W.J., and Chavez, N., *Cell-cell junctions organize structural* and signaling networks. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2018. 10: p. a029181.
- 102. Blanpain, C. and Fuchs, E., *Epidermal homeostasis: a balancing act of stem cells in the skin.* Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2009. **10**: p. 207-217.
- 103. Eckert, R.L., *Structure, function, and differentiation of the keratinocyte* Physiological Reviews, 1989. **69**: p. 1316-1346.
- 104. Muse, M.E. and Crane, J.S., *Physiology, epithelialization*. 2020: StatPearls.
- 105. Muroyama, A. and Lechler, T., *Polarity and stratification of the epidermis*. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 2012. **23**: p. 890-896.
- 106. Noske, K., Stark, H.J., Nevaril, L., et al., *Mitotic diversity in homeostatic human interfollicular epidermis*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2016. **17**: p. 167.
- 107. Shi, Y., Shu, B., Yang, R., et al., *Wnt and Notch signaling pathway involved in wound healing by targeting c-Myc and Hes1 separately.* Stem Cell Research & Therapy, 2015. **6**: p. 120.
- 108. Muñoz, M., Vásquez, B., and del Sol, M., *Molecular mechanisms in the process of re-epithelization in wound healing and the action of honey in keratinocytes.*

International Journal of Morphology, 2020. 38: p. 1700-1706.

- 109. Tu, C.-L.T., Celli, A., Mauro, T., et al., *The calcium-sensing receptor regulates* epidermal intracellular Ca^{2+} signaling and re-epithelialization after wounding. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2018. **139**: p. 919-929.
- 110. Qiu, Q., Yang, M., Tsang, B.K., et al., *Both mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signalling are required in epidermal growth factor-induced human trophoblast migration*. Molecular Human Reproduction, 2004. **10**: p. 677-684.
- 111. Jost, M., Huggett, T.M., Kari, C., et al., *Matrix-independent survival of human keratinocytes through an EGF receptor/MAPK-kinase-dependent pathway.* Molecular Biology of the Cell, 2001. **12**: p. 1519-1527.
- 112. Xiao, T., Yan, Z., Xiao, S., et al., *Proinflammatory cytokines regulate epidermal stem cells in wound epithelialization*. Stem Cell Research & Therapy, 2020. **11**: p. 232.
- 113. Pastar, I., Stojadinovic, O., Yin, N.C., et al., *Epithelialization in wound healing: a comprehensive review.* Advances in Wound Care, 2014. **3**: p. 445-464.
- 114. Rouabhia, M., Park, H.J., Abedin-Do, A., et al., *Electrical stimulation promotes the proliferation of human keratinocytes, increases the production of keratin 5 and 14, and increases the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and p38 MAP kinases.* Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, 2020. **14**: p. 909-919.
- 115. Cursons, J., Gao, J., Hurley, D.G., et al., *Regulation of ERK-MAPK signaling in human epidermis.* BMC Systems Biology, 2015. **9**: p. 41.
- 116. Efimova, T., Broome, A.M., and Eckert, R.L., *A regulatory role for p38 delta MAPK in keratinocyte differentiation. Evidence for p38 delta-ERK1/2 complex formation.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2003. **278**: p. 34277-34285.
- 117. Ivanova, I.A. and Dagnino, L., Activation of p38- and CRM1-dependent nuclear export promotes E2F1 degradation during keratinocyte differentiation. Oncogene, 2007. **26**: p. 1147-1154.
- Pastore, S., Mascia, F., Mariani, V., et al., *The epidermal growth factor receptor* system in skin repair and inflammation. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2008.
 128: p. 1365-1374.
- 119. Puccinelli, T.J., Bertics, P.J., and Masters, K.S., *Regulation of keratinocyte signaling and function via changes in epidermal growth factor presentation*. Acta biomaterialia, 2010. **6**: p. 3415-3425.
- 120. Vandenberghe, M., Raphael, M., Lehen'kyi, V., et al., *ORAI1 calcium channel* orchestrates skin homeostasis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2013. **110**: p. 4839-4848.
- 121. Morasso, M.I. and Tomic-Canic, M., *Epidermal stem cells: the cradle of epidermal determination, differentiation and wound healing.* Biology of the Cell, 2005. **97**: p. 173-183.
- 122. Candi, E., Schmidt, R., and Melino, G., *The cornified envelope: a model of cell death in the skin.* Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2005. **6**: p. 328-340.
- 123. Monteiro-Riviere, N.A., *Toxicology of the skin.* 2010, New York: Informa Healthcare.
- 124. Fartasch, M., Bassukas, I.D., and Diepgen, T.L., *Structural relationship between* epidermal lipid lamellae, lamellar bodies and desmosomes in human epidermis: an ultrastructural study. British Journal of Dermatology, 1993. **128**: p. 1-9.
- 125. Litjens, S.H., de Pereda, J.M., and Sonnenberg, A., *Current insights into the formation and breakdown of hemidesmosomes*. Trends in Cell Biology, 2006. **16**: p.

376-383.

- 126. Duperret, E.K. and Ridky, T.W., *Focal adhesion complex proteins in epidermis and squamous cell carcinoma*. Cell Cycle, 2013. **12**: p. 3272-3285.
- 127. Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., et al., *Cell junctions*, in *Molecular Biology of the Cell .4th edition*. 2002, Garland Science.
- 128. Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., et al., *Epidermis and its renewal by stem cells*, in *Molecular Biology of the Cell .4th edition*. 2002, Garland Science.
- 129. Klunder, L.J., Faber, K.N., Dijkstra, G., et al., *Mechanisms of cell polarity-controlled epithelial homeostasis and immunity in the intestine*. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2017. **9**: p. a027888.
- 130. Roignot, J., Peng, X., and Mostov, K., *Polarity in mammalian epithelial morphogenesis*. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2013. **5**: p. a013789.
- 131. Dias Gomes, M., Letzian, S., Saynisch, M., et al., *Polarity signaling ensures* epidermal homeostasis by coupling cellular mechanics and genomic integrity. Nature Communications, 2019. **10**: p. 3362.
- 132. Lu, M.S. and Johnston, C.A., *Molecular pathways regulating mitotic spindle orientation in animal cells*. Development, 2013. **140**: p. 1843-1856.
- Bergstralh, D.T., Haack, T., and St Johnston, D., *Epithelial polarity and spindle orientation: intersecting pathways.* Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 2013. 368: p. 20130291.
- 134. Croyle, M.J., Lehman, J.M., O'Connor, A.K., et al., *Role of epidermal primary cilia in the homeostasis of skin and hair follicles.* Development, 2011. **138**: p. 1675-1685.
- 135. Nuccitelli, R., Nuccitelli, P., Ramlatchan, S., et al., *Imaging the electric field* associated with mouse and human skin wounds. Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2008. **16**: p. 432-441.
- 136. Russo, B., Brembilla, N.C., and Chizzolini, C., *Interplay between keratinocytes and fibroblasts: a systematic review providing a new angle for understanding skin fibrotic disorders.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2020. **11**: p. 648.
- 137. Seiringer, P., Eyerich, S., Eyerich, K., et al., *Keratinocytes regulate the threshold of inflammation by inhibiting T cell effector functions*. Cells, 2021. **10**: p. 1606.
- 138. Jiang, Y., Tsoi, L.C., Billi, A.C., et al., *Cytokinocytes: the diverse contribution of keratinocytes to immune responses in skin.* JCI Insight, 2020. **5**: p. e142067.
- 139. Ghaffari, A., Li, Y., Karami, A., et al., *Fibroblast extracellular matrix gene expression in response to keratinocyte-releasable stratifin.* Journal of Cellular Biochemistry, 2006. **98**: p. 383-393.
- 140. Shephard, P., Martin, G., Smola-Hess, S., et al., *Myofibroblast differentiation is induced in keratinocyte-fibroblast co-cultures and is antagonistically regulated by endogenous transforming growth factor-\beta and interleukin-1. The American Journal of Pathology, 2004. 164: p. 2055-2066.*
- 141. Werner, S., Krieg, T., and Smola, H., *Keratinocyte-fibroblast interactions in wound healing*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2007. **127**: p. 998-1008.
- 142. Sriram, G., Bigliardi, P.L., and Bigliardi-Qi, M., *Fibroblast heterogeneity and its implications for engineering organotypic skin models in vitro*. European Journal of Cell Biology, 2015. **94**: p. 483-512.
- 143. Wang, Z., Wang, Y., Farhangfar, F., et al., *Enhanced keratinocyte proliferation and migration in co-culture with fibroblasts.* PLoS One, 2012. 7: p. e40951.
- 144. Jevtic, M., Lowa, A., Novackova, A., et al., Impact of intercellular crosstalk between

epidermal keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts on skin homeostasis. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research, 2020. **1867**: p. 118722.

- 145. Karamanos, N.K., Theocharis, A.D., Piperigkou, Z., et al., *A guide to the composition and functions of the extracellular matrix*. FEBS Journal, 2021. **288**: p. 6850-6912.
- 146. Rohani, M.G. and Parks, W.C., *Matrix remodeling by MMPs during wound repair*. Matrix Biology, 2015. **44**: p. 113-121.
- 147. Gaffney, J., Solomonov, I., Zehorai, E., et al., *Multilevel regulation of matrix metalloproteinases in tissue homeostasis indicates their molecular specificity in vivo.* Matrix Biology, 2015. **44**: p. 191-199.
- 148. Domingues, L., Hurbain, I., Gilles-Marsens, F., et al., *Coupling of melanocyte* signaling and mechanics by caveolae is required for human skin pigmentation. Nature Communications, 2020. **11**: p. 2988.
- 149. Nasiri, G., Azarpira, N., Alizadeh, A., et al., Shedding light on the role of keratinocytederived extracellular vesicles on skin-homing cells. Stem Cell Research & Therapy, 2020. 11: p. 421.
- 150. Hirobe, T., *Keratinocytes regulate the function of melanocytes*. Dermatologica Sinica, 2014. **32**: p. 200-204.
- 151. Portou, M.J., Baker, D., Abraham, D., et al., *The innate immune system, toll-like receptors and dermal wound healing: A review.* Vascul Pharmacol, 2015. **71**: p. 31-36.
- 152. Kiatsurayanon, C., Ogawa, H., and Niyonsaba, F., *The role of host defense peptide human* β -defensins in the maintenance of skin barriers. Current Pharmaceutical Design, 2018. **24**: p. 1092-1099.
- 153. Eyerich, S., Eyerich, K., Traidl-Hoffmann, C., et al., *Cutaneous barriers and skin immunity: differentiating a connected network.* Trends in Immunology, 2018. **39**: p. 315-327.
- 154. Macleod, T., Ward, J., Alase, A.A., et al., *Antimicrobial peptide LL-37 facilitates intracellular uptake of RNA aptamer Apt 21-2 without inducing an inflammatory or interferon response.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. **10**: p. 857.
- 155. Dinarello, C.A., *Overview of the IL-1 family in innate inflammation and acquired immunity.* Immunological Reviews, 2018. **281**: p. 8-27.
- 156. Roupe, K.M., Nybo, M., Sjobring, U., et al., *Injury is a major inducer of epidermal innate immune responses during wound healing*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2010. **130**: p. 1167-1177.
- 157. Albanesi, C., Madonna, S., Gisondi, P., et al., *The interplay between keratinocytes and immune cells in the pathogenesis of psoriasis.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. **9**: p. 1549.
- 158. Brown, T.M. and Krishnamurthy, K., *Histology, dermis*. 2020: StatPearls.
- 159. Baumann, L., Bernstein, E.F., Weiss, A.S., et al., *Clinical relevance of elastin in the structure and function of skin*. Aesthetic Surgery Journal Open Forum, 2021. **3**: p. ojab019.
- 160. Honari, G., *Skin structure and function*, in *Sensitive Skin Syndrome*. 2017, CRC Press. p. 16-22.
- 161. Lu, P., Takai, K., Weaver, V.M., et al., *Extracellular matrix degradation and remodeling in development and disease*. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2011. **3**: p. a005058.
- 162. Barrientos, S., Stojadinovic, O., Golinko, M.S., et al., Growth factors and cytokines

in wound healing. Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2008. 16: p. 585-601.

- 163. *Skin: how it works*. Available from: https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/320435#layers.
- 164. Foulds, I.S. and Barker, A.T., *Human skin battery potentials and their possible role in wound healing*. British Journal of Dermatology, 1983. **109**: p. 515-522.
- 165. Wahlsten, O. and Apell, S.P., *Wounds as probes of electrical properties of skin.* Journal of Electrical Bioimpedance, 2010. 1: p. 63-70.
- 166. Rahman, M.S., *Bio-signals and transducers*, in *Short Course on Biomedical Instrumentation*. 2008, DCE, BUET. p. 1-19.
- 167. Lykken, D.T., *Square-wave analysis of skin impedance*. Psychophysiology, 1970. 7: p. 262-275.
- 168. Nagel, W. and Essig, A., *Relationship of transepithelial electrical potential to membrane potentials and conductance ratios in frog skin.* The Journal of Membrane Biology, 1982. **69**: p. 125-136.
- 169. Barker, A.T., Jaffe, L.F., and Vanable Jr, J.W., *The glabrous epidermis of cavies contains a powerful battery*. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 1982. **242**: p. R358-R366.
- 170. Zhao, L., Hung, L.K., and Zhang, Y.T., *Electrical properties of normal and scarred skin*. Proceedings of the 20th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, 1998. **20**: p. 2917-2920.
- 171. Boyce, S.T., Supp, A.P., Harriger, M.D., et al., *Surface electrical capacitance as a noninvasive index of epidermal barrier in cultured skin substitutes in athymic mice.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1996. **107**: p. 82-87.
- 172. Messerli, M.A. and Graham, D.M., *Extracellular electrical fields direct wound healing and regeneration*. The Biological Bulletin, 2011. **221**: p. 79-92.
- 173. Farber, P.L., Isoldi, F.C., and Ferreira, L.M., *Electric factors in wound healing*. Advances in Wound Care, 2021. **10**: p. 461-476.
- 174. Nuccitelli, R., Endogenous electric fields in embryos during development, regeneration and wound healing. Radiation Protection Dosimetry, 2003. 106: p. 375-383.
- 175. Zhao, M., *Electrical fields in wound healing—an overriding signal that directs cell migration*. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology, 2009. **20**: p. 674-682.
- 176. Zhao, M., Penninger, J., and Isseroff, R.R., *Electrical activation of wound-healing pathways*. Advances in Skin and Wound Care, 2010. 1: p. 567-573.
- 177. Choi, H.M.C., Cheung, A.K.K., Ng, G.Y.F., et al., *Effects of pulsed electromagnetic field (PEMF) on the tensile biomechanical properties of diabetic wounds at different phases of healing.* PLoS One, 2018. **13**: p. e0191074.
- 178. McCaig, C.D., Rajnicek, A.M., Song, B., et al., *Controlling cell behavior electrically: current views and future potential.* Physiological Reviews, 2005. **85**: p. 943-978.
- 179. Moarefian, M., Davalos, R.V., Burton, M.D., et al., *Electrotaxis-on-chip to quantify neutrophil migration towards electrochemical gradients*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2021. **12**: p. 674727.
- 180. Sullivan, K.G., Vandenberg, L.N., and Levin, M., Cellular migration may exhibit intrinsic left-right asymmetries: A meta-analysis. bioRxiv, 2018: p. 269217.
- 181. Barnes, F.S. and Greenebaum, B., *Biological and medical aspects of electromagnetic fields* 2018: CRC press.
- 182. Martin-Granados, C. and McCaig, C.D., Harnessing the electric spark of life to cure

skin wounds. Advances in Wound Care, 2014. 3: p. 127-138.

- 183. Gurtner, G.C., Werner, S., Barrandon, Y., et al., *Wound repair and regeneration*. Nature, 2008. **453**: p. 314-321.
- 184. Cordeiro, J.V. and Jacinto, A., *The role of transcription-independent damage signals in the initiation of epithelial wound healing*. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2013. 14: p. 249-262.
- 185. Barker, T.H. and Engler, A.J., *The provisional matrix: setting the stage for tissue repair outcomes.* Matrix Biology, 2017. **60**: p. 1-4.
- 186. Young, A. and McNaught, C.-E., *The physiology of wound healing*. Surgery (Oxford), 2011. **29**: p. 475-479.
- Eming, S.A., Krieg, T., and Davidson, J.M., *Inflammation in wound repair: molecular and cellular mechanisms*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2007. **127**: p. 514-525.
- 188. Ellis, S., Lin, E.J., and Tartar, D., *Immunology of wound healing*. Current Dermatology Reports, 2018. 7: p. 350-358.
- Landen, N.X., Li, D., and Stahle, M., *Transition from inflammation to proliferation:* a critical step during wound healing. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2016. 73: p. 3861-85.
- 190. Darby, I.A., Laverdet, B., Bonté, F., et al., *Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in wound healing*. Clinical, Cosmetic and Investigational Dermatology, 2014. 7: p. 301.
- 191. Xue, M. and Jackson, C.J., *Extracellular matrix reorganization during wound healing and its impact on abnormal scarring*. Advances in Wound Care, 2015. **4**: p. 119-136.
- 192. Van Zuijlen, P.P.M., Ruurda, J.J.B., Van Veen, H.A., et al., *Collagen morphology in human skin and scar tissue: no adaptations in response to mechanical loading at joints*. Burns, 2003. **29**: p. 423-431.
- Corr, D.T., Gallant-Behm, C.L., Shrive, N.G., et al., *Biomechanical behavior of scar tissue and uninjured skin in a porcine model*. Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2009.
 17: p. 250-259.
- 194. Wells, J.M. and Watt, F.M., *Diverse mechanisms for endogenous regeneration and repair in mammalian organs*. Nature, 2018. **557**: p. 322-328.
- 195. Erickson, J.R. and Echeverri, K., *Learning from regeneration research organisms: the circuitous road to scar free wound healing.* Developmental Biology, 2018. **433**: p. 144-154.
- 196. Eming, S.A., Martin, P., and Tomic-Canic, M., *Wound repair and regeneration: mechanisms, signaling, and translation.* Science Translational Medicine, 2014. 6: p. 265sr6.
- 197. Yates, C.C., Hebda, P., and Wells, A., *Skin wound healing and scarring: fetal wounds and regenerative restitution*. Birth Defects Research Part C: Embryo Today: Reviews, 2012. **96**: p. 325-33.
- 198. Boudra, R. and Ramsey, M.R., *Understanding transcriptional networks regulating initiation of cutaneous wound healing*. The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine, 2020. **93**: p. 161.
- 199. Arnold, T.R., Stephenson, R.E., and Miller, A.L., *Rho GTPases and actomyosin: partners in regulating epithelial cell-cell junction structure and function.* Experimental Cell Research, 2017. **358**: p. 20-30.
- 200. Mosaddeghzadeh, N. and Ahmadian, M.R., *The RHO family gtpases: mechanisms of regulation and signaling*. Cells, 2021. **10**: p. 1813.

- 201. Haws, H.J., McNeil, M.A., and Hansen, M.D., *Control of cell mechanics by RhoA* and calcium fluxes during epithelial scattering. Tissue Barriers, 2016. 4: p. e1187326.
- 202. Cho, M.R., Thatte, H.S., Silvia, M.T., et al., *Transmembrane calcium influx induced by ac electric fields*. Federation of American Societies of Experimental Biology, 1999.
 13: p. 677-683.
- 203. Schmitt, J.M., Wayman, G.A., Nozaki, N., et al., *Calcium activation of ERK mediated by calmodulin kinase I.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2004. **279**: p. 24064-24072.
- 204. Subramaniam, T., Fauzi, M.B., Lokanathan, Y., et al., *The role of calcium in wound healing*. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 2021. **22**: p. 6486.
- 205. Gunawardena, D., Raju, R., and Munch, G., *Hydrogen peroxide mediates pro-inflammatory cell-to-cell signaling: a new therapeutic target for inflammation?* Neural Regeneration Research, 2019. **14**: p. 1430-1437.
- 206. Di Virgilio, F., *Purinergic mechanism in the immune system: A signal of danger for dendritic cells.* Purinergic Signalling, 2005. **1**: p. 205-209.
- 207. Relja, B. and Land, W.G., *Damage-associated molecular patterns in trauma*. European Journal of Trauma and Emergency Surgery, 2020. **46**: p. 751-775.
- 208. Tyler, S.E., *Nature's electric potential: a systematic review of the role of bioelectricity in wound healing and regenerative processes in animals, humans, and plants.* Frontiers in Physiology, 2017. **8**: p. 627.
- 209. Cole, J., Tsou, R., Wallace, K., et al., *Early gene expression profile of human skin to injury using high-density cDNA microarrays*. Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2001.
 9: p. 360-370.
- 210. Werner, S. and Grose, R., *Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines*. Physiological Reviews, 2003. **83**: p. 835-870.
- 211. Hashimoto, K., *Regulation of keratinocyte function by growth factors*. Journal of Dermatological Science, 2000. **24**: p. S46-S50.
- 212. Rodeck, U., Jost, M., Kari, C., et al., *EGF-R dependent regulation of keratinocyte survival.* Journal of Cell Science, 1997. **110**: p. 113-121.
- 213. Denys, H., Derycke, L., Hendrix, A., et al., *Differential impact of TGF-β and EGF on fibroblast differentiation and invasion reciprocally promotes colon cancer cell invasion*. Cancer Letters, 2008. **266**: p. 263-274.
- 214. Miller, L.S., Sørensen, O.E., Liu, P.T., et al., *TGF-α regulates TLR expression and function on epidermal keratinocytes*. The Journal of Immunology, 2005. **174**: p. 6137-6143.
- 215. Coffey Jr, R.J., Derynck, R., Wilcox, J.N., et al., *Production and auto-induction of transforming growth factor-α in human keratinocytes*. Nature, 1987. **328**: p. 817-820.
- 216. Shirakata, Y., Kimura, R., Nanba, D., et al., *Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor accelerates keratinocyte migration and skin wound healing*. Journal of Cell Science, 2005. **118**: p. 2363-2370.
- Beer, H.-D., Gassmann, M.G., Munz, B., et al., *Expression and function of keratinocyte growth factor and activin in skin morphogenesis and cutaneous wound repair*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology Symposium Proceedings, 2000. 5: p. 34-39.
- 218. Penn, J.W., Grobbelaar, A.O., and Rolfe, K.J., *The role of the TGF-\beta family in wound healing, burns and scarring: a review.* International Journal of Burns and Trauma, 2012. **2**: p. 18.
- 219. Lichtman, M.K., Otero-Vinas, M., and Falanga, V., Transforming growth factor beta

(*TGF-* β) isoforms in wound healing and fibrosis. Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2016. **24**: p. 215-222.

- 220. Bao, P., Kodra, A., Tomic-Canic, M., et al., *The role of vascular endothelial growth factor in wound healing*. Journal of Surgical Research, 2009. **153**: p. 347-358.
- 221. Grunewald, M., Avraham, I., Dor, Y., et al., *VEGF-induced adult neovascularization: recruitment, retention, and role of accessory cells.* Cell, 2006. **124**: p. 175-189.
- 222. Wynn, T.A. and Vannella, K.M., *Macrophages in tissue repair, regeneration, and fibrosis.* Immunity, 2016. **44**: p. 450-462.
- 223. Shi-Wen, X., Leask, A., and Abraham, D., *Regulation and function of connective tissue growth factor/CCN2 in tissue repair, scarring and fibrosis.* Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews, 2008. **19**: p. 133-144.
- 224. Pereira, L.d.P., Mota, M.R.L., Brizeno, L.A.C., et al., Modulator effect of a polysaccharide-rich extract from Caesalpinia ferrea stem barks in rat cutaneous wound healing: role of TNF-α, IL-1β, NO, TGF-β. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 2016. 187: p. 213-223.
- 225. Gracie, J.A., Robertson, S.E., and McInnes, I.B., *Interleukin-18*. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 2003. **73**: p. 213-224.
- 226. Kämpfer, H., Mühl, H., Manderscheid, M., et al., *Regulation of interleukin-18 (IL-18)* expression in keratinocytes (HaCaT): implications for early wound healing. European Cytokine Network, 2000. **11**: p. 626-633.
- 227. Akdis, M., Aab, A., Altunbulakli, C., et al., *Interleukins (from IL-1 to IL-38), interferons, transforming growth factor β, and TNF-α: Receptors, functions, and roles in diseases.* Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2016. **138**: p. 984-1010.
- 228. Broekman, W., Amatngalim, G.D., de Mooij-Eijk, Y., et al., *TNF-α and IL-1β-activated human mesenchymal stromal cells increase airway epithelial wound healing in vitro via activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor.* Respiratory Research, 2016. **17**: p. 3.
- 229. Ishida, Y., Kondo, T., Takayasu, T., et al., *The essential involvement of cross-talk* between *IFN-y* and *TGF-\beta* in the skin wound-healing process. The Journal of Immunology, 2004. **172**: p. 1848-1855.
- 230. Gillitzer, R. and Goebeler, M., *Chemokines in cutaneous wound healing*. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 2001. **69**: p. 513-521.
- 231. Martin, P., *Wound healing aiming for perfect skin regeneration*. Science, 1997. **276**: p. 75-81.
- 232. Sorg, H., Tilkorn, D.J., Hager, S., et al., *Skin wound healing: an update on the current knowledge and concepts.* European Surgical Research, 2017. **58**: p. 81-94.
- 233. Ben Amar, M. and Wu, M., *Re-epithelialization: advancing epithelium frontier during wound healing*. Journal of the Royal Society Interface, 2014. **11**: p. 20131038.
- 234. Raja, S.K., Garcia, M.S., and Isseroff, R.R., *Wound re-epithelialization: modulating keratinocyte migration in wound healing*. Frontiers in Bioscience, 2007. **12**: p. 2849-2868.
- 235. Aragona, M., Dekoninck, S., Rulands, S., et al., *Defining stem cell dynamics and migration during wound healing in mouse skin epidermis*. Nature Communications, 2017. **8**: p. 1-14.
- 236. Matsubayashi, Y. and Millard, T.H., *Analysis of the molecular mechanisms of reepithelialization in drosophila embryos*. Advances in Wound Care, 2016. **5**: p. 243-250.

- 237. Safferling, K., Sutterlin, T., Westphal, K., et al., *Wound healing revised: a novel reepithelialization mechanism revealed by in vitro and in silico models.* Journal of Cell Biology, 2013. **203**: p. 691-709.
- 238. Abreu-Blanco, M.T., Watts, J.J., Verboon, J.M., et al., *Cytoskeleton responses in wound repair*. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 2012. **69**: p. 2469-2483.
- 239. Boehnke, K., Falkowska-Hansen, B., Stark, H.J., et al., *Stem cells of the human epidermis and their niche: composition and function in epidermal regeneration and carcinogenesis.* Carcinogenesis, 2012. **33**: p. 1247-1258.
- 240. Paladini, R.D., Takahashi, K., Bravo, N.S., et al., Onset of re-epithelialization after skin injury correlates with a reorganization of keratin filaments in wound edge keratinocytes: defining a potential role for keratin 16. The Journal of Cell Biology, 1996. **132**: p. 381-397.
- 241. Nunan, R., Campbell, J., Mori, R., et al., *Ephrin-Bs drive junctional downregulation and actin stress fiber disassembly to enable wound re-epithelialization*. Cell Reports, 2015. **13**: p. 1380-1395.
- 242. Thiery, J.P. and Sleeman, J.P., *Complex networks orchestrate epithelial-mesenchymal transitions*. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2006. 7: p. 131-142.
- Kubler, M.D. and Watt, F.M., *Changes in the distribution of actin-associated proteins during epidermal wound healing*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1993. 100: p. 785-789.
- 244. Simpson, C.L., Patel, D.M., and Green, K.J., *Deconstructing the skin:* cytoarchitectural determinants of epidermal morphogenesis. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, 2011. **12**: p. 565-580.
- 245. Frank, D.E. and Carter, W.G., *Laminin 5 deposition regulates keratinocyte polarization and persistent migration*. Journal of Cell Science, 2004. **117**: p. 1351-1363.
- Grose, R., Hutter, C., Bloch, W., et al., A crucial role of β1 integrins for keratinocyte migration in vitro and during cutaneous wound repair. Development, 2002. 129: p. 2303-2315.
- 247. Qiao, H., Shibaki, A., Long, H.A., et al., *Collagen XVII participates in keratinocyte adhesion to collagen IV, and in p38MAPK-dependent migration and cell signaling.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2009. **129**: p. 2288-2295.
- 248. Jackow, J., Loffek, S., Nystrom, A., et al., *Collagen xvii shedding suppresses re-epithelialization by directing keratinocyte migration and dampening mtor signaling.* Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2016. **136**: p. 1031-1041.
- 249. Rousselle, P., Montmasson, M., and Garnier, C., *Extracellular matrix contribution to skin wound re-epithelialization*. Matrix Biology, 2018. **75**: p. 12-26.
- 250. Schaller, M.D., *Cellular functions of FAK kinases: insight into molecular mechanisms and novel functions.* Journal of Cell Science, 2010. **123**: p. 1007-1013.
- 251. Peppelenbosch, M.P., Tertoolen, L.G.J., Hage, W.J., et al., *Epidermal growth factor induced actin remodeling is regulated by 5-lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase products*. Cell, 1993. **74**: p. 565-575.
- 252. Haase, I., Evans, R., Pofahl, R., et al., *Regulation of keratinocyte shape, migration and wound epithelialization by IGF-1-and EGF-dependent signalling pathways.* Journal of cell science, 2003. **116**: p. 3227-3238.
- 253. Caley, M.P., Martins, V.L., and O'Toole, E.A., *Metalloproteinases and wound healing*. Advances in Wound Care, 2015. **4**: p. 225-234.

- 254. Kajanne, R., Miettinen, P., Mehlem, A., et al., *EGF-R regulates MMP function in fibroblasts through MAPK and AP-1 pathways*. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 2007.
 212: p. 489-497.
- 255. Arpino, V., Brock, M., and Gill, S.E., *The role of TIMPs in regulation of extracellular matrix proteolysis*. Matrix Biology, 2015. **44**: p. 247-254.
- 256. Yamamoto, K., Murphy, G., and Troeberg, L., *Extracellular regulation of metalloproteinases*. Matrix Biology, 2015. **44**: p. 255-263.
- 257. Tomic-Canic, M., Wong, L.L., and Smola, H., *The epithelialisation phase in wound healing: options to enhance wound closure.* Journal of Wound Care, 2018. **27**: p. 646-658.
- Gill, S.E. and Parks, W.C., *Metalloproteinases and their inhibitors: regulators of wound healing*. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology, 2008. 40: p. 1334-1347.
- Ribatti, D. and Santoiemma, M., *Epithelial-mesenchymal interactions: a fundamental developmental biology mechanism*. International Journal of Developmental Biology, 2014. 58: p. 303-306.
- 260. Ju, C., Park, E., Kim, T., et al., *Effectiveness of electrical stimulation on nerve regeneration after crush injury: Comparison between invasive and non-invasive stimulation.* PLoS One, 2020. **15**: p. e0233531.
- 261. Rouabhia, M., Park, H.J., and Zhang, Z., *Electrically activated primary human fibroblasts improve in vitro and in vivo skin regeneration*. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 2016. **231**: p. 1814-1821.
- 262. Janetopoulos, C. and Firtel, R.A., *Directional sensing during chemotaxis*. FEBS Letters, 2008. **582**: p. 2075-2085.
- 263. Kim, H., Park, S., Housler, G., et al., *An overview of the efficacy of a next generation electroceutical wound care device*. Military Medicine, 2016. **181**: p. 184-190.
- 264. Beugels, J., Molin, D.G.M., Ophelders, D., et al., *Electrical stimulation promotes the angiogenic potential of adipose-derived stem cells*. Scientific Reports, 2019. **9**: p. 1-10.
- 265. Singer, A.J. and Clark, R.A., *Cutaneous wound healing*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1999. **341**: p. 738-746.
- 266. Hampton, S. and King, L., *Healing an intractable wound using bio-electrical stimulation therapy*. British Journal of Nursing, 2005. **14**: p. S30-S32.
- 267. Polk, C. and Postow, E., *Handbook of Biological Effects of Electromagnetic Fields*. 1995: CRC press.
- 268. Chiang, M., Cragoe Jr, E.J., and Vanable Jr, J.W., *Intrinsic electric fields promote epithelization of wounds in the newt, Notophthalmus viridescens.* Developmental Biology, 1991. **146**: p. 377-385.
- 269. Nishimura, K.Y., Isseroff, R.R., and Nuccitelli, R., *Human keratinocytes migrate to the negative pole in direct current electric fields comparable to those measured in mammalian wounds.* Journal of Cell Science, 1996. **109**: p. 199-207.
- 270. Fang, K.S., Farboud, B., Nuccitelli, R., et al., *Migration of human keratinocytes in electric fields requires growth factors and extracellular calcium*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 1998. **111**: p. 751-756.
- 271. Dubé, J., Rochette-Drouin, O., Lévesque, P., et al., *Human keratinocytes respond to direct current stimulation by increasing intracellular calcium: preferential response of poorly differentiated cells.* Journal of Cellular Physiology, 2012. **227**: p. 2660-2667.

- 272. Pullar, C.E., Isseroff, R.R., and Nuccitelli, R., *Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase a plays a role in the directed migration of human keratinocytes in a DC electric field.* Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton, 2001. **50**: p. 207-217.
- 273. Morris, C., *Bio-electrical stimulation therapy using POSiFECT® RD*. Wounds UK, 2006. **2**: p. 112.
- 274. Zhu, K., Sun, Y., Miu, A., et al., *cAMP and cGMP play an essential role in galvanotaxis of cell fragments*. Journal of Cellular Physiology, 2016. **231**: p. 1291-1300.
- 275. Pullar, C.E. and Isseroff, R.R., *Cyclic AMP mediates keratinocyte directional migration in an electric field.* Journal of Cell Science, 2005. **118**: p. 2023-2034.
- 276. McCawley, L.J., O'Brien, P., and Hudson, L.G., *Overexpression of the epidermal* growth factor receptor contributes to enhanced ligand-mediated motility in keratinocyte cell lines. Endocrinology, 1997. **138**: p. 121-127.
- 277. Ren, X., Sun, H., Liu, J., et al., *Keratinocyte electrotaxis induced by physiological pulsed direct current electric fields*. Bioelectrochemistry, 2019. **127**: p. 112-124.
- 278. Huo, R., Ma, Q., Wu, J.J., et al., *Noninvasive electromagnetic fields on keratinocyte growth and migration*. Journal of Surgical Research, 2010. **162**: p. 299-307.
- 279. Sebastian, A., Iqbal, S.A., Colthurst, J., et al., *Electrical stimulation enhances* epidermal proliferation in human cutaneous wounds by modulating p53–SIVA1 interaction. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2015. **135**: p. 1166-1174.
- 280. Kloth, L.C., *Electrical stimulation for wound healing: a review of evidence from in vitro studies, animal experiments, and clinical trials.* The International Journal of Lower Extremity Wounds, 2005. **4**: p. 23-44.
- 281. Rocha, I., Cerqueira, G., Varella Penteado, F., et al., *Electrical stimulation and conductive polymers as a powerful toolbox for tailoring cell behaviour in vitro.* Frontiers in Medical Technology, 2021: p. 33.
- 282. Guo, Z.C., Poot, A.A., and Grijpma, D.W., *Advanced polymer-based composites and structures for biomedical applications*. European Polymer Journal, 2021. **149**: p. 110388.
- 283. Shevach, M., Maoz, B.M., Feiner, R., et al., Nanoengineering gold particle composite fibers for cardiac tissue engineering. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2013. 1: p. 5210-5217.
- 284. Tirado-Garcia, I., Garcia-Gonzalez, D., Garzon-Hernandez, S., et al., *Conductive 3D* printed PLA composites: on the interplay of mechanical, electrical and thermal behaviours. Composite Structures, 2021. **265**: p. 113744.
- 285. Sadeghianmaryan, A., Karimi, Y., Naghieh, S., et al., *Electrospinning of Scaffolds from the Polycaprolactone/Polyurethane Composite with Graphene Oxide for Skin Tissue Engineering*. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 2020. **191**: p. 567-578.
- 286. Wibowo, A., Tajalla, G.U.N., Marsudi, M.A., et al., *Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using extract of cilembu sweet potatoes (ipomoea batatas L var. rancing) as potential filler for 3D printed electroactive and anti-Infection scaffolds.* Molecules, 2021. **26**: p. 2042.
- 287. Min, J.H., Patel, M., and Koh, W.G., *Incorporation of Conductive Materials into Hydrogels for Tissue Engineering Applications*. Polymers, 2018. **10**: p. 1078.
- 288. Khan, A., Jawaid, M., Khan, A.A., et al., *Electrically conductive polymers and polymer composites: from synthesis to biomedical applications*. 2018: John Wiley & Sons.

- 289. Shirakawa, H., Louis, E.J., MacDiarmid, A.G., et al., *Synthesis of electrically conducting organic polymers: Halogen derivatives of polyacetylene, (CH)x.* Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications, 1977. **16**: p. 578-580.
- 290. Gould, G.L., Eswara, V., Trifu, R.M., et al., *Polydifluoroacetylene*, *polychlorofluoroacetylene*, *and polydichloroacetylene*. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 1999. **121**: p. 3781-3782.
- 291. Heeger, A.J., MacDiarmid, A.G., and Shirakawa, H., *The Nobel Prize in chemistry*, 2000: conductive polymers. Royal Swedish Academy of Sciences, 2000.
- 292. Namsheer, K. and Rout, C.S., *Conducting polymers: a comprehensive review on recent advances in synthesis, properties and applications.* RSC Advances, 2021. **11**: p. 5659-5697.
- 293. Gochnauer, D.L. and Gilani, T.H., *Conduction mechanism in electrically conducting polymers*. American Journal of Undergraduate Research, 2018. **14**: p. 49-56.
- 294. Molapo, K.M., Ndangili, P.M., Ajayi, R.F., et al., *Electronics of conjugated polymers* (*I*): polyaniline. International Journal of Electrochemical Science, 2012. 7: p. 11859 - 11875.
- 295. *Band gap*. Available from: https://energyeducation.ca/encyclopedia/Band_gap.
- 296. Yates, K., Hückel molecular orbital theory. 2012: ACADEMIC PRESS.
- 297. Malhotra, B.D., *Handbook of polymers in electronics*. 2002, : Rapra Technology Limited.
- 298. Le, T.H., Kim, Y., and Yoon, H., *Electrical and Electrochemical Properties of Conducting Polymers*. Polymers, 2017. **9**: p. 150.
- 299. Bredas, J.L. and Street, G.B., *Polarons, bipolarons, and solitons in conducting polymers*. Accounts of Chemical Research, 1985. **18**: p. 309-315.
- 300. Zhang, Z., Rouabhia, M., and Moulton, S.E., *Conductive polymers: electrical interactions in cell biology and medicine*. 2018: CRC Press.
- 301. Tat'yana, V.V. and Efimov, O.N., *Polypyrrole: a conducting polymer; its synthesis, properties and applications.* Russian Chemical Reviews, 1997. **66**: p. 443-457.
- 302. Nezakati, T., Seifalian, A., Tan, A., et al., *Conductive polymers: opportunities and challenges in biomedical applications*. Chemical reviews, 2018. **118**: p. 6766-6843.
- Morávková, Z., Taboubi, O., Minisy, I.M., et al., *The evolution of the molecular structure of polypyrrole during chemical polymerization*. Synthetic Metals, 2021. 271: p. 116608.
- 304. Yussuf, A., Al-Saleh, M., Al-Enezi, S., et al., *Synthesis and characterization of conductive polypyrrole: the influence of the oxidants and monomer on the electrical, thermal, and morphological properties.* International Journal of Polymer Science, 2018. **2018**: p. 1-8.
- 305. Street, G.B., Lindsey, S.E., Nazzal, A.I., et al., *The structure and mechanical properties of polypyrrole*. Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals, 2011. **118**: p. 137-148.
- 306. Shu, B., Liu, X.B., Zhou, J.F., et al., *Polypyrrole/polylactic acid nanofibrous scaffold cotransplanted with bone marrow stromal cells promotes the functional recovery of spinal cord injury in rats.* CNS Neuroscience & Therapeutics, 2019. **25**: p. 951-964.
- 307. Wu, H.H., Sheng, D.K., Liu, X.D., et al., *NIR induced self-healing polyurethane/polypyrrole nanocomposites.* Polymer, 2020. **189**: p. 122-181.
- 308. Tsui, J.H., Ostrovsky-Snider, N.A., Yama, D.M.P., et al., *Conductive silk-polypyrrole* composite scaffolds with bioinspired nanotopographic cues for cardiac tissue

engineering. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2018. 6: p. 7185-7196.

- 309. Xie, C., Li, P., Han, L., et al., *Electroresponsive and cell-affinitive polydopamine/polypyrrole composite microcapsules with a dual-function of on-demand drug delivery and cell stimulation for electrical therapy.* NPG Asia Materials, 2017. **9**: p. e358.
- 310. Ajjan, F.N., Jafari, M.J., Rębiś, T., et al., *Spectroelectrochemical investigation of redox states in a polypyrrole/lignin composite electrode material*. Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 2015. **3**: p. 12927-12937.
- 311. Shi, Z., Gao, H., Feng, J., et al., *In situ synthesis of robust conductive cellulose/polypyrrole composite aerogels and their potential application in nerve regeneration*. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2014. **53**: p. 5380-5384.
- 312. Wang, L.X., Li, X.G., and Yang, Y.L., *Preparation, properties and applications of polypyrroles.* Reactive and Functional Polymers, 2001. **47**: p. 125-139.
- 313. Shi, G., Rouabhia, M., Wang, Z., et al., *A novel electrically conductive and biodegradable composite made of polypyrrole nanoparticles and polylactide.* Biomaterials, 2004. **25**: p. 2477-2488.
- 314. Elashnikov, R., Rimpelova, S., Děkanovský, L., et al., *Polypyrrole-coated cellulose nanofibers: influence of orientation, coverage and electrical stimulation on SH-SY5Y behavior.* Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2019. 7: p. 6500-6507.
- 315. Zhao, Y.X., Li, Y.F., Kang, W.M., et al., *A novel flexible sensor for respiratory monitoring based on in situ polymerization of polypyrrole and polyurethane coating.* RSC Advances, 2017. 7: p. 49576-49585.
- 316. Zhou, J.F., Wang, Y.G., Cheng, L., et al., *Preparation of polypyrrole-embedded electrospun poly (lactic acid) nanofibrous scaffolds for nerve tissue engineering.* Neural Regeneration Research, 2016. **11**: p. 1644.
- 317. Sun, B., Wu, T., Wang, J., et al., Polypyrrole-coated poly(l-lactic acid-co-εcaprolactone)/silk fibroin nanofibrous membranes promoting neural cell proliferation and differentiation with electrical stimulation. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2016. 4: p. 6670-6679.
- 318. Thunberg, J., Kalogeropoulos, T., Kuzmenko, V., et al., *In situ synthesis of conductive polypyrrole on electrospun cellulose nanofibers: scaffold for neural tissue engineering*. Cellulose, 2015. **22**: p. 1459-1467.
- 319. Sudwilai, T., Ng, J.J., Boonkrai, C., et al., *Polypyrrole-coated electrospun poly(lactic acid) fibrous scaffold: effects of coating on electrical conductivity and neural cell growth.* Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition, 2014. **25**: p. 1240-1252.
- 320. Ismail, Y.A., Martinez, J.G., and Otero, T.F., *Polyurethane microfibrous mat* templated polypyrrole: Preparation and biomimetic reactive sensing capabilities. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry, 2014. **719**: p. 47-53.
- 321. Pelto, J., Björninen, M., Pälli, A., et al., *Novel polypyrrole-coated polylactide scaffolds enhance adipose stem cell proliferation and early osteogenic differentiation.* Tissue Engineering Part A, 2013. **19**: p. 882-892.
- 322. Lee, J.Y., Bashur, C.A., Goldstein, A.S., et al., *Polypyrrole-coated electrospun PLGA nanofibers for neural tissue applications*. Biomaterials, 2009. **30**: p. 4325-4335.
- 323. Wessling, B., *Critical shear rate the instability reason for the creation of dissipative structures in polymers.* Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie, 1995. **191**: p. 119-135.
- 324. Smit, R.J.M., Brekelmans, W.A.M., and Meijer, H.E.H., *Prediction of the large-strain mechanical response of heterogeneous polymer systems: local and global*

deformation behaviour of a representative volume element of voided polycarbonate. Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids, 1999. **47**: p. 201-221.

- 325. Akkouch, A., Shi, G., Zhang, Z., et al., *Bioactivating electrically conducting polypyrrole with fibronectin and bovine serum albumin.* Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A, 2010. **92**: p. 221-231.
- 326. Wang, Y., Rouabhia, M., Lavertu, D., et al., *Pulsed electrical stimulation modulates fibroblasts' behaviour through the Smad signalling pathway.* Journal of Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine, 2017. **11**: p. 1110-1121.
- 327. Park, H.J., Rouabhia, M., Lavertu, D., et al., *Electrical stimulation modulates the expression of multiple wound healing genes in primary human dermal fibroblasts.* Tissue Engineering Part A, 2015. **21**: p. 1982-1990.
- 328. Rouabhia, M., Park, H., Meng, S., et al., *Electrical stimulation promotes wound healing by enhancing dermal fibroblast activity and promoting myofibroblast transdifferentiation*. PLoS One, 2013. **8**: p. e71660.
- 329. Mao, J., Li, C., Park, H.J., et al., *Conductive polymer waving in liquid nitrogen*. ACS Nano, 2017. **11**: p. 10409-10416.
- 330. Levin, M., *Large-scale biophysics: ion flows and regeneration*. Trends in Cell Biology, 2007. **17**: p. 261-270.
- 331. *The body gets a healing boost from its inner electric fields*. Available from: https://drysdaleosteopathy.wordpress.com/2012/05/14/the-body-gets-a-healing-boost-from-its-inner-electric-fields/.
- 332. *To heal a wound, turn up the voltage*. Available from: https://www.newscientist.com/article/mg19125624-400-to-heal-a-wound-turn-up-the-voltage/#ixzz7C4CMWRBX.
- 333. Ud-Din S, B.A., *Electrical stimulation and cutaneous wound healing: a review of clinical evidence*. Healthcare, 2014. **2**: p. 445-467.
- 334. Nuccitelli, R., Nuccitelli, P., Li, C., et al., *The electric field near human skin wounds declines with age and provides a noninvasive indicator of wound healing*. Wound Repair and Regeneration, 2011. **19**: p. 645-655.
- 335. Orida, N. and Feldman, J.D., *Directional protrusive pseudopodial activity and motility in macrophages induced by extracellular electric fields*. Cell Motility, 1982.
 2: p. 243-255.
- 336. Rajendran, S.B., Challen, K., Wright, K.L., et al., *Electrical stimulation to enhance wound healing*. Journal of Functional Biomaterials, 2021. **12**: p. 1-17.
- 337. Kloth, L.C., *Electrical stimulation technologies for wound healing*. Advances in Wound Care, 2014. **3**: p. 81-90.
- 338. Hassarati, R.T., Goding, J.A., Baek, S., et al., *Stiffness quantification of conductive polymers for bioelectrodes*. Journal of Polymer Science Part B: Polymer Physics, 2014. **52**: p. 666-675.
- 339. Hukins, D.W.L., Leahy, J.C., and Mathias, K.J., *Biomaterials: defining the mechanical properties of natural tissues and selection of replacement materials.* Journal of Materials Chemistry, 1999. **9**: p. 629-636.
- 340. Basu, B. and Ghosh, S., *Biomaterials for musculoskeletal regeneration*. 2017: Springer.
- 341. Gupta, P., SN, G.H.N., Kasiviswanathan, U., et al., *Substrate stiffness does affect the fate of human keratinocytes*. RSC Advances, 2016. **6**: p. 3539-3551.
- 342. Zarkoob, H., Bodduluri, S., Ponnaluri, S.V., et al., Substrate stiffness affects human

keratinocyte colony formation. Cellular and Molecular Bioengineering, 2015. **8**: p. 32-50.

- 343. Lulevich, V., Yang, H.Y., Isseroff, R.R., et al., *Single cell mechanics of keratinocyte cells*. Ultramicroscopy, 2010. **110**: p. 1435-1442.
- 344. Cui, S., Mao, J., Rouabhia, M., et al., *A biocompatible polypyrrole membrane for biomedical applications*. RSC Advances, 2021. **11**: p. 16996-17006.
- 345. Tsakiris, V., Kappel, W., and Alecu, G., *Solid state diffusion welding of Cu-Fe/Al/Ag and Al-Ni dissimilar metals.* Journal of Optoelectronics and Advanced Materials. , 2011. **13**: p. 1176-1180.
- 346. Peters, M.J., Stinstra, G., and Hendriks, M., *Estimation of the Electrical Conductivity* of Human Tissue. Electromagnetics, 2001. **21**: p. 545-557.
- 347. Malmström, J., Hackett, A.J., Feisst, V., et al., *Modulation of cell adhesion to conductive polymers*. International Journal of Nanotechnology, 2017. **14**: p. 235-250.
- 348. Balint, R., Cassidy, N.J., and Cartmell, S.H., *Conductive polymers: Towards a smart biomaterial for tissue engineering*. Acta Biomaterialia, 2014. **10**: p. 2341-2453.
- 349. Asplund, M., Boehler, C., and Stieglitz, T., *Anti-inflammatory polymer electrodes for glial scar treatment: bringing the conceptual idea to future results.* Frontiers in Neuroengineering, 2014. 7: p. 9.
- 350. Korupalli, C., Li, H., Nguyen, N., et al., *Conductive materials for healing wounds: their incorporation in electroactive wound dressings, characterization, and perspectives.* Advanced Healthcare Materials, 2021. **10**: p. e2001384.
- 351. Zhang, Z., Rouabhia, M., Wang, Z., et al., *Electrically conductive biodegradable polymer composite for nerve regeneration: electricity-stimulated neurite outgrowth and axon regeneration.* Artificial Organs, 2007. **31**: p. 13-22.
- 352. Jiang, X., Marois, Y., Traoré, A., et al., *Tissue reaction to polypyrrole-coated polyester fabrics: an in vivo study in rats.* Tissue engineering, 2002. **8**: p. 635-647.
- Jiang, X., Tessier, D., Dao, L.H., et al., *Biostability of electrically conductive polyester fabrics: An in vitro study.* Journal of Biomedical Materials Research, 2002.
 62: p. 507-513.
- 354. da Cruz, A.G., Wardell, J.L., and Rocco, A.M., *Hybrid organic–inorganic materials* based on polypyrrole and 1, 3-dithiole-2-thione-4, 5-dithiolate (DMIT) containing dianions. Journal of Materials Science, 2008. **43**: p. 5823-5836.
- 355. Street, G.B., Clarke, T.C., Geiss, R.H., et al., *Characterization of polypyrrole*. Le Journal de Physique Colloques, 1983. **44**: p. 599-606.
- 356. Ateh, D.D., Navsaria, H.A., and Vadgama, P., *Polypyrrole-based conducting polymers and interactions with biological tissues.* Journal of the Royal Society Interface., 2006. **3**: p. 741-752.
- 357. Ribó, J.M., Acero, C., Anglada, M.C., et al., *On the structure and transport properties of polypyrroles.* Butlletí de les Societats Catalanes de Física, 1992. **13**: p. 335-351.
- 358. Fonner, J.M., Schmidt, C.E., and Ren, P., *A combined molecular dynamics and experimental study of doped polypyrrole*. Polymer, 2010. **51**: p. 4985-4993.
- 359. Bof Bufn, C.C., Vollmer, J., Heinzel, T., et al., *Relationship between chain length, disorder, and resistivity in polypyrrole films.* The Journal of Physical Chemistry B., 2005. **109**: p. 19191-19199.
- 360. Bhardwaj, N. and Kundu, S.C., *Electrospinning: a fascinating fiber fabrication technique*. Biotechnology Advances, 2010. **28**: p. 325-347.
- 361. Akduman, C. and Kumbasar, E.P., *Electrospun polyurethane nanofibers*, in Aspects

of Polyurethanes. 2017, Intech. p. 17-52.

- 362. Farah, S., Anderson, D.G., and Langer, R., *Physical and mechanical properties of PLA, and their functions in widespread applications—A comprehensive review.* Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2016. **107**: p. 367-392.
- 363. Casasola, R., Thomas, N.L., Trybala, A., et al., *Electrospun poly lactic acid (PLA) fibres: Effect of different solvent systems on fibre morphology and diameter.* Polymer, 2014. **55**: p. 4728-4737.
- 364. Castano, H., O'Rear, E.A., McFetridge, P.S., et al., *Polypyrrole thin films formed by* admicellar polymerization support the osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. Macromolecular Bioscience, 2004. 4: p. 785-794.
- 365. Colombo, I., Sangiovanni, E., Maggio, R., et al., *HaCaT cells as a reliable in vitro differentiation model to dissect the inflammatory/repair response of human keratinocytes.* Mediators of Inflammation, 2017. **2017**: p. 1-12.
- 366. Zajdel, T.J., Shim, G., Wang, L., et al., *On-demand spatiotemporal programming of collective cell migration via bioelectric stimulation*. Cell Press, 2019. **SSRN 3515390**
- 367. Zajdel, T.J., Shim, G., Wang, L., et al., *SCHEEPDOG: programming electric cues to dynamically herd large-scale cell migration*. Cell Systems, 2020. **10**: p. 506-514
- 368. Zhang, G., Gu, Y., Begum, R., et al., *Kindlin-1 regulates keratinocyte electrotaxis*. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, 2016. **136**: p. 2229-2239.
- 369. Yang, H.Y., Charles, R.P., Hummler, E., et al., *The epithelial sodium channel mediates the directionality of galvanotaxis in human keratinocytes.* Journal of Cell Science, 2013. **126**: p. 1942-1951.
- 370. Saltukoglu, D., Grünewald, J., Strohmeyer, N., et al., *Spontaneous and electric field–controlled front–rear polarization of human keratinocytes*. Molecular Biology of the Cell, 2015. **26**: p. 4373-4386.
- 371. Kurita, M., Araoka, T., Hishida, T., et al., *In vivo reprogramming of wound-resident cells generates skin epithelial tissue*. Nature, 2018. **561**: p. 243-247.

Scientific contributions

Publications

- 1. **Cui S**, Mao J, Rouabhia M, Elkoun S, Zhang Z. A biocompatible polypyrrole membrane for biomedical applications. *RSC Advances*. 2021;11(28):16996-7006.
- Cui S, Rouabhia M, Semlali A, Zhang Z. Effects of electrical stimulation on human skin keratinocyte growth and the secretion of cytokines and growth factors. *Biomedical Materials*. 2021;16(6):065021.

Oral presentations and posters

1. Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. Autoadhesive conductive cryogel as electrode for electrical stimulation to promote skin wound healing. The 37th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Banff, AB, Canada. May. 25-27, 2022

(Poster presentation).

- Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. Effect of Electrical Stimulation through a Soft Polypyrrole Membrane on the Behaviours of Human Skin Keratinocytes. The 36th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Virtual. May. 13-15, 2021 (Oral presentation).
- Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. Study of electrical stimulation through a soft polypyrrole membrane to human skin keratinocytes for wound healing. The 13th Research Day of the Oral Ecology Research Group, Faculté de médecine dentaire, Université Laval, Virtual. May.6, 2021 (Oral presentation).
- Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. Polypyrrole membrane reinforced with electrospun Polyurethane and Poly-L-Lactic Acid fibers for biomedical applications. 11th World Biomaterials Congress, Virtual. Dec.11-15, 2020 (Oral presentation).
- 5. Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. A soft and electrically stable polypyrrole membrane reinforced with electrospun polyurethane and poly-L-lactic acid fibres for biomedical applications. The 12th Research Day of the Oral Ecology Research Group, Faculté de médecine dentaire, Université Laval, Virtual. Jul.15, 2020 (Poster presentation).
- Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Saïd.Elkoun, Ze Zhang. A soft and electrically stable polypyrrole membrane reinforced with electrospun polyurethane and poly-L-lactic acid fibres for biomedical applications. The 2019 Annual Meeting of Research Center on High Performance Polymer and Composite Systems, Quebec, QC, Canada. Dec.13, 2019 (Poster presentation).
- Shujun Cui, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. A soft and electrically stable polypyrrole membrane reinforced with electrospun fibres for biomedical applications. The 35th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Quebec, QC, Canada. May 21-24, 2019 (Poster presentation).
- Shujun Cui, Jifu Mao, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. Electrospun fibre reinforced conductive polypyrrole membrane for biomedical and energy storage applications. Multidisciplinary Scientific Event in Sustainable Health, Université Laval, May 23-24,

2018 (Poster presentation).

- Shujun Cui, Jifu Mao, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. Electrospun fiber reinforced conductive polypyrrole membrane for biomedical and energy storage applications. The 34th Annual Meeting of the Canadian Biomaterials Society, Victoria, BC, Canada. May 16-19, 2018 (Oral presentation).
- 10. Shujun Cui, Jifu Mao, Mahmoud Rouabhia, Ze Zhang. Electrospun fibre reinforced conductive polypyrrole membrane for biomedical and energy storage applications. The 2017 Annual Meeting of the Research Center on High Performance Polymer and Composite Systems, Montreal, QC, Canada. Dec.6, 2017 (Poster presentation).